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This Bemoramdum of an Qgreement by and between the
Mavor, ALDERMEN AND ComMoNALTY of the City of New
York, party of the first part, herein represented and actihg
by the Department of Public Parks (which is hereinafter
designated as the Department), and Toe NEw Yorx
ErevaTED Ramiroap CompaNy (hereinafter designated as
the Company), party of the second part :

Witnesseth, Whereas, by an agreement made on the 10th day
of February, 1876, by and between the parties hereto, a revo-
cable right of way and license was granted to the said Com-
pany by the said Department over the Battery, in the City of
New York.

Therefore, in consideration of the premises, it is hereby fur-
ther covenanted, stipulated and agreed as follows :

1. That the right of way and license aforesaid is hereby ex-
tended over, through and across the Battery and Whitehall

street, along and upon a route indicated by the part colored .

ed upon a map authenticated by the signature of the Presi-
dent of the said Department and the signature of the said
Company, and this day filed in the office of said Department,
a copy of which is hereto annexed ; and such right of way and
license is hereby granted by the said Department to the said
Company, its successors and assigns, with all the rights, privi-
leges and powers contained in the agreérh_ent aforesaid in
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respect to the grant thercin made, and subject also to all the
terms, provisions and agreements therein contained, with the
same effect as if this extension had been contained and granted
in said agreement.

2. The said Company may, along the lines of the main route
between the points of intersection with the extended route
hereby granted, construet and suppdrt on the level of the
upper portion of its superstructure, and at least ten feet above
the surface of the ground, platforms and shelters for the
accommodation of passengers, and may alter and use the ex-
isting stairway for approach thereto, to be made in all respects
to the satisfaction of the Department as is provided in respect
to the other constructions of the said railroad contained in the
aforesaid agreement.

3. And it is further covenanted, stipulated and agreed by
the said Company that they will not take down or cut any tree
without the express permission of the Department, and that
they will forthwith cause all their iron and woodwork and
structures upon the Battery to be painted, the sidewalks dis-
turbed by them to be relaid, the grounds disturbed by them to
be graded and planted, and vines to be planted and trained
around the piers and arches in such color, style, manner and
materials as the Department shall direct, under its superin-
tendence and to its satisfaction.

And also, that the said Company, as soon as the platform is
erected and stairway altered, as hereby authorized, and open
to the public use, will, within thirty days thereafter, wholly
remove the present platform and station now over the Battery
sidewalk and Whitehall street.

In witness whereof the said Department have caused this
agreement to be signed by their President under a resolution of
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the Board of Commissioners of said Department, and the said
Company have caused this agreement to be signed by their
President, and their corporate seal to be hereto affixed on the
third day of July, in the year one thousand eight hundred and
seventy-eight.

(Signed) Jas. F. WENMAN,

President Dept.
of Public Parks.

Signed by Jas. F. WeNMAN, President )
of the Dept. .of Public Parks, in |
presence of, the word “ revocable,” %
being first interlined on the first J

page,
(Signed) W Irwiy,
Attest,
Tae NEw York ELEVATED RATL.ROAD
. CompaNy, by
Cyrus W. FieLD,
President.
“;ﬂlg;}wNew J. A. Cowing,
{ Raooud Go. Seerelury.
StATE oF NEW YORE, ss. ¢

City and County of New York,

Before me, this 17th day of July, 1878, personally came
Cyrus W. Field, to me personally known, and known to be the
President of the New York Elevated Railroad Company, one
of the parties to the foregoing instrument, who, being duly
sworn, did depose and say, that he was the President of the
said Company ; that the seal affixed to this instrument was
the seal of the said Company ; that he affixed the said seal
thereto by their authority, and that he also executed this in-
strument by the like authority,

(Signed) S. B. CHITTENDEN, JR.,
Notary Public,
[SEAL.] Kings County.
' Certificate filed in N. Y. Co.
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New Yorg, November 20, 1878.

To the Board of Commassioners
of the Department of Public Porks :

Gentlemen,—Pursuant to resolution of Board bearing
date November 6, 1878, T have taken testimony in mat-
ter of charges preferred by Hon. Smith E. Lane, Com-
missioner of Parks, against John F. Dawson, Super-
intendent of Parks, as follows, to wit :

“ Whereas, Commissioner Lane charges that John ¥. Dawson, Superintendent of
“ Parks, took one of the horses of the Department on Saturday morning, the 5th
“ October, 1878, and went to the races at Jerome Park, and did not return him-
“ self, or bring the horse to the st ables in Central Park, until Sunday, the 6th O¢-
‘“ tober, 1878, at 12.20 » ., in violation of his duty and the rules of the Depart-
“ ment;

“ And whereas, Said Commissioner Lane charges that on the 12th day of Oe-
“ tober, 1878, the said John F. Dawson grossly insulted him by shaking his fist
“in his face and using insulting language to him;

 And whereas, Sald Commissioner Lane charges that the said John F. Dawsen
“ constantly and willfully neglects his duties as Superintendent of Parks;

““ Resolved, That the Superintendent of Parks be notified to appear before this
“ Board at its next meeting to answer said charges, and that if he be found guilty
“ thereof it is proposed to remove him from his position.”

As will be observed by reference to them, the
charges are of a serious character, which, if true, would
injuriously involve Mr. Dawson, as an officer in this De-
partment; in consequence, I have given great care to
the matter ;

1st. That justice be dealt out to the party against
whom charges had been preferred.

2d. That justification, if possible, should be shown for
making the charges on the part of Mr. Lane.

It will doubtless occur to this Board, as it did to the
undersigned, that it is a duty of peculiar delicacy to sit
in jundgment, so to speak, for when an associate is so
directly concerned, especially when to determine in a
certain way reflects censure upon him—but the labor is

imposed and was unsought.
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I carefully weighed all the testimony presented by the
complainant and the accused, gave the utmost latitude
to the prosecution, and find :

That the several charges against John F. Dawson are
without any foundation whatever, each and every speci-
fication being disproved, not only by witnesses of the
defense, but also by witnesses of the prosecution ; that
the only issue regarding which there was a serious dis-
erepancy in the testimony was, ag to whether Super-
intendent Dawson insulted Commiissioner Lane by shaking
his fists in the face and using insulting language to him,
and as to this difference, in view of the fact that Com-
missioner Lane, according to the testimony, has enter-
tained hostile feelings towards the Superintendent, that
other charges were disproved, I deemed it my duty to
ignore the testimony of both parties, and rely upon that
given by a disinterested witness whose statement com-
pletely vindicates the Superintendent.

It is a subject of regret that charges so thoughtlessly
made should occasion injury to the accused, even tem-
porarily, and it makes my duty the more imperative to
declare with emphasis that they are wholly without
justification, and further, that Superintendent John F.
Dawson is entitled to the confidence of the Board.

All of which is respectfully submitted.
SAMUEL CONOVER,

Comm'r.

REesorLurioNn AporTEp NOVEMBER, 27TH, 1878.
Resolved, That said report be accepted and adopted; that
the cliarges against the Superintendent of I'arks be dismissed,

and that the report and testimony be printed as a document of
the Board.



TESTIMONY TAKEN BEFORE CoMMISSIONER CONOVER, ON THE
11t DAY oF NOVEMBER, 1878, aT 36 UNION SQUARE,
N. Y, IN THE MATTER OF THE CHARGFS PREFERRED BY
CoMMISSIONER LLANE AGAINST THE SUPERINTENDENT OF
Parxs, Jomx T. Dawsox.

Commissioner LaNE appeared in his own behalf, Mr. Joux F.
Dawsox, with his counsel, Mr. Henry D. Purroy, for the de-
fense.

The Secretary read the charges preferred against Mr.
Dawson.

Commissioner Lane then proceeded to read a statement.

Mr. Purroy objected to said statement being accepted as
testimony, because it contained matter not within Commis-
sioner Lane’s own knowledge.

Commissioner Conover allowed said statement to be read,
not as evidence, but as an explanatory statement, and in the
nature of a complaint.

The following is the statement :

First—That on the morning of the 5th day of October, 1878,
Jobn F. Dawson, Superintendent of Parks, took from the
stables, in Central Park, a horse and wagon belonging to said
Department, and did not return said horse and wagon to said
stables until noon of the folluwing day, in violation of the rules
of the Department. That said Dawson absented himself from
the service of the Department on said 5th day of October, 1878.
That said Dawson returned said horse to the stables in a lame
condition.

Second.—That on the morning of the 12th of October, 1878,
Smiih E. Liane, & Commissioner, met John F. Dawson, Super-
intendent of Parks, at the office of the Department, 36 Union
Square, and asked said Dawson to provide a horze and wagon
for sald Liane at three o’clock on that day, at Central Paik,
that said Lane could proceed to Riverside Avenue to inspect
the work then going on. That said Dawson, in a menacing and
grossly insultiug manner, placed his closed hand in said Lane’s
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face aud shaking it at him, said, in a boisterous and insulting
manner, “I shall take no orders from you, sir ; I shan't obey
you, sir.”

Tlird. —That said John F. Dawson neglects the duties of his
office. That during the last summer he spent much of his
time in the company of his friends, during business hours, at
the Mount St. Vincent building in the Central Park, when his
official duties required all of his attention elsewhere.

Mr. Purroy moved that an adjournment be granted to enable
Mr. Dawson to make his answer to the new charges of neglect
of his duty, of which he had no notice.

Commissioner Lane was heard contra on the ground that
the charges were not new, hut only making specific the charges
submitted to this Board.

Commissioner Conover declined to grant an adjournment,
and ruled that he would proceed with the taking of testimony
upon the charges submitted by the Board, and none other.

Commissioner Lane then called as a witness, Joux MEEHAN,
who testified as follows :

I am foreman of the stables in Central Park for two years
last May ; I recollect Mr. John F. Dawson, Superintendent of
Parks, taking a horse and wagon from the stables, but do not
remember the date ; I think it was on a Saturday ; I think the
horse and wagon was returned the next morning; I do not re-
member the hour. :

I did not tell you (Commissioner Lane) it was half-past
twelve o’clock on Sunday.

I did not remark the condition of the horse. I don’t think
‘I was in when the horse was brought in. Tsaw the horse that
day ; he was kind of stiff. On Monday his shoe was taken off,
and he was easier and better then.

He was kept quiet that day. I thought there might be
something the matter with his hoof, that was the reason I took
off his shoe ; a nail or something. He did not walk lame;
when le came in he was stiff a little.

Q. Do you mean when Mi. Dawson brought him in ?

A. T cannot say that; he was a little stiff when he came in,
and I took him in the next day, Monday, to the shop to see
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what it was, and had his shoeremoved ; it was after Mr. Daw-
son brought back the horse that he was a little stiff.

Q, What was the matter with the horse? :

A. T think tkere was something wrong with him before he
came here.

Commissioner Liane moved to strike out the last answer.
Answer allowed.

The horse recovered ; he is better now than he has been
since he came into the stable.

You (Commissioner Lane) sent up for a horse on Sunday ; 1
think it was in the forenoon; I came down to you at the
Arsenal ; you had ordered the horse Mr. Dawson had taken
out the day before; I told you that horse was a little stiff, and
not very fresh, and that I had brought you the black horse in
place.

Cross-examined by Mr. Purroy :

The morning that the horse was delivered at the stables he
seemed to be saving his foot; he did not use it as free as
the other; I looked at the horse, and think he was stiff.

T cculd not tell what the condition of the horse was on the
day it was delivered, as I did not examine it closely.

T don’t know where Mr. Dawson drove the horse to ; Idon’t
know who came for the horse that day.

T see the Superintendent of Parks every day, about 8 o’clock
A. M. He is usaally at the stables two or three times a day.

SOMMISSIONER LANE then testified in his own behalf :

On the morning of 12th of October, 1878, I met J. F. Daw-
son, Superintendent of Parks, at the foot of the stairs, at the
entrance to building 36 Union Square, and said to him, “I
wish you to have horse and wagon for me at the Arsenal build-
ing, at 8 o’clock that day, that T was going to Riverside Avenue
to inspect the work.”

Mr. Dawson, in a menacing and grossly insulting manner,
placed his closed fist in my face, and shaking it at me, said, in
a boisterous and insulting manner, “I shall take no orders
from you, sir;” “I shan’t obey you, sir.”
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During the summer of 1878 Mr. Dawson spent much of his
time in the company of his friends, during business hours, at
Mount St. Vincent building, in Central Park, when his official
cuties required all of his attention elsewhere.

CENTRAL PARK.

1. The leaves on many of the lawns, mostly near the drives,
are not raked up ; and in other places the leaves are piled up
and remain so for days, and the wind is blowing the same
around the Park. ’

2. Rustic seats and arbors are out of repair, and should be
repaired with plank and boards, if no rustic timber can be
bought. It was done last spring in this manner, and should
be dune at once. '

3. Tar walks around the Arsenal building are out of repair
and full of holes; the same can be repaired, as gravel and tar
‘enough are left near the Museum of Art building to do it with.

4. The slope along and near the Reservoir and East Drive
should be graded and fiiled up with earth and trimmed up, par-
ticularly around the trees. '

5. Wire fences in centre divisions and around the large lake
are broken down, and have been in that condition for many
months.

6. There are gullies washed into the drives which can be re-
paired with small quantities of gravel. They should be repaired
immediately after each rain storm. They have been neglected
during all of the last summer.

7. On the 3d day of July, 1878, the Board ordered an iron
Croton pipe to be laid into the Park from the main on Fifth
Avenue at Sixtieth Street. Permission was granted by the De-
partment of Public Works to make the proper connection and
the pipe was purchased. The Board and the Treasurer hur-
ried up the matter, that the pipe might be laid across the Fifth
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Avenue befere the completion of the new McAdam pavement:
on Fifth Avenue, that the Department might be saved expense
in relaying the pavement after the laying of the pipe. Nothing
has been done in laying of the pipe, and the said Fifth Avenue
pavement has been completed.

8. The borders of the lawns and grass-plots along the drives
and. around the Mall, and the southerly approach from the
Mall to the Casino, have not been cut and trimmed for several
mounths in many places, particularly in the second and third
divisions. The grass has been allowed to grow over the edges,
and gives it a very unsightly appearance.

9. The road gutters on the West Drive, from Eighty-third
Street to Ninety-sixth Streel, have not been cleaned, and are
filled up with dirt. '

10. In many places the benches have been broken by visit-
. ors, and allowed to remain there for several months without
being remove | to the repair-shop and repaired, or others sub-
stituted in their places.

11. On the 19th day of June, 1874, the Board ordered a
drinking fountain to be erected in the rear of the Mount St.
Vinceut building and near the Green-House. The site was
selected and the drinking-fountain purchased, but the same
has not been erected.

12. The metal gutters around the upper basin of the Steb-
bins fountain, near the Terrace, have been brokern for many
months, so that the water does not flow out of the corner
spouts as originally built. This gives the fountain a very un-
sightly appearance.

Commissioner Lane then called as & witness Mr. J. MuxCk-
witz, who testified as follows :

The men are raking leaves here and there through the Park.
The leaves should be taken up when they are raked up.

I have not been in the Park every day, on account of my
being at Tompkins Square so much lately. 1 do not know of
my own knowledge how long the leaves are let remain in piles.
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I have seen piles of leaves. When I was Superintendent I
had them removed at once after they had been raked up. It
is the foreman’s duty to have them removed to the yard. I
don’t know whether any leaves were blown about from piles so
as to necessitate there being regathered. I have seen the
carts in the first division and in the upper division gathering
leaves.

The leaves have not been gathered all over the Park. At
some places I have seen them ungathered, on some lawns near
the drives on the west side. In the second and third divisions,
on the west side, I have noticed them not to be gathered. Mr.
Hodges is the foreman of the second division ; Mr. Meehan is
foreman of the third division. T can not say the extent I have
seen ; I have seen some of the carts gathering them off. The
rustic seats and arbors have been out of repair for a number of
years. There has not been any rustic timber on hand for the
last two or three years. They have, therefore, been repaired
with plank. I don’t know whether any such repairs have been
made during the last summer. All the rustic work on the Park
is in a very poor condition.

The tar walks around the Arsenal building are full of holes.
Several weeks ago there was tar and gravel at the Museum of
Art building suitable for repairing the walks. :

The slopes at the Reservoir, east drive, are washed down
each winter and spiing. There should be some mould placed
round the roots of the trees by the gardeners. This should be
done at any time whenever the men and time can be spared.
There are gullies and roots exposed now.

The wire fences, near the lake on the west side, are broken
at some places. I have seen some of the fences broken at
places during the summer, and then they have been repaired
again. The drives have becn out of repair for some time on
account of not having gravel enough. There are gullies and
cuts washed in the roads which ought to be repaired. The
west drive especially is worn in parts. In some places I no-
ticed that the gullies were repaired ; this was espeecially in the
upper, McGovern’s division. In the third division, Meehan's,
there were some very heavy gullies, which I spoke about to
bim, and were not repaired when we had gravel. After I spoke
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to Meehan about them they were repaired. This was during
this season.

(Commissioner Lane referred to and read a resolution of the
Board of July 3, 1878, directing the Superintendent of Parks
to lay a 4-inch pipe to supply water from Croton main at
southeast corner of Central Park.)

The contractor for the work on Fifth Avenue and Fifty-ninth
Street would not allow the pipe from the Croton main to be
laid to the Park until his work was accepted by the Depart-
ment of Public Works. I do not know whether his work has
been accepted.

Commissioner Liane then referred to and read a communica-
tion from the Commissioner of Public Works, dated July 9th,
1878, as follows :

DeparTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS,
New Yorg, July 9th, 1878. %
James F. Wesmaxn, Esq.,
President Purk Cominassioners:

Dear Sir—While many of the residents upon the higher grounds of the city
complain during the warm weather of their inability to draw water in the upper
stories of their dwellings, it seems harJ to have to increase their difficulties,

I suppose you really need an increase of water in the lower part of the Park,
and to help you we will permit you to conneet with the 12-inch main on Fifth
avenue, by a 4-inch pipe.

In making the connection, please let your agent apply here and our men will
assist: and in laying the pipe across the avenue you will have to arrange as to
the pavement with Mr. Byron, who has a contract for the putting it down, and is
now at work on the same.

Very respectfully yours,
ArLeEN CAMPBELL,
Commissioner of Public Works,

I applied to the contractor for permission, and I was in-
formed by his foreman that he would not give permission until
the work was accepted.

‘The pipe has not been laid yet.

The portion of the pavement on Fifth Avenue, from Fifty-
ninth to Sixty-fourth Street, is completed.

The pipe was purchased about three months ago.
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- Some of the borders have not been cut and some have been
cut on the Central Park. On the second and third divisions—
Hodge’s and Meehan’s—I have noticed that some of the bor-
ders have not been cut. I have not noticed that they have not
been cut at any other places.

Where the borders are not cut or trimmed along the drives
or grass plots, the effect upon the appearance of the Park is,
that it would not leave a nice, clean appearance.

It is a part of the daty of the foreman and Superintendent
of Puarks to look alter these matters. If there are men and
Lelp enough, the grass plots should be kept trimmed up.

I have not noticed any broken benches in the Park during
last Summer. I have not noticed any this Fall.

(Commissioner Lane then referred to and read a resolution
of the Board of June 19, 1878, directing a drinking-fountain to
be erected near Mount St. Vincent, Central Park.)

The fountain has been purchased. I have not been at the
place for the last five or six weeks. It was not erected then,
For the last year 1 have observed the fountain at the terrace
to be vut of repair. It war only fixed up temporarily about
two years ago with zinc in place of bronze. It is out of repair
now, and has been so {or a year.

Cross-examined by Mr. Porroy :

I was Superintendent of Parks for about three years, and I
know the duies of a Superintendent of Purks.

Q. In your opinion, has Mr. J. F. Duwson’s management
been neglecttul ?

Comwmissioner Liane objected.

Commissioner Conover sustained the objection on the ground
that he is only designated to take testimony, and the opinion
of Mr. Munckwitz tends to a decision.

Q. From your knowledge, has the funds of the Department
of Public Parks been- sufficient to maintain the parks up to
their proper standard during the last five or six months.

Cowniigsioner Lane objected.

Question allowed.
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A. No, gir; the funds have not been sufficient. In my
opinion, a great many of the defects in the Park which Ihave
enumerated have been caused by a want of sufficient funds and
men.

Q. Do you know of one case in which Mr. Dawson, having
at his disposal sufficient funds and men, has neglected his
duties?

(Commissioner Liane objects; Commissioner Conover sus-
tains objection,)

The grass has grown this season more luxurianily than
during any year for many years past.

I verbaily reported to the President during the Summer
that the parks were in a good condition for the money and
men allowed. )

I have never complained of Mr. Dawson’s neglect of duty.
If I found Dawson injuring the Park by his management, I
would feel it to be my duty to report the same to some one of
the Commissioners, but I have not felt it my duty to make any
such report. .

Generally, Mr. Dawson has done all in his power to keep the
parks in good order. There are some details which I would
have treated differently. ‘

Re-examined by Commissioner LANE :

. Q. Have you ever, in response to any guestions I have put
to you regarding the management of the parks, given me any
details ?

A. No.

Q. When I say details, I refer to the management of the
details of the works in the various parks under Superintendent
Dawson ?

A. Commissioner Lane has asked me several times in regard
to the condition of the parks and their management ?

Commissioner Lane rests.
Mr. Joux F. Dawsox then testified in his own behalf:

On the morning of October 4, 1878, I came to the stables at
7:30 A M.
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Mr. Meehan said, there is a new horse here; I told him to
hook him up ; in driving to the Arsenal the lLiorse went iame ;
I sent a man back with him to the stables; had another horse
put to the wagon to go to Tompkins Square. The next after-
noon, October 5, 1878, I told my man to hook the same horse
up, and I wouid give him a further trial; he brought him to
Mount St. Vincent, where I was eating my dinner; when I
came out he said, “This horse is too lame to drive.” Asit
was getting late, I drove him to my stables in One Hundred
and Twenty-fifth street, and left him there, taking a horse of
my own to Jerome Park. The park horse was not again
hooked up until Sunday, when I drove him to the park stables,
and told Foreman Meeha to have his shoe removed, which he
did.

I have never been furnished with any rules of thie Depart-
ment; I don’t know of any rule to prevent me from taking the
horse to my own stable.

Mr. Purroy presented an affidavit and letter of Mr. J. A,
Going, Veterinary Surgeon, on the condition of the horse.

Commissioner Lane objected to the affidavit and letter, on
the ground that Mr. Going should be produced.

Commissioner Conover allowed the affidavit and letter to
be read, as follows:
“New Yorg, Oct, 31, 1878,
“Dgear 81r,—I have carefully examined the horse, and come to the cenclusion
“he is lame in the shoulder, and I believe it is of old standing. ’

“ Respectiully yours,
“J. A. Gorxa.
¢ Dawsox, Esq.,
“ Sup’t D. P. Parks.”

New York, Oct. 81, 1878,

“1 hereby certify I have this day, by request of Mr. Dawson, examined sorrel
“horse with the following marks, viz.: White star in fo e iwad; measuring
“ hands, 15 inches; years old, said to belong to Dept. of Pub. Parks.

““In my opinion, unsound.

“ Remarks, lame in shoulder,
“Jas. A Gorve.

“ 8worn to before me, this i
“ 31st Oct., 1878, |
“ Hexey D. Purroy,
“ Notary Public,
“N. Y Co.
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I have had a long experience in the management and treat-
ment of borses, for nearly all my lite. The horse was lame be-
fore I drove him forty rods. He has a chronic lameness.

On the morning of the 12th of October, 1878, I was leaving
36 Union Square after seeing the President. On getting to the
outer door Commissioner Lane was coming in. I passed him
without speaking. He turned round as the door shut and
called me. He said, “I want a horse to-day at 3 o’clock.” 1
said, “ What horse—is’it the one I lamed—or that you said I
lamed ?” He said, “No; one of the black team that was
bought for the Commissioners.” T said, “That team is to
work on a truck, and that if he wanted a horse to drive, to
apply to the President as the executive officer of the Board, as
I had received instructions to obey no orders unless those
given by the Board, or the President.” I likewise said, “As
you have called me back, T wounld like to know why you said in
the Board, at its last meeting, that you saw me drunk at Je-
rome Park ?” T told him that his position as Commissioner
prevented me from calling him to account for it. He tried to
prevaricate.

Commissioner Lane objected on the ground that he should
state what was said.

Objection not allowed.

He said, “You took Van Valkenburgh up to the races.” 1
said, *“That 1s not so; I went to the races alone and came
home alone.” And also said, “ Be carelul how you use my
name in your club, as I have friends there, or outside of your
official capacity as Commissioner.”

The statement that I sbook my fist under his nose or else-
where is unqualifiedly fulse.

T did not use any insulting language to him.

No one was present at this interview so far as I know. It
occurred between the two doors, the outer one was open, the
inner ouve shut. :

Invariably I direct the foreman to collect the leaves an-l
cart them away as soon as possible, especially those nearest
the drives. The leaves have been raked up and carted away
as promptly as the force under my command would allow.
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There is no money to repair the rustic works, I have kept
the arbors and seats in repair as well as the funds and force
wonld allow.

The little tar and gravel at the Art Museum belong to the
construction faud at that building, and I have no right to nse
it for maintenauce purposes. I am now using 1t for the walks
around the Museum.

I have kept the walks arouud the Arsenal, and the walks
generally, in as good order as the funds and force under me
‘would alow. The slopes at the reservoir, East Drive, have
been a great trouble to the Department since it was made; T
have not, as yet, been able to take my force from other duties
to attend to this; the other duties were more pressing. I don’t
know of any wire fences being broken for a number of weeks;
I am over the Park mostly every day, from three to four
times.

I repair the fences whenever I know they are broken, and
can get the wire. The gullies have not been repaired for want
of gravel ; I made requisition, in writing, for gravel, more than
a month ago, and have not got it yet.

On two occasions I sent men to open the trench, and lay the
pipes from Fiith Avenue to the Park, and I was stopped by the
contractor and the Engineer of the Department of Public
Works., The work has not been accepted from the contractor;
I have inquired about fifty times, at the request of the Presi-
dent, to know when I could lay it.

T think there are no borders on the roads or drives that have
not been trimmed at least three times since I was Superin-
tendent of Parks. I have doue tbis work as well and as often
as the tunds and men uander my control would allow.

The gutters on West Drive, from Eighty-third to Ninety-
sixth streef, were cleaned, to my owu knowledge, last week.
This work has been done as well as the means and force would
allow.

I don’t think any benches have been allowed to remain in a
broken condition, as my orders are to have them at once re-
moved. :

I have consulted the President about the fountain at Mount
St. Vincent, and he. agreed with me that it was better not to
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cut up the slope at Mount St. Vincent until the busy season
~was over, and also, the plumbers were so busy at other work
which was absolutely necessary that I could not spare them.

There is no money to repair the fountain at the Terrace.

I think I have done all I can to keep the parks in good order
so far as the funds and force will permit.

(Mr. Purroy read section 2, article IT1, of the By-laws, and
Mr. Dawson stated that his answer to Commissioner Liane, as
to the horse, was founded on that section. The following is the
section : :

Skc. 2. No committee, officer, or member of this Depart-
ment, or person employed by this Board, shall make any pur-
chases, give any order, incur any liability, or exercise any
authority over or in relation to the parks, officers or employees,
other than foremen, mechanies, and laborers, unless in pursu-
ance of power delegated by order of the Board, or by the act
by which it is organized.

Cross-examined by Commissioner LANE :

Commissioner Lane tried to prevaricate by trying to dodge
the question of his having charged me in the Board with being
drunk.

Q. Did you or did you not put your clenched ﬁst under my
face, and in an insulting manner say to me, “I shall take no
orders from you, sir,” and “I shall not obey you, sir? ”

A. T most assuredly did not shake my fistin your face, but I
told you I could take no orders from you.

Q. Give the names of the persons at the Union Club to whom
you say I have spoken about you.

A. T refuse to give their names.

Counsel for Mr. Dawson hereupon informed Commissioner
Lane that he would subsequently produce a witness who, if he
desired it, would give him the names of the members of the
" Union Club referred to by Mr. Dawson.

Q. Why did yon not make requisition for the material to
repair the walks at the Arsenal.

A. T frequently spoke to the President about them and he
told me they would have to remain as they were on account of
the want of funds.
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Mr. Purroy then called CommisstoNer WENMAN, President of
the Department, as a witness on behalf of the defense, who
testified as follows :

T am President of the Department of Public Parks. During
the last five or six months the Department has been almost
bankrupt. Mr. Dawson has had conversations with me almost
daily, wanting more men and material, especially gravel. 1 have
always told him he must get along as best he could, to do such
work as was absolutely necessary, and not to make requisition
for a dollar more than he could get along with. It is Mr. Munck-
witz’ duty to keep a watch on the parks and their management.
He has reported to me that the parks were never in better
condition than under My. Dawson, taking into consideration
the number of men at his disposal. I also have supervised
the management of the parks. It has been performed to my
entire satisfaction. I consider that the laborers have given
more work for their pay than any other body of labor-
ers ever on the public works of the city. This, I think, is ow-
ing to Mr. Dawson’s supervision. I have never known Mr.
Dawson to be guilty of rude conduct. I knew him only for a
short time before his appointment. It is known to the Com-
missioners that the Department has not had sufficient funds
to keep the parks in order.

WiLLiaM VAN VALRENBURGH, called as a witness for the defence,
testified :

Commissioner Lane told me that Mr. Dawson was away at
Jerome Park races with one of the horses, and got drunk
lamed the horse, and that he would have to pay $300 for it,
and he would see that he did.

(Witness here offered to give names of the member of the
Union Club, referred to by Mr. Dawson, if Mr. Lane desired it.
Mr. Lane decided not to take advantage of the offer.)

James FARRELL, called as a witness for the defence, testified :

I am a laborer in the Park Department. On the 12th of
October, 1878, I saw Mr. Dawson and Commissioner Lane talk-
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ing inside the door on the stoop of 36 Union Square. I was
on the street at the curbstone. T was standing at the horse. T
saw them during the whole of their conversation. 1 did not see
either of them use their hands or clench their fists during the
time. I would have seen 1t had it taken place. I was standing
at the horse’s head waiting for Mr. Dawson.

Cross-examined by Commissioner LAXE :

Mr. Dawson was standing with his left side to me. Commis-
sioner Liane was standing partly facing me. To the best of my
opinion neither Mr. Dawson or Commissioner Lane could have
raised their fists without my seeing them. I don’t recollect
whether it was before or after twelve o’clock. T had no watch.
I brought Mr. Dawson down in the morning and remained for
him.

I have not had any conversation with Mr. Dawson about this
matter.

Mr. JorN F. Dawson recalled, testified :

I very rarely get to the stables in the Park later than 7:30 to
7:45 o’clock, A. M., and seldom leave the Arsenal until 4:30 to 5
o’clock, p. M.

For nearly ten weeks I have had masons and others at work
at Mount St. Vincent, and that has been the cause of my being
there during business hours; I have to attend to other work
besides the care of the Central Park.

Mr. Tmomas Hobpars, called as a witness for the defense, testi-
fied :

I am foreman on the second division of the Central Park ;
I have had the borders trimmed at least twice this season ; I
have used the force under my care to the best of my ability.

Mr. Hexry D. Purroy testified for the defense, as follows :

The appointment of Mr. Dawson as Superintendent of Pub-
lic Parks was recommended by a number of prominent gentle-
men in New York. I joined them in their recommendation.
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Among them were S. F. Knapp, J. L. Mott, A. B. Tappen,
John Kelly, and many others.

Mr. Dawson was appointed by the vote of Commissioner
Lane among the other Commissioners. Commissioner Lane
had been very obliging in entertaining all requests that I made,
including the appointment of Mr. Dawson.

Shortly after Mr. Dawson’s employment, Commissioner Liane
sent for me and informed me that there was a bitter fight going
on in the Department between him and President Wenman,
and that at each meeting of the Board he generally got the best
of the President by his superior knowledge of parliamentary
law, and his cool and calm manner, but that, nevertheless, it
was a hard contest. He then complained to me that Mr. Daw-
son refused to take sides with him against the President. He -
said he had joined hands with Mr. Van Valkenburgh, one of
his worst enemies, and he urged me to use my influence with
Mr. Dawson to get him (Mr. Dawson), to join him in his fight
on Mr. Wenman. We had several conversations on this sub-
ject, all to the same effect. I said that Mr. Dawson was greatly
" indebted to him for his appointment, but my advice would be
for him to stand neutral in the fight between him and the
President. He urged upon the fact that he was the only Com-
missioner in the Board who was true to the political interests
of the party to which he and I belonged, and, therefore, the
necessity of my strengthening him in the matter.

About a week after he told me that Mr. Dawson was doing
all in his power to injure him in the Department, having selected
some men to be dismissed who were his (Commissioner Lane’s)
men.

I went to Mr. Dawson and advised him not to act against
Mzr. Lane.

Commissioner Lane again spoke to me cn the way to the
State Convention about Mr. Dawson, in the presence of two
gentlemen, complaining of Mr. Dawson’s hostility to his politi-
cal interests in the Board. I said I thought he misjudged Mr.
Dawson, and, after advising with some other parties, I advised
Mr. Dawson to continue to take no part in Mr. Lane’s or Wen-
man’s personal quarrels. Shortly after that I was informed by
. Commissioner Wetmore that Commissioner Liane had asserted
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that Mr. Dawson was grossly intoxicated. I met Commissioner
Lane afterwards, and asked him if he had made these assertions.
He at first did not like to meet the question but at length ad-
mitted that he had, and complained again about Mr. Dawson
using his influence against him.

Mr. Dawson told me that he had learned these facts from the
President of the Board. It was a few days after this that the
interview took place at the door of 36 Union Square between
Commissioner Lane aud Mr. Dawson.

Commissioner LANE then testified in his own behalf, as fol-
-lows:

If any one told Mr. H. D. Purroy that I said that My. Daw-
son was drunk he was in error, as what I did say was that I
was told that Mr. Dawson was drunk.

I never told Mr. Van Valkenburg that Mr. Dawson would
have to pay $300 for the horse.
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DerarTMENT oF PuBLic PAREs,
36 Union Square.

New Yorx, December 7, 1878,

WiLiax Inwin, Esq.,
Secrelary Department Public Pavks :

Sir,—The Commissioners in the matter of Riverside Avenue
Contract have received the accompanying note from Smith E.
Lane, Esq., Treasurer of the Department of Public Parks.

In accordance with the request contained in that note, this
Commission has appointed 3 p. M. of Monday, December 9th,
for Mr. Lane to appear before them.

Will you please also notify the Commissioners of the De-
partment of this appointment, in order that they may be re-
presented, should they deem fit.

Respectfully, .
JouN BocArT,
Secretary of Commission.

DEPARTMENT OF PuBLic PARKS,
36 Union Square,

New Yogrg, 7th December, 1878.

Mossrs. JoaN Bogart, Witniam E. WortHEX and CHArLEs H,
HaswELL, L
Commission 1n the matter of the Riverside Drive :

Gentlemen,—I desire to submit, orally and in writing, my
views in regard to the matters submitted for your considera-
~ tion, together with some documentary matter, and respectfully

suggest that you assign a time for the hearing and submission,
and that my associate Commissioners be invited to be present,
and requested to submit their views.

Respectfully yours,

S. E. LiANE,
Treasurer D. P. P.
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DrePARTMENT oF PUBLIC PARKS, }
36 Union Square, December 9th, 1878,

JonN Boaarrt, Esq.,
Secretary Commission to examine
Riverside Avenue Improvement :

Dear Sir,—The Secretary of this Department has handed
"me yours of the 7th inst., enclosing a copy of a communication
from Commissioner Lane, requesting that your Commission
would appoint a time to hear bLis views, and those of the other
Commisioners in relation to the subject you are appointed to
examine.

It is the opinion of all the Commissioners of this Depart-
ment, except. Mr. Lane, that your Commission should not be
in any manner influenced in your determination of the ques-
tions submitted to you by the views of any particular Commis-
sioner, but solely by the condition of the work and by the
specifications, contract, maps, plans and papers relating to the
work, all of which will be furnished you on request to the Sec-
retary of this Department.

Under any otheér conditions, the report of your Commission
would be liable to be impeached as not impartial.

On behalf of my associate Commissioners, Messrs. Wetmore
and Conover, and also on my own behalf, I decline to influence
.. your judgment in any way by the expression of our views, and
T trust you will yourselves take the same course in regard to
Commissioner Lane.

I remain, yours, respectfully,

Jas. F. WENMAN,
Pres't Dep’t Public Parks
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To the Honorable JaAMES F. WENMAN,
President of the Department of Public Parks :

The undersigned, owners or occupants of property in the
City of New York, east of the Harlem River, and on Manhattan
Island above One Hundred and Fifty-fifth street, represent to
the Honorable, the Commissioners of the Department of Public
Parks, the great importance of a suspension bridge across the
Harlem River, about half a mile north of the High Bridge, and
respectfully submit certain considerations that indicate that its
completion is an immediate public necessity.-

As is well known, the area of that portion of the City east
and north of the Harlem River and Spuyten Duyvil Creek is
but little less than that of the old City. This river and creek
divide the old from the new portion of the City, and must be
crossed to get from one to the other. The distance that the
City lies on both sides of these waters, from Randall's Island
to the North River, is nearly 77,000 feet, or about 1458; miles.

The population of the new portion is about 40,000, and
through it is a continued stream of travel to the territory lying
to the east and north.

The bridges that now cross the river and creek are seven in
number, within a distance of about six and a-half miles. They
are :

1st. The Third Avenue Bridge, having a draw, and adapted
for crossing of vehicles and foot travel.

2d. The Railroad Bridge at the Fourth Avenue, only usable
by the steam cars, also having a draw.

3d. The Central or MacCombs Dam Bridge, having a draw,
at the terminus of a short street diverging from Eighth Avenue.
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4th. The “High Bridge,” for carrying the Croton Aqueduct,

and also accommodating foot passengers.

5th. The Farmers’ Bridge, two and a-half miles north of
High Bridge, for foot and vehicle travel.

6th. Kings Bridge, for foot and vehicle passage.

Tth. Railroad Bridge across the Spuyten Duyvil Creek at its
opening to the North River, and having a draw.

Of these seven bridges, all of which are shown on the map
appended to this memorial, and prepared to illustrate this im-
portant subject, four only admit the passage of vehicles.

The distance from the Third Avenue Bridge to the Central
Bridge is about 7,800 feet, or about one and a-half miles.

The distance from the Central Bridge to the Farmers’ Bridge
is about 18,400 feet, or about three and one-half miles, so that,
if, as is not unfrequently the case, the Central Bridge is under-
dergoing repairs, the population located midway between the
Third Avenue Bridge and Farmers’ Bridge on one side of the
river, obliged to go to a point similarly situated on the other
side, with vehicles, cannot do so without traveling a distance of
nearly five miles; a person desiring to passin a vehicle directly
across the river from the Juvenile Asylum, not an eighth of a
mile in'distance, must travel nearly five miles to accomplish it.

Six of these seven bridges are but a few feet above the sur-
face of the water, they accommodate that class of travel and
traffic that is in the lower levels of the land. The High Bridge
only, is so far elevated as to admit of convenient passage be-
tween the high lands on each side. These high lands begin
just above Manhattanville, and extend up to Fort George and
Tubby Hook, occupying for the greater portion of this distance
pretty much the whole width of the island except Harlem flats,
They are about two miles in breadth, with an area of 1,000
acres, having a general elevation above the river of over 200
feet.

There is also on the east side of the river a range of high
lands beginning at Cromwell’s Creek, and extending for several
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miles up the shores of the Harlem River, and extending to the
Bronx River and up to and beyond the line of the newly added
territory, including Woodlawn Cemetery, and comprehending
nearly one-third of this territory. The elevation of these high
lands is somewhat less than that of those on the island, and a
very large area would be accommodated by this bridge.

At a distance 1,700 feet north of the High Bridge, the shores
on both sides of the river are very precipitous and rocky,
Their adaptation to facilitate crossing from one shore to the
other by means of an elevated bridge was pointed out nearly
ten years ago, accommodating the levels of the adjacent lands,
and at the same time allowing of the free navigation of these
waters without the necessity of anydraw. The site of this sus-
pension bridge has been actually determined and located. The
ground for the approaches has been taken and paid for by the
Oity, and property owners of the vicinity have been assessed
the sum of $37,751.78 to pay for if, most of whom have paid,
those who have not, their lands are encumbered with an assess-
ment, and the interest running upon it. It is, therefore, their
right that the construction of this bridge should proceed with-
out delay.

In the new laying out of the territory east of the Harlem
through ways of general access to the suspension bridge have
been provided for, and form an important part of the system ;
1t is a converging point for several main roads; it is not only
for the population and business of this especial elevated
plateau, present and future, that this bridge is to accommo-
date, but the already populous communities surrounding them.
To delay the building of the bridge is to retard the develop-
wment of a large area that has been laid out with especial refer-
ence to it, and would seriously inconvenience the present popu-
lated neighborhood.

For twenty years the need for crossings for wheel traffic has
been deeply felt, but the then different jurisdictions on each
side gave rise to endless questions as to the relative portions
of the expense that each should bear, and nothing was done.

The territory now belongs to one jurisdiction—the City of
New York. The Legislature nearly eight years ago directed
that this bridge should be built, and provided the means for
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building it, and the authority charged with the duty of execut-
ing the order of the Legislature is the Department of Public
Parks. By the Act of May 11, 1869, (chap. 826), it was made
the duty of the original Board of Commissioners of the Central
Park to survey the lower and westerly part of Westchester
County, and, among other things, to provide plans for streets
and avenues, for sewers and drainage, for the supply of water,
for the improvement of the Harlem River and Spuyten Duyvil
Creek, and plans for the location of all bridges, tunnels, and
other means of transit across or under said river and creek.

The authority under this act expired on the first day of Jan-
uary, 1871. The work was entered into and pushed by the
Commissioners with energy.

The original Board of Central Park Commissioners, how-
ever, went out of office by the Charter of 1870. In the year
1871 (Chapter 534), a further act was passed, continuing in the
Department of Public Parks these powers of the Act of 1869,
and widening and extending them. In this act is found the
following passages :

“The said Board of Commissioners, on behalf of the City
“of New York, and the Chairman of the Board of Supervisors
“of Westchester County, and the Supervisor of the town
* which shall include the Westchester County end of any such
‘ tunnel, bridge, or other means of transit, or a majority of
“ them, on behalf of the County of Westchester, shall have
“ full power and authority to build and construct, by contract
“ or otherwise, as they shall deem most expedient, any and all
“ bridges, and other means of transit across or under Harlem
“ River or Spuyten Duyvil Creek, which may be planned or.
“ located as aforesaid, and may forthwith commence the build-
“ing or construction of a suspension bridge, north of the
“ bridge known as the “ High Bridge,” but not more than half
“ a mile therefrom ; and also the bridge or tunnel that may be
“ planned or located near or at the northerly end of the
“ Seventh Avenue, in the City of New York, provided, however,
“ that not more than two of such bridges, or one bridge and
“ one tunnel, or other means of transit, shall be in the course
“ or process of being built or constructed at the same time.”
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By the amended Annexation Act of 1874 (Chapter 329), the
Commissioners of the Department of Public Parks have the
power to devise plans to locate, construct and maintain all
bridges and tunnels they may lay out. By section 16, of the
same act, it is provided as follow :

“ All provisions of law now in force inconsistent with this
“act, and of laws imposing upon the County of Westchester
“ or the towns of Morrisiania, West Farms and Kingsbridge,
“ Nabilities for the construction and maintenance of tunnels
* under or bridges over the Harlem River, are hereby repealed,
“and the provisions of Chapter 534 of the Laws of 1871, for
“ the construction and maintenance of bridges over and tun-
“ nels under the Harlem River, at the joint cost and expense
“ of the City and County of New York and of the County of
“ Westchester, and certain towns therein named, shall be con-
“ gtrued as applying hereafter solely to the City and County of
“ New York, and to the territory hereby annexed thereto, and
“ the provisions contained in said chapter 534, for the raising of
“ moneys for the construction of said bridges and tunnels, or
“ any of them, over or under the Harlem River, by the issue of
*“ the bonds of such of the said counties, or otherwise, as in
¢ said chapter provided, shall herealter be confined to the City
“ and County of New York, as the same shall be enlarged by
* the territory hereby annexed, and the planning and con-
“gtruction of said tunnels and bridges shall be continued for
“ account of said enlarged City of New York, and with its
“ means, as in said chapter 534 provided, the same as though
“ the County of Westchester had not been mentioned in said
“ chapter in connection with said bridges and tunnels.”

It will be seen from the above that the bridge is, and has long
been, a recognized public recessity ; that legislation is full and
adequate to authorize, indeed, to use the words of the statute,
to require its construction ¢ forthwith,” and that the method of
raising the necessary means is also indicated by the law.

It is well known that measures are in progress for the im-
provement of these waters by the Government of the United
States, to render them, in accordance with the plans of that
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accomplished engineer, Gen. John Newton, useful to the com-
merce of the whole country, and that this improvement will be
of great advantage in cheapening the cost of carrying the pro-
ducts of the west to the east; to this City and Brooklyn, and
to Europe.

No consideration of this subject that omits in its inception a
full provision for the movement of commerce on the river, as
well as that of travel and traflic across it, will be deemed at all
adequate or satisfactory, but this one suspension bridge is a
feature connected with the whole undertaking of improving
the river, against which no valid objection can be urged.

Nature has fortunately formed the shores, on both sides, to
admit of a bridge of height sufficient to allow of the passage
of vessels without the necessity of a draw, and of a height that
conveniently accommodates the large plateaus of elevated
land on each side that ave rapidly being populated.

The unprecedentedly low price of iron, and the very mode-
rate prices of labor, iudicate this as a most favorable time for
proceeding with this structure; probably so advantageous a
time will not recur in a generation.

Your memorialists respectfully request your honorable body
to take the necessary measures to have this bridge com-
pleted.

Dated May 17, 1878,

L. G. Morgis,

GusTAV SCHWAB,

Frankriy Epsox,

N. P. BarLgy,

Hueu N. Camp,

Wu. G. ACKERMAN,

JoseEra H. Gopwiy,

JoserH J. PoTTER,

C. L. CaMMANN,

O. CaMMANN'S ESTATE,
Pr. C. L. CamMmany,

Morris WILKINS,

Lronarp W. JEROME,

JorN HUNTER,

W. R. TravEss.
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THis AcrEEMENT, made and concluded on the 24th day of De-
cember, in the year one thousand eight hundred and sev-
enty-eight, between the DEPARTMENT oF PusLic PARkS oF
THE Crry oF NEw YoOREK, the party of the first part, and
Tae MerrororITAN MUSEUM OF ART, party of the second
part, WITNESSETH : '

Whereas, By an Act of the Legislature of the State of New
York, passed April twenty-second, eighteen hundred and sev-
enty-six, entitled “ An Act in relation to the powers and duties
“ of the Board of Commissioners of the Department of Pub-
“lic Parks, in connection with the American Mnseum of
¢ Natural History and the Metropolitan Museum of Art,” the
said party of the first part is authorized and directed to enter
into a contract with the said party of the second part for the
occupation by it of the buildings erected, or to be erected, on
that portion of the Central Park, in the City of New York,
east of the old receiving reservoir, and bounded on the west
by the drive, on the east by the TFifth Avenue, on the south
by a continuation of Eightieth Street, and on the north by a
continuation of Eighty-fifth Street, and for transferring there-
to, and establishing and maintaining therein, its Museum,
library and collections, and carrying out the objects and pur-
poses of said party of the second part;

And whereas, A building contemplated by said Act has now
been erected, and nearly completed and equipped, in a manner
suitable for the purposes of said Museum, as provided in the
first section. of the Act of June third, eighteen hundred and
seventy-eight, known as Chapter 385 of the Laws of 1878, for
the purpose of establishing and maintaining therein the said
Museum, as provided by the said last-named act, and by the
Act of April 5th, eighteen hundred and seventy-one, known
as Chapter 290 of the Laws of 1871;
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And whereas, It is desired, as well by the said party of the
first part as by the said party of the second part, that, imme-
diately upon the completion and equipment of said building,
the said party of the second part should be established there-
in, and should transfer thereto its Museum, library and collec-
tions, and carry out the objects and purposes of the said
party of the second part ;

Now, therefore, It is agreed by and between the said parties
as follows, viz. :

First.—That the said party of the first part has granted
and demised and let,and doth by these presents grant, demise
and let, unto the said party of the second part, the said
buildings and the appurtenances thereunto belonging, to
have and to hold the same as long as the said party of the
second part shall continue to carry out the objects and pur-
poses defined in its charter, or such other objects and pur-
poses as by any future amendment of said charter may be au-
thorized, and shall faithfully keep, perform and observe the
covenants and conditions herein contained on its part to be
kept, performed and observed, or wutil the said building shall
be surrendered by the said party of v.e second part, as here-
inafter provided.

Secondly.—That neither the party of the first part, its sue-
cessor or successors, nor the Mayor, Aldermen and Common-
alty of the City of New York, shall be in any manner charge-
able or liable for the preservation of the said building, or the
aaroperty of the party of the second part which may be placed
sherein, against fire, or for any damage or injury that may be
caused by fire to the said property; but it is agreed that,
damages as aforesaid excepted, the said party of the first part
will keep said building, from time to time, in repair.

Thirdly.—That, as soon after the completion and equip-
ment of said building as practicable, the said party of the
second part shall transfer to and place and arrange .in said
building its Museum, library and collections, or such portion
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thereof as can be properly displayed to the public therein,
and shall have and enjoy the exclusive use of the whole of
said building, subject to the provisions herein contained and
the rules and regulations herein prescribed, during the contin-
uance of the term hereby granted, or until a surrender there-
of, as herein provided.

Fourthly—That the exhibition halls of said building shall,

on Wednesday, Thursday, Friday and Saturday of each week,
and on all legal or public holidays, except Sundays, be kept
open and accessible to the public, free of charge, from ten
o’clock A, M. until half an hour before sunset, under such rules
and regulations as the party of the second part shall, from
time to time, prescribe; but on the remaining days of the
week the same shall be only open for exhibition to such per-
sons and upon such terws as the said party of the second part
shall, from time to time, direct. But all professors and teach-
ers of the public schools of the City of New York, or other
“institutions of learning in said eity in which instruction is
given free of charge, shall be admitted to all the advantages
afforded by the said party of the second part, through its
Museum, library, apparatus and collections, or otherwise, for
study, research and investigation, free of any charge therefor,
and to the same extent and on the same terms and conditions
as any other persons are admitted to such advantages, as
aforesaid.

Fifthly—That the Museum, library and collections, and all
other property of the said party of the second part which shall
or may be placed in said building, shall continue to be and
remain absolutely the property of said party of the second
part; and neither the said party of the first part, nor the said
the Mayor, Aldermen and Commonalty shall, by reason of said
property being placed in said building, or continuing therein,
have any right, title, property or interest therein ; nor shall the
said party of the second part, by reason of its occupation and
use of said building under this agreement, acquire, or le
deemed to have any right, title, property or interest in said
building, except so far as expressly granted by this agreement.
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Siathly.—That the said party of the second part shall, on or
before the first day of May in every year during the continuance
of this agreement, submit to the said party of the first part, its
successor or successors, a detailed printed report of the opera-
tions and transactions of the said party of the second part, and
all its receipts and payments, for the year ending with the
thirty-first day of December next preceding.

Seventhly.—That the said party of the first part shall have,
at all times access to every part of said building for general
visitation and supervision, and also for the purpose of the per-
formance of the duties devolved upon it by the Laws of the
State of New York, or of the City of New York. That the
police powers and supervision of said party of the first part
shall extend in, through and about said building. That the
said party of the second part may appoint, direct, control and
remove all persons employed within said building, and in and
about the care of said building, and the Museum, library and
collections therein contained.

Eighthly. —That the said party of the second part may,at any
time after the expiration of three, and before the expiration of
nine months from the date of the service of a mnotice in writing
to said party of the first part, its successor or successors, or to
the Mayor of the City of New York, of its intention so to do,
quit and surrender the said premises, and remove all its prop-
erty therefrom ; and upon and after such notice, the said party
of the second part shall and will, at the expiration of the said
nine months, quietly and peaceably yield up and surrender
unto the said party of the first part, and its successors, all and
singular the aforesaid demised premises. And it is expressly
understood and agreed by and between the parties hereto, that
if the said party of the second part shall omit to do, perform,
fulfill or keep any or either of the covenants, articles, clauses
and agreements, matters and things heremn contained, which
on its part are to be done, performed, fuitilled or kept accord-
ing to the true intent and meaning of these presents, then and
from thenceforth this grant and demise shall be utterly null
and void. And in such case it shall and may be lawful for



7

said Department to serve or cause to be served on the said
party of the second part a notice in writing, declaring that the
said grant hereinbefore made has become utterly null and void,
and thereupon the said party of the first part, its successor or
successors (six months’ time being first given to the said party
of the second part to remove its property therefrom), may re-
enter and shall again have, repossess and enjoy the premises
before mentioned the same as in their first and former estate,
and in like manner as though these presents had never been
made, without let or hindrance of the said party of the second
part, anything herein contained to the contrary notwithstanding.

Ninthly.—And it is further expressly understood and agreed
by and between the parties hereto, that this agreement may be
wholly cancelled and annulled, or from time to time altered or
modified, as may be agreed in writing between the said parties
or their successors, anything herein contained to the contrary
in anywise notwithstanding.

In witness whereof, the party of the first part hath caused
this agreement to be executed by their President and Secretary,
pursuant to a resolution of the Board of Commissioners of
said Department adopted at a meeting held on the 18th day of
December, in tke year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred
and seventy-eight, and the said party of the second part hath
caused the same to be executed by their President and their
official seal affixed hereto, pursuant to resolution of the Trus-
tees of the Metropolitan Museum of Art; adopted at a meeting
held on the 23d day of December, in the year of our Lord one
thousand eight hundred and seventy-eight.

In presence of Jas. F. WENMAN,
D. Porrer LoRp. President Department of Public
Parks of the City of New York.
Wu. Irwiy,

Secretary Department of Public
T DA LA Parks of the City of New York.
*Metropolitan Museurn JoaN TAvLOR JOHNSTON,
L otA s President Metropolitan
Museum of Art.
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StatE oF NEw YoRk, } i
City and County of New York. { 5%

On this twenty-fourth day of December in the year 1878,
before me came James F. Wenman, President of the Depart-
ment of Public Parks of the City of New Yok, and William
Irwin, Secretary of the said Department of Public Parks, with
both of whom I am personally acqnainted, and both of whom
being by me duly sworr, said: That they reside in the City
and County of New York, that the said James F. Wenman, is
the President, and the said William Irwin is the Secretary of
the said Department of Public Parks, and that they signed
their names to the foregoing agreement by order of the
““ Board of Commissioners” of the said Department of Public
Parks.

eeean . W. C. Bzsson,
{SEAL.: : (73) Notary Public,
' N. Y. Co.
StaTE oF NEW YORE, .
City and County of New York, } S8

On this twenty-fourth day of December in the year 1878,
before me came John Taylor Johnston, the President of the
Metropolitan Musuem of Art, with whom I am personally
acquainted, who being by me duly sworn, said: That he
resides in the City and County- of New York, that he is the
President of the “ Metropolitan Museum of Art,” and that he
knows the corporate seal of said museum, that the seal af-
fixed to the foregoing agreement is such corporate seal, that
it affixed thereto by order of the “ Board of Trustees” of said
Metropolitan Musuem of Art, and that he signed his name

thereto by the like order.
W. C. BgssoN,

{SEAL.: (78) Notary Public,
N. Y. Co.
Recorded in the office of the Register of the City and
County of New York, in Liber 1479 of Cons., page 22, on the -
24th day of December, A. D. 1878, at 2 o’clock and 30 minutes
P. M., and examined.
Witness my hand and official seal.
: : Freperick W. Lozw,
PR Register.
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REPORT

Or Messrs. CrarLEs H. Haswern, Wu. E. WORTHEN AND
Joux Boaarr.

The Commission of Civil Engineers appointed in accordance
with a resolution of the Department of Public Parks of 20th
ultimo, to examine the work done under a contract between
the Department of Public Parks and Messrs. Decker and
Quintard, contractors, for the improvement and construction
of Riverside Avenue, herewith report:

That it has examined the materials furnished and work done
upon the Riverside Avenue as thoroughly as was practicable
in the time at its disposal, and without material injury by
tearing down portions of the mechanical work.

It has been furnished with copies of the contract and with
the original drawings, maps, plans, profiles, &c., which were
exhibited at the letting, and are referred to in the contract.

It has received from the Superintending Engineer of the
work, Mr. Thomas Franklin, and his assistants, detailed infor-
mation in reference to it.

It has esamined the former engineers and other persons
cognizant of the work during its progress.

In making a report upon the subject, it has been thought
best to follow the order of the contract and specifications and
_ to consider each item in that order.

The resolution under which the Commission acts ask for a
statement of “ the present condition of the work, and in what
“vespects it is done in accordance with the contract, and in
‘ what respect it is not so done.”

The opinion of the Commission is herewith given upon each
of the various items of work.

1st. The preliminary clause and the sections (A) and (1) of
the contract describe the area embraced in it as being the ave-
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nue known as Riverside Avenue, in the City of New York, as

laid out under the second Section, Chapter 850 of the Laws of
1873, and shown upon a certain map, filed February 23d,
1875.

This Commission finds that certain work has been done out-
side of the limits of the avenue above described, namely, exca-
vation of material from the Riverside Park, which material has
been brought therefrom and used in the filling of the avenue.

The amount of this material is estimated at 25,500 cubic
yards. It has been included in the monthly estimates of work
done as excavation of earth. In the opinion of this Commis-
sion, this amount should have been paid for only as embank-
ment under this contract.

2d. Most of the trees have been cut down within the lines
of the avenue and upon the slopes and areas inclosed between
the drive lines, which areas are designed to be grass-surfaced.

The Superintending FEngineer states that none have been
cut which he has directed to be saved.

3d. DisposrrioN oF Top SoiL.—A large portion of the top soil
seems to have been disposed of already in some manner,
although very few of the slopes are properly finished. Section
4 of the specifications makes special provision for the preser-
vation of this top soil for the future use upon the slopes, and
this should be done to preserve their park-like character.
Section 83 also provides that space for trees and planting shall
be filled to the established grades with good soil.

That which has been done, however, the Superintending
Engineer states has been in accordance with his directions.

4th. ExcavaTioN oF EARTH.—The largest part of the earth to
be excavated has been removed and estimated, but the slopes
have not been shaped, and, as this extra shaping of slopes
will be more expensive to the contractors than the previous .
earth excavation, the approximate estimate should have been
made with reference to this peint.

5th. IExcavation oF Rock.—Nearly all of this has been
finished.
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6th. EMBANKMENT.—This has been at many points, as stated
by the Superintending Engineer, made of *“large stones”; at
the points where this was in progress when examined by the
Commission, proper attention was not being given to that
clanse of the confract (sec. 7) providing for filling the inter-
stices of stone with earth; at several other points the upper
surfaces have settled ; water has carried with it, at some places,
the surface filling into the lower parts of the embankments,
forming holes, and into these the edging, gutter and walk areas
have settled. :

The larger part of the embankment is made. The Commis-
sion reports that its present condition is such that before fur-
ther proceeding to the construction of the walks, drives, etc.,
upon it, special measures shouid be taken to prevent their
future subsidence, which will certainly occur unless this pre-
caantion is taken.

7th. DrY WarL.—The total of dry wall now estimated as
done and to be done is much less than that of the original
estimate. This is due to changes in exterior lines, and the
substitution, in places, of earth and rock slope for retaining
walls, by the direction of the present Superintending Engineer.
Of this total, almost the entire amount is composed of retain-
ing walls, and their foundation walls, and they substantially in
" dimensions and character comply with the terms of the con-
tract, and the faces are even better than shown in the original
drawings exhibited by the Department at the time of the
letting.

8th. Pararer WaLr.—The totals of parapet wall estimated
and to be estimated would also have been less than the
original, but by the direction of the present Superintending
Engineer, one foot has been added to its height, making it 2
feet 6 inches instead of 1 foot 6 inches, as first designed and
exhibited on the original drawings. By the terms of the con-
tract—

“ It may be one or two courses in its height,if of one course
“ the stone must be of full dimensions of the parapet in each
“ direction, no centre vertical joints beingallowed. Tf of two
“ courses in height, one of the courses to be of the full width
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*of the wall, and the other may have a centre vertical joint,
“ this joint not to exceed one inch in thickness, neither of the
“ courses to be less than seven inches in height. To be laid
“ full in cement, with well pointed joints, joints not to exceed
“ % of one inch.”

None of this work is built of a single course of stone. There
are generallytwo courses, and in some cases three. No course
fell below 7 inches in height. When in two courses neither
of them are of the full width of the wall, both are almost
invariably stretchers with very few headers, and the centre
vertical joints much exceed the limit of one inch in thickness.
We have measured some of 6 inches, and no care has been
taken to keep this joint in any way uniform. At the ends
the stones are usually slack, and the face joints have but little
depth. The vertical joints are filled in with spawls with the
interstices imperfectly filled with cement. In its character
this wall is so different from that expressed by the contract
that the Commission considers it & direct and entire violation
of it.

9th. Copixa.—The coping is good and complies substantially
with the contract, except that ‘the chisel drafts of not less
‘ than one-half inch long the top and bottom of each stone on
“ the iuside face” have been omitted except for lengths about
1,000 feet. The total length, like that of the dry masonry,
is less  than that of the original estimate, and for the same
reason.

10th. RuseLe MAsONRY LAID IN CEMENT complies substan-
tially with the contract. Most of it coped the dry retaining
wall, and its face is of the same character. Under the same
heading is included the masonry of the abutments of the
bridge at Eighty-sixth street; the face in this masoury is
superior to that under which it is classed, and much better
than called for by the contract.

11th. SToNE FILLED 1N REAR OF WaLL.—This hasin cases not
been done where in the judgment of this Commission it would
have been proper to relieve the wall from embankment thrust.
The Superintending Engineer, however, states that it has not
been directed to be done by him, and the contract only re-
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quires it o be done if so directed. This omission is not,
therefore, a violation of the contract.

12th. CoNcrRETE.—This cannot be examined, as it is far
below the surface. The Superintending Engineer states that
it is in accordance with the contract.

13th. DramNagE.—(a) In refilling over the drain pipes laid,
the Superintending Engineer states, that there may have been
some deviations in the manner of ramming the filling ; but the
contract expressly provides that “the filling shall be by layers
“inmno case exceeding nine inches in thickness, and that the
“ earth or sand shall be faithfully rammed as the work pro-
‘““ gresses, in 1o case the number of men backfilling being
“ more than twice the number of those ramming.”

As no ramming has been done on recent work, this Com-
mission is of opinion that in that respect it is not in accord-
ance with the specifications. '

(b.) Quanity oF Prpe.—No pipe was being laid during the
examination of the work by this Commission ; that which had
been previously laid was covered, and its examination was
consequently omitted.

14th. Brick MasoNry.-——This was also nearly all covered.

15th. CEMENT.—None was being used ab the times of the
examination of the work. The tests as stated by the Super-
intending Engineer are not such as are usual on public works.

16th. PavEMENT oF WHERLWAY OR Dr1vE.—(¢) The contract
providesfor “the road beds to be shaped to the lines and
“ grades directed, and then, wherever directed, rolled with roll-
“ ers weighing not less than two tons, sufficiently to compact
“ the material to the satisfaction of the Engineer.”

A large amount of road bed has been prepared, and upon a
large portion of it stone has been placed. Noroller has been
used at any place.

This Commission, in reporting “the condition of the work,”
reports that the road bed has not been in any case rolled,
although it is in some places upon high embankments, and in
others in cuts, through earth of such a character as would,
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in its opinion, be better compacted and fitted for road con-
struetion by rolling.

The Superintending Engineer states that he has not directed
that the road bed should be rolled at any point. As the
contract provides that it should be rolled wherever directed,
and as it has not been directed anywhere, this Commission
reports that in this respect the work is not done in violation
of the contract.

(h.) FouxparioN StoNe.—The provisions of the contract, as
to the next point in road construction, are that the * stone for
“foundation is to be sound and durable quarry stone from seven
“ o0 ten inches in depth, not to exceed fifteen inches in length,
“ and generally from three to eight inches in width.”

“These stones are to be deposited upon the roadway, and
“ evenly adjusted, so as to form a pavement in which the
“gstones are well and compactly brought together to the
“ satisfaction of the Engineer.”

A Jarge amonnt of stone has heen placed upon the road bed.
They are generally sound, but there are among them many of
an inferior quality, which ought to be separated and used only
for general embankment. The size of the stones approximates
that mentioned in the contract. They have been deposited
upon the roadway and have been somewhat adjusted, but care
has not been taken to keep the depth of the stones from seven
to ten inches, nor has the limit of fifteen inches forlength been
observed.

It is the opinion of this Commission that in its present con-
dition a pavementis not formedin which the stones are well
and compactly brought together; but the Superintending
Evgineer states that they are to his satisfuction, and in this
respect that is the measure of complianze with the specifica-
tions.

(c.) The cortract provides that “ upon the top of these
“ stones are to be spread finer rubble and quarry chips suffi-
“ cient to fill and smooth over the interstices of the surface,
“ but care must be taken not to fill up the cavities of the lower
“ portion of the rubble bottom, which must have a cellular
“ character to facilitate drainage.”
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“ With this material is to be intermixed a quantity of gravel-
“ly earth or hard pan to the extent that shall be directed, and
“ the whole, being moistened by sprinkling, is to be rolled with
“ rollers of a weight that shall be directed. The rolling shall
“ be thorough,and continued so as to close all interstices of the
“ surface of the rubble foundation.”

Some finer rubble and quarry chips have been placed on top
of the stones, and over a large area of roadway gravel and sand
have been placed, but no rolling done at all. The present
condition of the work shows that care has not been tuken to
prevent the filling of the cavities of the lower portion of the
bottom, nor to preserve its cellular character. In fact, the in-
termixture of the gravelly earth or hard pan, the moistening
by sprinkling and the rolling, are provided for in the specifica-
tions as one operation, are mentioned together, without separa-
tion, and to secure what the specification calls for, the gravelly
earth or hard pan should be gprinkled and rolled when put on.
Then, by the compacting result of rolling there would be, as
specified, a closure of the interstices of the surface of the rub-
ble foundation.

The result of what has been done is that the gravelly ma-
terial has been filtered down through and between the hottom
stones, and, in the opinion of this Commission, the present
roadway is in no wise in accordance with the specifications.

No gravel has been delivered on the work.

17th. Pavemest oF Hipr.—Considerable road-bed has been
prepared for the Ride, bat in no place rolled, and the remarks
heretofore made as to bed for Drive are alike applicable in
this case.

Some material has been placed upon this road-bed, but it
has in no part been rolled, and is therefore unfinished.

18th. PAvEMENT OF WALEs.—A large amount of walk surface
has been brought to sub-grade, but none of it rolled ; over con-
siderable portions of it quarry stone have been filled in.

As the larger part of these walk surfaces are over embank-
ments close to the wall, and therefore specially liable to settle-
ment, and as the surfaces have in some cases already settled,
this Commission reports that the omission of rolling the sub-
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grade in such places is, in its opinion, injudicious; but the
Superintending Engineer states that he has not directed it,
and in this respect the Commission reports that the work is
not in violation of the contract.

19th. GurTERS.—Some two miles in length of gutters have
been laid. This commission reports that the present condition
of these gutters is unfinished in nearly every detail. They are
not rammed to a firm bed, and their surface does not yet con-
form to any regular lines or curves, and, to conform to the
specifications, must be relaid.

20th. GraNiTE CURB.—None has been used.

21st. GraNITE CURB ANGLE STONES.—Sec. 53 of the contract
provides that “ at the end of tree plots, and at such other
“ points as shall be directed, the granite curb will be provided
“ and set in special lengths, with joints eut to the angles shown
“ on plan, and with faces dressed as directed.”

The drawings exhibited at the letting include plans for such
granite curb angle stone. None have been delivered or set,
and in their stead have been substituted curved blue stone
curbing. The Superintending Engineer states that it escaped
hig attention that granite was required in these cases, and that
he directed the blue stone to be set. This has been estimated
at the price for circular corners. The substitution of biue
stone for granite was not warranted by the specifications.

22d. Brus StoNt Curs.—Over 8,000 lineal feet of blne stone
curb have been putin place, and more have been delivered.
This curb is generally of the specified thickness and depth.
Many stones, however, have not fair end joints, as specified,
but are slack from the bottom to within a few inches of the
top. Quite a number of stones are cracked through. The
joints, in many cases,are much wider than the % inch specified.
A large portion of the curb has been set in such a way that it
is already out of line, both horizontally and vertically. The
backing up does not seem to be, in many cases, free from clay
or loam, nor does it appear to have been well rammed, as
specified. This, therefore, is not finished in accordance with
specifications, but will require resetting and relining before it
should be finally accepted or fully estimated.
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Very many of the curb stones are in lengths of less than
three feet, but the Superintending Engineer states that these
in many instances are, in accordance with his directions,
special lengths which can be ordered under the contract.

23d. BLuk SToNE EpciNgs.—More than 19,000 lineal feet of
this material is delivered and put in place. The end joints in
many instances are not squared and dressed from top to bot-
tom in accordance with the contract, but are slack for part of
the height. As in the case of the curb, very much of the edg-
ing has been set in such a way that it is now out of line, both
horizontally and vertically. The backing is often not free from
clay or loam, nor has it been rammed as specified. This,
therefore, is not finished in accordance with specifications. It
will require resetting and relining before it should be finally
accepted or fully estimated.

24th. Fraeeine.—Over 20,000 square feet of flagging have
been delivered and laid in place. Much of this flagging shows
a fair upper surface. A number of pieces were observed less
than the specified thickness of two and one-half inches. Quite
a number of pieces were cracked through. The Commission,
during its examinations, saw flagging actually being laid in loam,
and in some other places, where the flagging was already laid,
the material at the sides of and which seemed to run under the
flagging was not free from clay or loam. At other parts of the
work the natural material was gravel or gravelly earth, con-
forming with the specifications, which require the flagging “ to
“ be bedded in four inches of clean, gritty earth or coal ashes,
“ free from clay or loam.” '

The Commission therefore reports that the flagging which is
already laid is not in all respects and at all points finished in
compliance with the specifications, but will require careful re-
inspection, the rejection and removal of part, and the relaying
of part, before it will be fully finished in accordance with the
contract.

25th. Cross-WaLks.—DBut a small amount of these have
been laid, and they are substantially in conformity with the
contract.

26th. TrRESTLE WoRK.—This is well constructed, framed, and
of good material.
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In view of the elements herewith submitted, we further
report:

That, from the above details, it appears that the contractors
for the improvewent and construction of Riverside Avenue
have complied with the requirements of the contract in the
dimensions of some of the material and in the character of the
work thereon, yet they have materially failed in other detals
and requirements; that the present Superintending Engineer
has received such material and permitted such work to be
performed, and constructively approved of such by embracing
them in Lis monthly estimates of material and work, and certi-
fying to their correctness. That the boundary of the avenue,
the dimensions, location and arrangement of walks, grass sur-
faces, &c., have been altered from the original design as sub-
mitted to and approved of by your Department; that altera-
tions in the dimensions of material and character of work have
been made and permitted by the present Superintending En-
gineer, wholly arbitrary on his part, being not only without
the sanction of, but without even the knowledge of, your
Department. '

That, as far as it was practicable to verify the monthly
estimates that have been certified to by the previous and
present Superintending Engineers, without incurring a very
considerable cost and an objectionable delay in this report,
and assuming such materials and work to have been accepted
by your Department, inasmuch as with the exception of the
‘last monthly estimate they have been paid for, it is apparent
that the sum of the quantities is not in excess.

Finally, that the supervision of the reception of the mate-
rials and of the execution of the work in its progress in their
very general character has not only been ia disregard of the
original design upon which the contract was based, and of its
specifications, but it has been in nowise calculated to meet the
just expectations of those who are to bear a moiety of its cost,
and of the public at large.

Respectfully submitted.
CHas. H. HaswrLL.
Wu. E. WoRTEN.
JoaN BOGART.
NEw Yorg, December 26th, 1878,
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MINUTES OF THE MEETINGS OF MESSRS. CHARLES H.
HASWELL, WM. E. WORTHEN AND JOHN BOGART, AND
THE TESTIMONY TAKEN BY THEM.

NEw Yorg, Dec. Tth, 1878.

The Commission of Engineers, in the matter of the contract
for the Riverside Drive, and consisting of Messrs. Charles H.
Haswell, William E. Worthen and John Bogart, met at the
Department of Public Parks, New York, this day, at 1 p. M.
Present, the whole Commission.

On motion, Mr. Charles H. Haswell was requested to act as
Chairman, and Mr. John Bogart as Secretary.

It was determined that the serviees of a stenographer would
be required, and Mr. Haswell was empowered to procure
one.

A letter was received from Smith E. Lane, Treasurer of the
Department of Parks, requesting an appointwent with the
Comnmittee for the purpose of submitting his views. In ac-
cordance with that request, Monday, December 9th, 1878, at
3 p. M., was appointed as the time for such hearing, and a let-
ter was sent to Mr. Lane, notifying him of that fact.

A letter was also sent to the Secretary of the Department cf
Public Parks, enclosing a copy of the letter of Mr. Lane, and
requesting the Secretary to notify the Commissioners of the
Department of the time of hearing Mr. Lane, so that they might
be represented, if they deemed fit.

December 9th, 1878.

The Commissioners met, pursuant to adjournment, at three
o’clock, in the office of the Department of Public Parks, 36
Union Square.

A communication was received from the President of the
Department of Public Parks, but no action was taken
upon it. ’

Sarte K. LANE.

Mr. Svite E. LiaNE, Treasurer of the Department of Public

Parks, appeared before the Commission.
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Mr. Haswell : It is proper, Mr. Lane, that you shoald con-
fine yourself exclusively to your documentary matter, and ex-
clusively to the merits of your position, without any reference
to any personal matter between you and your associates in
any way.

Mr. Lane : I did intend to say a few words in relation to
my associates. Of course, they would have been of a nature
perfectly courteous to the Commission and to my associates.
But I did not intend to say anything in regard to that matter
without a suggestion from you, gentlemen. Therefore, in what
I have to say, I will confine myself entirely to the matter in
hand. In regard to the matter of the Riverside contract, the
course I have pursued is one I would pursue in any personal
matter which could come before me as alawyer. I have no
feeling against anybody connected with the work, but I have
taken up this matter just as dispassionately as alawyer would,
and I think my associates should look atit in the same way.
Lawyers come into court and argue and fight, but after the
court has adjourned they are good friends, and afterwards meet
on good terms. When I entered upon the discharge of my duties
in January, 1878, I called upon the Comptroller, to take from
him any suggestion as to the ccurse I should pursue, and he
said to me that so far as the affairs of the department were
concerned I was to use my own judgment. My last commu-
nication is probably before you. The Comptroller said my
action met with his approval. He said I could take no other
course ; and the Mayor made the same statement to me.

By Mr. Bogart:

Q. Do you consider that communication to pertain to you
personally, or as Treasurer of the Department ?

A. As a Commissioner of the Department; it is on file in
the Comptroller’s office ; T will come to that in a moment, gen-
tlemen, and show you that it is a record of the department.
There will be three copies of it left with you. I propose to
begin at the commencement, and give a history of this case.
‘When I came into the department, in January, 1878, work had
practically ceased ; very few men were engaged. Soon after-
wards a certificate of approximate estimate came in from Mr.
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Aldrich, which made the amount due the contractors, less
thirty per cent. reserved, a very small sum. Soon after-
wards my associates, on the 13th of March, 1875, removed
Mr. Aldrich, notice having been given him before that to ap-
pear and show canse why he should not be removed. I
opposed the removal, because I thought Mr. Aldrichhad been a
fuir and honest man ; nothing had been presented to me to show
that he had not discharged his duties properly. A little later
Mr. Fravklin had been appointed in his place. I had never
met Mr. Franklin, but understood then that he was not a mem-
ber of the Society of Civil Engineers, and had no rank in the
profession. T offered a resolution asking for information in're-
gard to Mr. Franklin ; my associates differed from me, how-
ever; it was voted down, and Mr. Franklin was appointed.
Soon afterwards, on the 20th day of March, an estimate for the
sum of $6,673.34 was handed in with the certificate of Mr.
Franklin. Not being satisfied with Mr. Franklin’s certificate,
for the reason that the bill was so much larger than that sub-
mitted by Mr. Aldrich, as Chairman of the Auditing Commit-
tee I refused to audit the bill, and also opposed the motion to
transmit it to the Finance Department for payment. The next
bl put in was April 10th, $2,020.22 ; another was May 8th,
§9,141.14 ; June 5th, $17,007,01; July 3d there wus one for
$15,006.79 ; and the others were August Tth, $13,114.41 ; Sep-
tember 4th, $20,135.34 ; October 2d, $18,170.09; in every one
of these cases I explained my negative vote in the Board, very
much as I have explained it to you gentlemen here. Then, on
the 30th day of October, another approximate estimate cawme
in for $15,125.09 ; I wished to bring watters to a crisis, and so
wrote the following certificate upon the auditing sheet, after it
had been audited by my associate, Mr. Conover, who was the
other member of the Auditing Cowmittee :

“I refuse to audit the foregoing estimate of Decker & Quin-
“ tard, for the reason that my personal examination of the work
“ satisfies me that it has not been performed according to the
“contract, and that the certiflcate of the engineer, Mr. Franklin,
“ that it has been so performed, is incorrect.”

My associates approved the bill, and sent it to the Finance
Department for payment ; in all these cases I voted “No.”
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Previous to that, on the 15th day of October, 1878, I had
made at least twenty examinations of the work in person, not
from diagrams or from drawings, but by walking over the
whole ground from Seventy-second street to One Hundred and
Thirtieth street, and making myself fully acquainted with all
the details of the work, just as any lawyer with a contract be-
fore him goes and looks at the work; it is his duty; I was
then very much dissatisfied with the character of the work, and
on the fifth of October, a communication having been trans-
mitted to the Comptroller by Mr. Eidlitz, and brought before
the Board in a communication from the Comptroller, I offered
the following resolutions :

“ Whereas, the irregularities and defeets in the execution of
* the work under thejRiverside contract have long been known
“ to the Commissioners, and to other persons, and are now
“ forced upon the attention of the Board by the letter of the
“ Comptroller, inclosing the letter and specifications of Mr.
“ Kidlitz;

“ And whereas the questions presented affect severely the
“ integrity of the officers of the department, as well as the
“ public interest :

“ Resolved, That, for the purpose of a thorough vestiga-
“ tion, an examination be had, by the full Board, and that the
“ Comptroller, Mr. Eidlitz, and the engineers of the Depart-
“ ment, the contractors and their engineers and all other per-
“ sons interested be invited to be present.

 Resolved, That a special meeting of the Board for this
“ purpose be held the 11th of October instant, at half-past
“ nine o’clock A. M.”

These were voted down by my associates. When the last
estimate that I refused to sign, went to the Finance Depart-
ment, on the same day I transmitted to the Comptroller a pro-
test, and also a copy of the same protest to the Mayor ; a copy
of 1t is annexed to my statement here; then the Comptroller
sent a letter, addressed to me as Treasurer of the Department,
after my refusal to audit and to vote for the transmission of
the estimate to the Departient of Finance, and in it he says:
« I will thank you to point out wherein your associates are in
¢« error, and in what particulars the specitications have not been
“ complied with.” Accordingly on the 15th of November, I



19

transmitted to the Comptroller a communication, together with
drawings and exhibits.

Now, that is the history of the case. The papers, which are
probably before you in this investigation, allow me to suggest,
will be first the contract and specifications; then there is a re-
port made by the Engineer of the Comptroller, Mr. Bacon, the
report of Engineer Franklin, which is printed in our minutes.
The report of Engineer Franklin was made in this way ; when
the communication from the Comptroller, including the com-
munication of Mr. Eidlitz to him, came to band, the Board, by
resolution, referred the subject to Mr. Franklin, Superintend-
ing Engineer of the Department, for report upon it; he made a
report which is printed in our minutes in the month of Novem-
ber. I only speak from official records, entirely from the
documentary evidence on file in this Department, and in the
possession of the Comptroller. The next is a copy of this com-
munication, which is on file, and therefore is a public record.
I did not wish to trouble the Comptroller too much in my
communication, so I referred only to two points, and they are
as to the execution of the work on the parapet wall, and the
pavement of the Drive; then I made drawings, so that every-
body might have ocular demoustration of the manner in which
the work was done. '

By Mr. Worthen :

Q. Do you mean to say the whole of the work is substan-
tially like these drawings (veferring to drawings attached to
letter of Mr. Lane to Comptroller) ?

A. T will come to them in a moment, if you please. I want,
howerver, to call your attention particularly to other work out-
side the parapet wall and curb; the contract calls for stone
edging, and the tree-plots at the corners where the streets
pass through were to be of fruncated form, and the stones
were to be seven inches in width ; as they are set they are
not truncated, but set with blue stone edgings at right angles
to the sides; then, again, the sireet corners should be in one
stone, but they are set in two stones; the most important
matter of all, T think, which was a subject that I could not in-
vestigate, for the reason that it is covered up, and of which I
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could not get much information, is the sewerage and drainage,
said to be defective, and I believe that a great deal of it that
is laid down will not drain at all.

By Mr. Haswell :

Q. Who told you so?

A. Mr. Eidlitz, who resides on his property at Riverside
Duive. :

By Mr. Bogart :

Q. The architect ?

A. Yes, sir; he has been inspecting this work every day; it
has been said that I was in collusion with Mr. Eidlitz in this
matter ; I did not know him until four weeks after I wrote
my communication to the Comptroller ; T went up to his house
afterwards to get some information; my examination of all
this work has been personal. You asked me to speak of the
parapet wall and the pavement of the Drive, did you not?

By Mr. Worthen :

Q. I want to know whether this is the universal character of
the work ; we shall tear down a portion of the wall; now, if it
is so all the way through, we can tear down anywhere, you
know ? .

A. I have got a witness—a mason—who worked on that
wall ; he wiil show you in fifty places where the contract has
not been complied with. T have his name here, Martin Cal-
laghan, 535 West Fifty-ninth street. I want Mr. Eidlitz called
as a witness. Two weeks ago I saw thirty feet of the top of that
wall without coping, and it was finished the day before, becanse
I took sticks and dug out little quarry chips in the middle,
and I dug down a foot; then, let me add, the contract calls {or
two courses of stones in the parapet wall

Mr. Worthen : It says it may be of two courses.

Mr. Lane: Then, if it is done with two courses, the stones
are to be crossed with boxed stones to go through. I found
there is no such thing as stones running through. I only want
to make you see that I looked into this matter, and am not
talking from what one man says, or what another man says.

‘Those measurements were all made by me on the ground. I
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‘don’t propose to instruct you, gentlemen, because you stand

high in your profession. Now I come to a matter which is very
important in counection with this whole contract. Mr. Has-
well asked Mr. Bogart the other day in my presence, whether
there might not be a departure from the work as laid down in
the contract, as long as it was for the interest of the work and
the interest of the Department that there should be changes.
Now, before the parapet wall was commenced, and before the
pavement of the Drive was touehed, the then President of the
Department, Mr. William R. Martin, with a view of entirelyset-
tling all those questions, although he is a lawyer, and to put it
on record so that it would cover the Department and its em-
ployés, wrote to the Corporation Counsel aletter, which is on
file in this Department, and which I suppose you bave read.

Mr. Haswell : We are not here, Mr. Lane, to judge of what
the Department of Public Parks has done.

Mr. Lane : No, but the Department of Public Parks has not
given any authority for the change in the height of the parapet
wall. You will find the fact that this wallis one foot higher
than the contract calis for; but I thought it was proper to call
your attention to it, because Mr. Haswell has spoken of it, and
the Corporation Counsel says that even where it is for the ben-
efit of the City, the contractors have no right to make any
changes in the contract. ,

Mr. Haswell : That is between the Corporation Counsel and
the Department of Public Parks. e have uothing to do with
it.

Mr. Lane: I want you to find the fact that that wall is one
foot higher than the contract calls for. After the contract has
been accepted and has been entered upon, no changes can be
made by the Department. The specifications can only be
modified or changed by subsequent action, and there has
been no subsequent action.

Mr. Bogart: The contract says in the very first section of
specifications (page 5) that the work shall be done and labor
and materials are to be put in place as hereinafter more
particularly described, all in accordance with the plans,profiles
and drawings prepared by the Department of Public Parks.
Whether that refers to plans previous to the drawings which
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were accepted at the time, or whether it may not also include
plans made by this Department or by its officers; in other
words, whether the original drawings formed part of the original
specifications, is a question.

Mr. Lane : No authority has ever been given by the Dep’trt-
ment since the beginning of the work on the parapet wall
authorizing any change in its height. That matter of the
parapet wall and its height is a very important one in con-
nection with this opinion of the Corporotion Counsel, and that
is the only question of law that I have to present to you. My
facts are all embodied in my letter to the Comptroller, and I
know that you gentlemen, eminent in your profession, bring
to your tack along experience, and will look into these matters
and will do what is right. T am perfectly satisfied that the
matter should be submitted to you. I wish inaddition to those
named that you would examine Mr. James C. Aldrich. T claim
that the part of the work he did was good and in accordance
with the contract, and I wish that your attention might be
called to some of his work. Mr. Aldrich has gone over that
work. Naturally as he was the one who first constructed it,
and carefully, he would be able to point ont a great many
irregularities.

By Mr. Haswell :

Q. You are Treasurer of the Department ?

A. Yes.

Q. Where are the copies of the estimates filed, with you
directly, or with a clerk ?

A. The Secretary is custodian of the records.

Q. Do you recollect whether any estimates have been given
in for the roadways ?

A. The approximate estimates cover every class of work.

Q. I want to know whether the roadway has been specified
in the estimates ?

A. Yes, sir; I can show youtheestimates (referring tothem).
On the 30th day of September, 1878, in their approximate
estimate, 9,600 square yards of pavement is stated by Mr.
Franklin as completed, and yet in the report which 1 called
your attention to he said that none of the pavement of the
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Drive was completed, and none of the rolling. The contract
calls for five rollings, and yet he certifies for a certain number
of yards, and the Department had no right to pay for anything
except completed work. My associates certified to the Comp-
troller for work which had not been performed, and the City
had to pay $2,880 for it.

Wirriam Inrwiw.

Mr. Wirriam IrwiN, Secretary of the Department, was called
and questioned concerning the manner in which the estimates
were kept and recorded.

By Mr. Bogart:

Q. These bills (the monthly estimates of the work) are sub-
mitted by the Superintending Engineer ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Ave the items verified by the Department, and, if so, in
what manner ?

A. The items, so far as the yuantities are concerned, are
based upon the Superintending Engineer’s certificate ; there is
no other supervision for the amount of work done; it is my
duty to examine the estimates and ascertain. that the prices
charged are correct, and that the estimates are made up in
conformity with the contract, and I have so to certify.

Q. Mr, Franklin’s report is final and exhaustive as to the
quality and quantity of work done, and upon his certificate the
bills are audited and payment made ?

A. Yes, sir, if found to be reported in accordance with the
terms of the contract.

Q. The original drawings which were exhibited at the time
of the letting, and which were a part of the specifications at
that time, where are they now ?

A. They are in the office of Mr. Franklin, the Superintend-
ing Engineer, at Riverside Park.
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TuEespAY, December 10th, 1878.

The Commission met at 1 o’clock P. M.,.pursuant to adjourn-
ment, all the members being present.

TraoMAS FRANKLIN.

, Mr. FRANKLIN was in attendance, and was examined, as fol-
lows, by Mr. Charles H. Haswell :

Q. What is your position in connection with the construction
of Riverside avenue ?

A. Iam Superintending Engineer of the Riverside improve-
ment.

Q. When were you appointed ?

A. On the 13th of March last.

Q. (3howing copy.) Will you look at that contract and
specifications, and state whether they are those under which
Riverside avenue is being constracted ?

A. Yes, sir, they are.

Q. Cun you furnish the oviginal drawings and plans referred
to in that contract ? .

A. I dov’t know that Tcan. Not any more than the original
plavs ; the original drawings I doun’t think I have in the office ;
the mechanical drawings by which the work was let you
mean ?

Q. Yes, sir.

A. No, sir; I have not got them.

Q. Under which drawings then are you supervising and
directing the work ?

A. Some that I found there, and which had been made
under Mr. Aldrich’s direction, and some that I made myself;
I have the original plan of the improvements of the avenue.

(Plan in question sent for, and inspected by the Commis-
sion.)

Q. What other drawing have you in your possession to guide
you in your work ? _

A. Well, T have drawings of the wall, the retaining wall, the

.road botloming, plan of the basins, and showing the manner
in which the sewers and pipes lay.

Q. Do your drawings include those of the tree-plots?



A. Yes, sir.

Q. When can you furnish them ?

A. I can furnish them to-morrow morning.

Q. Very good.

A. You want everything we have got, do you, down here to-
morrow morning ?

Q. Yes, sir.

(After some discussion, the Commission decided to postpone
the inspection of the drawings until it should visit the office
of Mr. Franklin, on the grounds.)

Q. What is the character, and what is the extent of the
supervision, of the work in its progress ?

A. Well, it is my duty to overlook the work, and see that it
is properly constructed, and I am authorized to have an in-
spector besides, and an assistant engineer. -

Q. Do you delegate the matter of supervising the work ?

A. When any work is being constructed, I'go along, and if
it is not properly done, I have it taken up and done over, and
I point out what I want done over, and so on, the same as en-
gineers do.

Q. You alone do not supervise the work in its entire pro-
gress?

A. T have an inspector.

Q. When estimates of work performed ave asked for by the
contractor, what is your method of procedure to determine
the volume or extent of the work?

A. We take the necessary levels and measurements to de-
termine the amount and quantity.

Q. By whom are these measurements made ?

A. Chiefly by Mr. O’Grady, the assistant engineer,

Q. Do you confide in him fully, to the extent of giving your
certificate for materials furnished and work performed?

A. Yes, sir; as to correctness of quantities obtained by
levels and measurements. :

Q. What is the character and extent of your supervision of
the materials furnished, their compliance with the specifica-
tions in all their details, both in accuracy of measurement and
correctness of location in construction ? '
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A. Well, T examine the materials furnished, and see whether
it will answer, and pass upon it.

Q. Describe a little more fully how you examine this mate-
rial; I refer to measurements ?

A. Measures for estimates, you mean ?

Q. No, measurements of the stone, the diameters of pipe,
and so forth,

A. We get pipe of one foot and eight inches diameter; I
have never measured it myself to see whether it is just one
foot, or just eight inches.

Q. My question was as to the accuracy of measurements.

A. T would reject anything that was not of the proper
dimensions.

Q. You assume, then, that pipes and cut stones, and so forth,
delivered there, ave in accordance with the specifications?

A. No; I can’t say that I assume that exactly; I see that
they are ; for although I bLave never specially made measure-
ments of the size of the pipe, we order a twelve-inch pipe,
and it is delivered on the ground; I give very accurate in-
structions as to the inspection of the pipe and all that.

Q. You satisfy yourself that they are of the proper dimen-
sions before you accept them ?

A. Ob, yes, although I can’t say, as I told you before, that
I actually measured the twelve-inch pipe.

Q. Is there any cast-iron pipe ?

A. No, we don’t use those at all.

Q. Have you ever seen or made a summary of the materials
furnished and the work performed ?

A. Ob, yes.

Q. (Showing paper) Is that alike to it, or a copy of it?

A. T wrote that myself .

Q. (By Mr. Bogart) That is it then?

A. Yes, sir.

Mr. Haswell, resuming :

Q. When a detfail of work was incomplete, and like the
parapet wall in its present condition, in what manner did you
estimate materials and work ?

A. By actual measurement.
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Q. When such work was incomplete as a whole, or in part,
how did you determine the amount to be allowed; for in-
stance, a sewer-trench opened and partly constructed, but not
filled in ?

A. In that case, for an approximate estimate, I allowed
them for all the pipe that was laid.

Q. Did you allow them for the pipe before the sewer was
completed ?

A. T allowed for the pipe that was returned to me as being
laid, as my assistant measured it, at fifty-five cents per lineal
foot.

Q. Is any portion of the road-bed of this Drive completed ?

A. None.

Q. Have you certified to the construction of the road-bed,
or the Drive, or any part of it?

A. Yes, I have,

Q. If the road-beds, then, are mnot complete, upon what
basis have you certified to their construction?

A. There was a great deal more of road bottom laid than
that for which I made an estimate, and I wanted to get an ap-
proximate estimate according to the value of the work done,
so I estimated for a very small portion of the amount of thLe
road that was actually to be done.

Q. And you allowed a full price for a portion of it?

A. Yes, sir; my reason was in order to pay them something
towards the work done, according to its value.

Q, Have the contractors in their employ any one who has
any surveillancé over your measurements and computation ?

A. They have not.

Q. The contractors confide their interests in these points
wholly to you?

A. So far as I know.

Q. Your allowance, then, of thirty cents per square yard
upon 9,600 square yards of the road-bed was predicated on
the view that you have just stated ? ’

A. Yes; it was an approximate estimate for work that they
had actually done; as we estimate other work that is incom-
plete ; there was a very large quantity of it, and we estimated
it at 9,600 yards.
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Q. As complete?

A. T estimated it as complete, for the purpose of getting a
partial estimate of the whole thing.

Q. If the entire work had been complete at the period of
your last estimate of materials furnished and work performed,
would it have been a compliance with the specifications of the
contract ?

A. Inregard to the quantities do you mean? Yes; they
are estimated nearly in full. '

Q. You are sure, then, that the estimates are not in excess
at this time ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Are the requirements of the specifications in the con-
struction of the parapet wall fully met in the dimensions of
the stone, and in the manner of laying and bedding it, in
reference to the transverse binding of the structure and in the
filling of the inter-spaces?

A. There is a deviation from the letter of the contract, inas-

.much as there are two courses; one of them is required to be

of one stone; that has not in all cases been strictly complied
with. :

Q. Why not?

A. The contractor did not obey orders; he was told to com-
ply with the specifications, but did not do so ; that work is not
accepted yet.

Q. Did this direction include the entire parapet wall ?

A. No, sir.

Q. Have you allowed him for that work?

A. Not all of it.

Q. Have you allowed him for any of this work thatis in
dispute ? '

A. I have allowed him an approximate estimate on it.

Q. I understand you, then, that the coutractor has con-
structed the parapet wall in violation—part of it, that is—in
violation or in opposition to the specifications and your direc-
tions ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q, Have you reported that to the Department ?

A. No, sir; not officially.
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Q. How long since this work was performed ?

A. Well, T should say it extended over a period of four
months ; T can’t tell exactly.

Q. Since this violation of the specitieations ?

A. T should think it might be four months.

Q. Under whose direction did you allow the parapet wall to
be raised in excess of the dimensions in the specifications and
original drawings ?

A. T thought T had a right to do that under the specifica-
tions regulating the dimensions of the wall, and I did so be-
cause I thought it would be better and safer.

Q. The height of that wall as determined by the department
was given in the drawings, was it not?

A. I never heard that it was; I heard to the contrary, but I
did not know of my own knowledge. I want to call your atten-
tion to the paragraph “B” under the heading “Improve-
ments of Riverside Avenue” on page 4 of the contract. It
reads :—

“ To prevent disputes and litigations, it is further agreed by
“ and between the parties to this contract, that the Engineer
“ appointed by the said Department to superintend said work
“ shall in all cases determine the amount or the quantity of
“ the several kindsof work which are to be paid for under
“ this contract; and he shall determine all questions in rela-
“ tion to lines, levels and dimensions of work.”

There is also something on paragraph “Q,” page 30 :

“And it is hereby further agreed that the said De-
“ partment of Public Parks shall have power from time to
“ time to alter or determine any modifications in the lines,
“ grades or dimensions of any part or parts of the work in-
“ cluded in this agreement, and that the said party of the -
“ second part shall do and perform the work in accordance
“ therewith.”

By Mr. Worthen :
Q. Then you undertook the responsibility of increasing the
dimensions.

A. I took the responsibility of raising the wall, because I
thought I had a right to do so. ‘
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By Mr. Haswell :

Q. Had you any drawing of that wall in section given you ?
A. T had, as furnished by my predecessor.

By Mr. Bogart:

Q. Yoo have raised it a foot ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Are we to understand that you have never seen a draw-
ing of the retaining wall and the parapet wall in sections?

A. T have seen a drawing of the parapet wall, in connection
with the retaining wall.

Q. What was the height required of the parapet wall in the
drawing that you saw ?

A. The height of the parapet wall was eighteen inches be-
low the coping.

Mr. Haswell, resuming:

Q. And you increased the height ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. On your own authority ?

A. On the authority which I claim was given me by the
specifications.

Q. We understand, then, that you did see drawings of the
retaining and parapet wall in sections ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. In whose possession wers those drawings when you saw
them?

A. They had been in the possession of my predecessor, Mr.
Aldrich.

Q. And were transmitted to you?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And you held them to be the authority for yonr pro-
cedure?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. In the stone filling or backing of the retaining wall, to
what extent have the interstices or voids been filled so as to
guard against a gradual and remote subsidence of the Drive
when completed ?

A. In reference to the retaining wall now?

Q. Yes, sir.
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A. The retaining wall has been built in accordance with
the specifications.

Q. You don’t understand the question; in the stone filling
or backing—

A. Oh, behind the wall!

Q. Yes; to what extent have the inter-spaces or voids been
filled so as to guard against the gradual or remote subsidence
of the Drive when completed ?

A. The filling has been deposited behind the wall.

Q. What measures have you taken to guard against subsi-
dence?

A: T have carefully overlooked the filling bekind the wall.

Q. Did you take especial measures to have the void filled ?

A. In some cases.

By Mr. Worthen :

Q. What is the foundation ?
A. Large stone.

Mr. Haswell, resuming :

Q. Are the depth of the foundation and the width of the re-
taining wall, ag required by the drawings, rigidly maintained
in its structure ?

A. In the depth of the foundation and the width of the re-
taining wall, did you say?

Q. Yes, sir.

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Rigidly maintained in its construction according to the
specifications ?

A. T can’t say that that is so exactly, because my predeces-
sor allowed them to build the back of the wall on a slope.

Q. Irefer to your acts; never mind your predecessor?

A. Then let me have your question again, sir.

Q. (Question repeated.)

A. Substantially maintained. .

Q. You say “substantially;” are we to understand by that
that in some portions it is of less dimensions than that re-
quired by the drawings ?

A. No,'sir; not at all; I thought you had reference to the
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manaer of the construction; it is the full dimensions required
by the drawings. _

Q. Is it in its construction rigidly in conformity with the
specifications.

A. In its construction it is in conformity with the spirit of
the specifications.

Q. With the specifications ?

A. With the specifications ; I thought I had answered that
question.

Q. No.

A. You asked me whether it was in conformity with the
specifications, and I answered it is.

Q. Are the requirements of the specifications in the con-
struction of this wall fully met in the dimensions of the stone,
in the manner of laying and bedding them, in reference to the
transverse binding of the structure and in the fillings of the
inter-spaces?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Inasmuch as a very large portion, if not all, of the trans-
verse culverts and drains have been laid and are now so deep-
set that it would involve a general uncovering of them at a
very considerable cost, we submit to you, as the officer to
whom the interests of the department, in this matter, have
been solely confided, if this work has been wholly constructed
in a strict conformance, both in materials and work, with the
requirements of the drawings and specifications ?

A. That work has been constructed well and in accordance
with the specifications.

By Mr. Worthen :

Q. In strict conformance ?

A. Well, there may have been some deviation, possibly the
matter of ramming sometimes ; but in that case the material
was thrown down from a height, so that the result was the
same.

Mr. Haswell, resuming :

Q. What number and grade of assistants have you to aid in
the strict examination of the materials and work in the progress
of construection ?



33

A. T have one whose especial duty it is to assist me in that
way.

By Mr. Bogart:

Q. What is his name?

A. Mr. Patrick H. Norton.

). Have you only one?

A. Only one inspector ; I have, first, an assistant engineer,
Cornelius O’Grady ; then I have a transit man who does duty
as draughtsman, Mr. Hufenagel ; I have also a leveler, Mr. F.
S. Odell, who works with the transit and the level ; there is a
rodman, Mr. W. D. Pierce, whose chief duty is in my office.

Q. These are all office people that you are talking of now?

A. Not necessarily ; the rodman I mentioned does duty in
the office, but also goes into the field occasionally ; then I have
six chainmen and an axeman ; these are all, with the exception
of Mr. Norton, whom I have previously named.

Mr. Haswell, resuming:

Q. How many of these are exclusively employed in the
supervision of the work in its progress ?

A. They are all employed in that way; that is the reason
they are there.

By Mr. Worthen :

Q. How many have a right to give orders?

A. Five of them have a right to do so.

Q, They answer as a sort of inspectors ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Had the cut stone designated at street corners been set
in a manner different from that required by the drawings ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. How then are the curb stone corners set? ;

A. The cut stone pieces are in some places in one piece,
and in same places more than one.

Q. Do the drawings admit of that variation?

A. Well, now, I want to see the dranghtsman about that, if
you will allow me to consult him.

[Mr. Fronklin left the room, but returned,in a minute and
continued his answer. ]
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The drawing calls for one piece, but I don’t understand that
the specifications do.

Mr. Haswell, resuming :

Q. If the drawings call for one piece, under what authority
have you permitted two to be laid in some places ?

A. On the authority of the specifications.

Q. Will you designate in the specifications where you derive
your authority !

A. Paragraph 57, page 20.

Q. In the stone filling behind the retaining wall, and in the
embankments, did you require the void to be filled in any
manner as required by the specifications ?

A. Didn’t I answer that question before? I answered it
substantially some time ago.

Q. Partially you did. I now wantan answer specific to this
question. In the stone filling behind the retaining wall, and
in the formation of the embankment, did you require the voids
to be filled in any manner as required by the specifications ?

A. They have been so filled in part.

- What test of the dry cement furnished, and of the cement
mortar, as to its proportionate constituents, have you made ?

A. We examined it from time to time as to its being prop-
orly set. : '

Q. What examination did you give the dry cement ?

A. We didn’t give any examination to the dry cement ; we
mixed it, and tested it in that way.

By Mr. Worthen :
Q. Did you make the test in block ?
A. No, sir.
Q. The only test you made was after the mortar was mixed ?

A. Yes, sir.

Mr. Haswell, resuming :

Q. Was the road-bed rolled prior to the laying of the foun-
dation stones upon it ?

A. [Interrupting.] No, sir.

Q. [Continuing.] As required by the specifications, para-
graph “A,” section 45.
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A. Tclaim that the contract does not require it, except as
directed by the engineer.

Q. Have any of the road-beds been finished up to their sub-
grades?

A. Yes, sir.

By Mr. Bogart :

Q. You mean by sub-grades, before any stones have been
put on it at all?
A. T understand by “sub-grade ” the bottom of the stone.

By Mr. Worthen :
Q- Do you say that you have got no gravel on at all yet ?
A. None at all.

Q. The two layers of stone are not on yet ?
A. Not in all cases.

Mr. Haswell, resuming :

Q. In the upper portion of the Drlve it appears that there is
some stone filling interspaced with sand ; is that intended as
a part of the construction of ‘the road-bed ?

A. Yes, sir.

By Mr. Bogart:

Q. Has any work been done above the foundation stones ?

A. Some quarry chips have been placed on top.

Q. To what depth at any point have you allowed the filling
to go on top of that foundation ?

A. About two inches.

Q. Has not more than two inches been put on?

A. It is in some cases more than two inches, but it was
against orders, and it has been taken off again.

Q. Some of it has been put on ; that you consider has been
in compliance with orders—rhat has not exceeded two inches ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. When that material has been placed on top of the foun-
dation stones,in accordance with your directions, then the
foundation has been put in all right ; that is the way I under-
stand it ?

A. Yes, sir.



36

By Mr. Haswell, resuming :

Q. What are the requirements and specifications as to the
construction of the road gutters, and are their upper surfaces
in accordance with these requirements?

Mr. Bogart: As described in section 51, page 19 of the con-
tract: “ Where so required gutters, shall be laid of quarry
“ stones, gneiss trap or granite. These stones are to be from
“ eight to twelve inches deep, from three to five inches wide,
“ and not less than eight inches long. They are to be roughly
‘ shaped, sufficiently to fit compactly together. They are to be
“ bedded upon a well rammed layer of gravel, sand, fine quarry
“ chips or coal ashes, not less than one foot in depth. They are
“ tobe laid by hand truly and evenly,and rammed toa firm bed,
‘ g0 that their surface shall conform to the lines and curves
“ directed. All interstices are to e filled with fine stone chips,
“ gsand or gravel.”

A. They have chiefly been done so; I want it understood
gentlemen, that the work has not all been accepted ; it is sub-
ject to modification. :

Mr. Haswell, resuming:

Q. Do you then understand the surface to the gutter-stones
is to be smoothed after they had been set ?

A. There is nothing said about smoothing off, sir.

Q. Don’t the specifications require the upper surface to be
smooth, be fair, that is ?

A. There is nothing said about it.

Q. Will not the upper surfaces in their present condition in-

" terfere with their purposes as a gutter?

A. Yes, sir; but the gutters are not yet finished.

Q. Have the ends of the tree plots been curbed in compli-
ance with the drawings and specifications ?

A. I made a change in some of the ends of the tree plots,
and they have been curbed in accordance with my orders.

By Mr. Bogart :

Q. Section 35 of the specification reads thus: “ At the end
“ of tree plots and such other points as shall be directed, the
¢ granite curb will be provided and set in special lengths, with
“ joints cut to the angles shown on plan, and with faces dressed
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“ ag directed, except as to the lengths, the angles at joints, and
“ the face dressings ; these special anglo-stones are to conform
“ to the specifications herein made for granite curb.”

A. They have been done according to the drawings, as I
said.

Q. At the ends of the tree plots ?

A, T did not know what the question referred to at first;
you mean those little angular ends at tree plots ?

Mzr. Haswell, resuming :

Q. I will ask the question again. Have the ends of the tree
plots been curved in compliance with the drawings and speci-
fications ? :

A. They have been in compliance with the drawings I fur-
nished.

Q. Do the drawings and specifications call for blue-stone
curb at the ends of the tree plots ?

A. No.

Q. If they do not, then how is it they have been set in ac-
cordance with the drawings and specifications as you have just
declared ?

A. Well, it escaped my attention at this time that there was
a granite curb required ; that is the reason I answered in that
way. My answer was right at first in accordance with the
drawings ; I said that.

Q. We understand you then, that the drawings called for
blue stone curbs, set at right angles to the plane of the tree
plots ?

A. My drawing called for blue stone curbs set in semi cir-
cular form ; in part that is, for some of them.

Q. If they did so, why is it that some are laid at right angles
to the tree plots, and the rest in circular form ?

A. Some of them are laid semi-circularly and some are
not.

Q. Why have you allowed the deviation ?

A. The plan called for it ; the original plan called for part
of them to have square ends and part not.
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By Mr. Bogart :

Q. Where is that plan now?
A. T think Mr. Hufnagle will have it.

Mr. Haswell, resuming :

Q. An observation of the work shows that the edging around
the tree plots has been set so much in advance of the road-
bed that it has to be supported in positionby an embankment ;
do you consider such setting to have sufficient stability to -
withstand the winter frost ?

A. I do not; they will have to do that over again.

Q. Will not such curbing require to be reset before the work
will be accepted as completed ?

A. Tt will.

Q. Have you not certified to such setting having been per-
formed and allowed the full price for it ?

A. Yes, in the nature of an approximate estimate.

Q. Have you not certified as to such setting having been
performed and allowed the full price for it ?

A. T have.

Q. If you have any statement to make, strictly in connection
with your duties, and not elicited by questions submitted to
you, you are at liberty to make them, either now, or at any
subsequent period of our meetings.

A. About what I said a few minutes ago, that I don’t con-
sider the work completed at all or accepted, it is subject to
modifications ; I don’t understand the work as accepted, and
never did.

My. Worthen:

Q. Is the work considered finished in your estimation, now;
for instance to which Mr. Haswell referred, do you measure
the whole piece of curbing—Dblue stone curbing, for instance
—and allow them for all ? ‘

A. I gave the contractor an approximate estimate.

Q. If you have estimated in full for work dome, upon
what security do you depend for the completion of the
work ?

A. T have not estimated in full.



39

Q. Now, Mr. Franklin, I wish you to submit to this board,
either here or at your office on the grounds, every drawing
that you have received from the Department in connection with

the prosecution of this work.
A. Yes, sir.

[ The Commission then adjourned, to meet on Thursday
morning, December 12th, 1878, at the house of Mr. Haswell,
162 W. Forty-fifth street, to proceed then to the scene of the
work in dispute].

TaURSDAY, December 12, 1878.

The Commission met pursuant to adjournment. at nine
o’clock, at the house of Mr. Haswell, and proceeded to River-
side avenue. The day was spent in overlooking the plans in
Mr. Franklin’s office, and in carefully examining the wall,
roadways, and other parts of the improvement from Seventy-
second street to the northern terminus of the Drive.

Fripay, December 13, 1878.

The Commissioners met, at three o’clock . i., at the Depart-
ment of Public Parks building.

All the members were present.

Mr. Franklin was iz attendance, with two of his assistants.
The Commission examined a number of plans which he sub-
mitted to them, and marked some for identification.

Mr. Haswell then questioned Mr. Franklin, as follows :

Q. Why is it that the retaining wall in the vicinity of One
Hundred and Twenty-eighth street and One Hundred and
Thirtieth street is being filled with loam or loose earth ?

A. Tt is about all the material we have got there to back it
up with, and I thoughtthat the wall was strong enough to sus-
tain it.

Q. Do you think that this wall, backed so, would retain
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stability under the stress of the load, aided by a severe frost?

A. Yes, sir; I think the wall is strong enough : it is very
well built.

Q. We understand you, then, that you did not consider it
necessary to back the wall with loose stone, as provided for in
the specifications ?

A. That is provided for in the specifications where directed ?

Q. Yes, sir. _

A. No, sir; I did not consider it necessary in that case.

Q. Have the sewer trenches been excavated as fully as re-
quired by the specifications ?

A. That has been the intention always.

Q. Do you know whether they have been ?

A. So far as I know, they have been.

Q. Do you consider that the stones furnished for the gutters
of the roadways, and the manner in which they are laid, are
in conformity with the specifications ?

A. Not entirely so; some of the gutter must be taken up.

Q. Would not all of it have to be taken up under a strict
construction of the specifications ?

A. No; I think not.

Q. Well, why do you think not ?

A. From observation.

Q. Is there any portion of it laid with a smooth upper sur-
face ?

A. No, sir.

Q. Have the stones at'any portion of the gutters, as laid,
been squared or been tooled in any way, as required by the
specifications ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Do you recollect the locality where such work has been
done?

A. Not the precise locality, sir.

Q. If, then, it was done in one particular palt why was it
not done in the whole ?

A. On account of the neglect of the contractor.

Q. Haveyou given in an estimate, then, for those gutters as
laid?

A. Only an approximate estimate.
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Q. And which included a portion of that not laid in accord-
ance with the specifications ; did it not?

A. The estimate for the gutter is approximate.

Q. In that approximate estimate did you include any portion
of that which you considered was to be laid in accordance
with the specifications ?

A. All that I have to say is that I made an approximate
estimate of the gutter.

Q. You will please explain, then, what we are to understand
by an approximate estimate ?

A. An approximate estimate is one which has not been ob-
tained by exact measurements—does not pretend to be exact;
the gutters have not been fully estimated. '

Q. In making the approximate estimate, then, did you rely
altogether upon the lineal or superficial measurement of the
gutter ; or did you include in that the character of the material
and the work ? ’

A. T relied upon the superficial measurement of the gutter.

Q. And not upon the character of the work ?

A. No, sir; I relied upon the superficial measurement of the
gutter.

Q. And the character of the work?

A. No, sir.

Q. The coping of the parapet wall has a chisel draft upon
it as required by the specification, in some small portion of its
length ; why is it that the greater proportion of this wall hasno
chisel draft ?

A. The contractor has not complied with the specifications
in that particular.

Q. Why then did you permit him to proceed with it ?

A. The work has not been accepted.

Q. Have you not included some of the work in your esti-
mates—

A. (Interrupting.) Yes, sir.

Q. Of work done ; if that has not been done, how do you
propose to meet the requirement of the specifications ?

A. Tt can be done by having a draft put on.

Q. Do you propose to have it done ?

A.xYes, sir.
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Q. Will not the putting it on as determined—the coping
being in position—disturb the joints ?

A. Yes; but it will have to be taken off to be put on—the
. coping should be removed.

Q. It appears then that in order to comply with the specifi-
cations of the contract in this particular, a very large propor-
tion of the coping will have to be removed, drafted and reset.

A. Yes, sir; a large proportion of it.

Q. Why is it that the stones at the ends of the tree-plots
differ from the specifications in material and form ?

A. Because I thought it would ibe better and more econo-
mical to make the change.

Q. Why is it that the face of the retaining wall in the matter
of projections has been permitted to vary so widely from the
requirements of the specifications in having a greater pro-
jection than three inches ? '

A. That was on account of the contractor to carry out
specifications.

Q. Have you not estimated for such work in your bills to
the Department ?

A. T estimated for such work.

Q. In full?

Q. Nearly in full.

Q. Have you not accepted the retaining wall so far as it i
progressed with ?

A. Not fully.

Q. How is it that, contrary to the strict requirements of the
specifications, a considerable portion of the flagging is less
than two and one-half inches thick, and that some of it is
being laid in loam instead of clear gritty earth, or clear coal
ashes ?

A. I don’t know that any of it that is laid is less than two
and one-half inches, and where it has been laid in loam merely,
instead of in gritty earth, it is contrary to specifications.

Q. Then why is it done ?

A. T don’t say that it has been done; if it i being done in
that way it is contrary to the specifications.

Q. Ihold that it has been done and is being done—from my
observations of yesterday.
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A. Tf it is being done, it is contrary to the specifications.

Q. Why is it then, that the work is allowed to progress in
opposition to the specifications ?

A. Tt is not allowed ; they will have to take it up.

Q. I ask why it is allowed to be progressed with —why work
that is in opposition to the specification should be permitted
to be entered upon, let alone execnted ?

A. Tf it is not in accordance with the speclﬁeatlons it should
be taken up

Q. Is it in accordance with a proper system of surveillance
on the part of you and your assistants ?

A. T leave that to the judgment of the Commissioners.

Q. Have you any record of the points in which the con-
tractors have, in your opinion, been deficient in the character
of the materials furnished and work performed ?

A. T have no written record, but I can point out wherein
they are deficient.

Q. Will you do so?

A. They have been deficient in the construction of the par-
apet wall.

Q. Anything else ?

A. That is all T am prepared to state now, although there
are other matters in which they have not complied with the
specifications.

By Mr. Bogart: _

Q. Yon said the chisel draft was deficient?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Now read the contract where it begins :

“ For improving the avenue known as Riverside avenue, in
“ the City of New York, as laid out under the second section
“ of chapter eight hundred and fifty of the Laws of 1873, and
“ghown apon a map thereof, filed under the provisions of said
“section, on the twenty-third day of February, 1875, by the
“ construction of the roadway, curb and gutter and sidewalk
“which have been or may be adopted by the Department of
¢ Parks.”

It goes on and says, “This agreement made,” and so forth,
and then comes section—
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A. “Witnesseth, that the said party of the second part has
“ agreed, and by these present« doth agree, with the said parties
“of the first part, for the consideration hereinafter mentioned
‘““and contained, and under the penalty expressed in a bond
‘ bearing even date with these presents and hereunto annexed,
““to furnish, at his own proper cost and expense, all the neces-
“ gsary materials and labor for improving Riverside avenue, be-
“tween Seventy-second and One Hundred and Thirtieth streets,
“in the City of New York,” and so forth, covering, as I under-
standit, a certain avenue, which avenue is shown upon this map
(exhibiting map), and of which you consider this to be a map?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And the red lines on this map show the westerly bound-
ary of that avenue?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Has any work been done which you have included as
being done under this contract outside of the line ?

A. Yes, sir; some.

Q. Of what nature was that work ?

A. Excavation.

Q. Outside of the avenue proper, was that ?

A. On the west side.

Q. In what is known as Riverside Park ?

A. Yes, sir. .

Q. That park is under the control of the Department of
Parks?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. What was done with the material you excavated from
there ?

A. It was put into embankment.

Q. Was it all earth, or part earth and part rock ?

A. All earth except boulders.

Q. Was that amount included in the regular estimates from

time to time ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. As excavation, and treated in the same way as the other
excavation in reference to this allowance for embankment and
so forth ? :

A. Yes. sir.
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Q. The amount of material excavated outside of the line of
the avenue was quite large ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. The third section of specifications speaks of the clearing
of trees “ except such as said Department directs to be saved ;”
do you know of any original plans which showed that special
trees were to be saved?

A. T do not.

Q. How many trees have been cut down by the con-
tractor during your superintendence of the work ?

A. Quite a number.

Q. They have not been cut down without your permission ?

A: No, sir.

Q. The next section is in regard to the excavation and
disposition of the top soil; has any of that top soil been
excavtaed and placed in piles ?

Not since I came there, except a very small portion.

Did you find top soil piled there ?

Yes, sir.

Has that been excavated and placed on the slopes?
Some of it has.

And has been paid for here as second excavation?

Yes, sir.

. The next section speaks of conforming to required
grades and so forth; now, is there shown on the original
maps special grades for those portions of the avenue included
between side drive and main drive, etc. ?

A. No, sir.

Q. Isee an item here relating to boulders and detached
rock to be classed as earth excavation, 'except where they
measure one-half cubic yard or more each; has care been
taken to give them full measurement of all boulders over one-
half cubie yard ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And not to give them anything under ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. The price for excavation of earth will include the excava-
tion, shaping, “slopes, removal, and final deposit, in accord-
“ ance with the specifications, of all the material herein de-

OPOPOPOP
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“ geribed ;” have you taken care to give them no estimate
—no price—for the excavation of earth for any material not
finally deposited ?

A. T have not estimated anything that has not been finally
deposited.

Q. The same question in regard to not giving the price for
the excavation of rock until its final disposition, in accord-
ance with these specifications ?

A. No; I dov’t know about that.

Q. The specifications, section six, provide that ‘the price
for excavation of rock will include the excavation, removal, and
final disposition of the material, in accordance with these
specifications ;” did you pay for any rock that was not finally
disposed of ?

A. Rock has not been estimated unless it was finally dis-
posed of.

Q. “No rock filling will be allowed within three feet of the
finished grades;’ have you allowed any rock filling within
three feet of the finished grade ?

A. T have not.

Q. Are you aware that any has been put in within three feet
of the finished grades? -

A. T am not. '

Q. Are you sure that none has been put in within three
feet?

A. T am not.

Q. Have you taken care—see the next line—that no rock
filling has been laid in such parts of the embankments as
would interfere with trenches or pits to be afterwards exca-
vated, or with provisions for the roots of trees?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Have you taken care that in embankments made chiefly
of stone so much earth should be deposited as was sufficient
to fill the interstices thereof ?

A. Tt has been done in part.

Q. Now, I ask whether you have made the filling behind the
walls in layers; what were your directions in regard to that?

A. I thought it a good enough job to put loose stone behind
the wall.
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Q. You have carefully measured the embankments in ac-
cordance with this next clause, and made the allowances in ac-
cordance with the measurements ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. In the two plans shown us by you to-day, the original
plan for parapet wall was eighteen inches high ; will you state
when and why the change was made ?

A. The change was made because I thought it safer and
better to add a foot to the height of the wall, and the change
was made before any parapet wall was laid ?

By Mr. Worthen :

Q. Safer in what respect ?

A. Children walking around the wall would get on top too
easy if it was so low; that is one consideration with me; a
lower wall is more dangerous than a higher one, is it not?

By Mr. Bogart:

Q. Had you ever been informed by the Department of
Parks, or its officers, that there had been a decision by the
Corporation Counsel saying that the change could not be
made?

A. T was not so informed ; if I had been, I would not have
made the change.

Q. Do you remember whether the coping stones have been
fully three and a half feet in length ?

A. In special places I ordered them to be fully three feet
in case of a curved wall.

Q. But otherwise ?

A. Otherwise, so far as I know, they are; yes, a great deal
more than that.

Q. The old plan shown us to-day had upon it iron pipes
projecting from the wall just underneath the parapet ; have
any such been put in ?

A. No, sir.

Q. Will, you in view of Article 19, state why they have not?

A. I did not approve of the plan—that is all I can say.

Q. The next section in regard to dry stone culverts; have
any of these been built under your direction?

A. Yes; there was one near Seventy-ninth street.
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Q. Was it carefully built according to these specifications ?

A. Yes sir.

Q. Please read the paragraph beginning (Section 17) “ All
irregularities in the bottoms of trenches,” and state whether
that has been thoroughly complied with ?

A. Yes, sir; that has been complied with.

Q. Read section 23, and state whether that has been fully
complied with ?

A. Material has been carefully placed over the pipes.

Q. Have you taken care about the ramming?

A. T have.

Q. Have you kept the material free from stones to the
height of at least one and one-half feet above the top of the
" pipes?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Section 25 is in reference to vitrified pipe ; I want to go .
to paragraph (d) of that, and ask whether all the pipes are well
and smoothly salt-glazed, and of equal quality in every re-
spect to the sample exhibited tc the said department?

A. I don’t know what samples were given to said depart-
ment; but I know it was good pipe, and was carefully in-
spected.

Q. Did you inquire whether there were any samples here at
this department to compare with ?

A. No; I never inquired that.

Q. Were the pipes generally with collars, or with hubs and
spigot ?

A. All the twelve-inch pipes are collared.

By Mr. Worthen:

Q. How about the curved pipe (clause (i), page 11) ; have the
requirements been complied with ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Were there any house connections or drains ?

A. No, sir.

By Mr. Bogart :

Q. Has care been taken to keep the inside of the pipe
clean?

A. Yes; very great care.
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By Mr. Worthen :

Q. “Each pipe shall be subject to all tests ordered by said
‘“department ;” has there been any test?
~ A. Nothing but the inspection of the pipes?

By Mr. Bogart:

Q. In the construction of brick masonry (page 13, section
28), have the bricks been of the quality designated ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Have they been laid as provided in that specification ?

A. They have been laid in accordance with the specifica-
tions.

Q. Section 29 says, “ All mortar is to be composed of one
“ part of fresh ground hydraulic cement of the best quality,
“ and two parts of clear sharp sand, entirely free from loam.
“ Itis to be carefully and thoroughly mixed dry, and a suffi-
“ cient quantity of water is to be afterwards added to make it
¢ of good consistency. The mortar is to be mixed in no
“ greater quantity than is required for the work in hand.
“ Any excess that may be left over at night, or that may have
“been standing longer than two hours, is not to be retem-
“ pered and used in any way.” Has that specification been
complied with?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Section 30; has all cement furnished by the contractor
been inspected and tested before use?

A. Tt has all been subject to inspection and test; I can’t
say that it has all been fested. :

By Mr. Worthen :

Q. What is your test ?

A. To mix it up in the proper proportion, and see how it
sets.

By Mr. Bogart :
Q. Has any been found of improper quahny ?
A. Yes, some has been rejected.
Q. Referring to section 31, has all the concrete that has
been used been made in the manner there described ?
A. So far as I know it has; it is good concrete.
7
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Q. Referring to section 32, about stone masonry ; have -the
stones always been laid on the natural bed ?

A, Yes, sir.

Q- Have any piles been used ?

A. No, sir ; none.

Q. Page 16, section 38; in the construction of manholes,
have these specifications been fully filled ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. The same question in regard to section 39 about inlet
basins ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Section 45; have the contractors in all cases shaped their
roadbeds to the lines and grades directed ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Section 45, paragraph A ; have you not considered it in
any case necessary to roll the road-bed ?

A. No, sir.

Q. Do you think that on all these embankments the road-
beds will be sufficiently compact without rolling?

A. The embankments are mostly on the west side, where we
don’t have anything but the walk.

Q. There are some other embankments?

A. Yes; but that embankment has been made a long time.

Q. Paragraph b, section 45 ; do you consider that the stone
for foundation is generally sound and durable ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Have you kept the contractors substantially to the dimen-
sions of the foundation stones specified in this paragraph b ?

A. We have endeavored to comply with the spirit of that;
we can’t regulate the exact dimensions of those stones, or we
would not get any of it done; but we have endeavored to com-
ply with the spirit of the specifications.

Q. Have you insisted that the stones deposited upon the
roadway should be evenly adjusted, so as to form a roadway
in which the stones are brought together to your satisfaction ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Have these stones generally been adjusted by hand ?

A. They have for the most part been adjusted by hand.

Q. You think that in general they are well and compactly
brought together ?
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A. T thiok that they are.

Q. Is there a considerable portion of cobblestone in the
substrata of the Drive?

A. There are such stones there, but they ought to be re-
moved ; it is not the intention that they should remain there ;
they must be thrown out.

By Mr. Haswell :

Q- You don’t pretend to say that where that has been
sanded over as we saw it, that anybody is going over to pick
out the cobblestones ?

A. Where they show on the surface.

By Mr. Bogart:

Q. Are there any cobblestones mixed with the lower strata
of the pavement ?

A. No; there is no cobblestone mixed in below; they are
all quarry stones.

By Mr. Bogart:
Q. That is ‘o say, the stone included in paragraph (b) are

all quarry stones?
A. Yes, sir.

By Mr. Haswell :

Q. How is it, then, that there are so many cobblestones upon
the surface ? .

A. They were brought out with the gravel loam that was
deposited upon the stones, and should be removed.

By Mr. Bogart :
Q. Now, looking at paragraph (c) foundation surfacing; has
there been spread over that foundation to a considerable ex-

tent, finer rubble and quarry chips ?
A. Yes, sir.

By Mr. Worthen:

Q. In all cases? _
A. No, sir; to a considerable extent you asked ?
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By Mr. Bogart :
Q. In all cases, whera there has been anythmg added tothe

foundation stone described in paragraph (b), has there always

been finer rubble and quarry chips than the next course ?

A. There is a small portion of it where that has not been
done; that I dou’t know either ; small stones or quarry chips,
I think.

Q. Has care been taken not to fill up the cavities of the
lower portion of the rubber bottom, which must have a cellular
character to facilitate drainage ?

A. No, I don’t think T cared particularly with that view, be-
cause I hardly know how to do that; if you put the quarry
stones there how can you keep them from going down when
you roll it ; when you roll it, I take it, the stone is going down
into the ground, and the ground is coming up to the stones.

By Mr. Haswell :

Q. What part of it have the quarry chips being laid on ?

A. In the neighborhood of One Hundred and Fourth street;
then there are other places besides.

By Mr. Worthen :

Q). Are quarry chips the rule or the exception ?
A. T should think quarry chips were the rule.

By Mr. Bogart:
Q. Has there been some gravelly earth or hardpan mixed
with this material ?
. The mixing has not taken place yet.
. Is any of it deposited there ?
Yes, sir.
Has there been any sprinkling over the Drive?
No, sir.
. Any rolling ?
No, sir.
. Have you directed the contractors as to the weight of
roller ?
A. Not yet.
Q. The next thlng is the pavement of the ride; you have
some ride brought to a subgrade ?

QPéP@P©>
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. That is the fifteen inches under finished grade ; yes, sir.
Is there none of it rolled ?-
No, sir.
. Have you put upon that gravelling loam ?
Yes, sir.
Have you rolled it ?
No.
. Has anything more been done with reference to the ride?
No.
Has any of the pavement of the walks been brought to
subgrade ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Has any of it being rolled ?

A. No. sir.

Q. Has any quarry stone then been filled in ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Has care been taken in filling them in, to comply with
the specifications ?
Yes, sir.
‘With the smallest on top ?
. They are all pretty small.
. Have they been placed so as to lie well together ?
Yes, sir.
Has a layer of quarry chips been placed on their surface?
Not yet. ;
Has the construction of the walks proceeded any further
than you have now stated ? '

A. No.

Q. Has any gravel to be used for rides, roads or walks, been
delivered at the work ?

A. No.

Q. Have any samples of the gravels proposed to be used
been submitted to yon ?

A. No.

Q. Have you used any granite eurb angle-stones ?

A. No, sir.

Q. In the original designs you showed us there was pro-
vision made for granite curb angle-stone—-what have you sub-
stituted for it ?

LCrOPOPOFOPF
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A. I have substituted blue-stone, making a semi-circular
end. ’

Q. Have you in some cases, as for instance between ride
and Drive, substituted for granite' angle-stone blue-stone
edging ?

A. No, sir; because there were no granite curb angle stones
to go there.

-~ Q. Were the ends of the tree plots between ride and Drive
constructed as upon the original designs ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Both in regard to form and material ?

A. Yes, sir. ' }

Q. This blue stone curb was generally of a sound and good
quality of blue stone?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Have they been placed in lengths of not less than three
feet except where you have specially ordered otherwise; did
you order the special lengths where the blue stone curb is
set upon a curve in the upper portion of the work, or did you
simply permit them to put in such short lengths as would per-
mit them to go around the curve ?

A. That is it; we allowed them to put in several pieces.

Q. Have all the curb and edging stones substantially been
laid truly to the lines and grades given by you with joints not
exceeding three-eighthe of one inch ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Have they been filled and backed up with at least one
foot of sand or coal ashes?

A. The filling behind them has been substantially according
to contract.

Q. Has the curb been generally of full thickness and length
for the entire depth of the stone?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And the ends truly squared and dressed?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Blue stone edging (section 55) ; have they been delivered
fully in accordance with these specifications—that is, all that
have been delivered ?

A. Generally they have.
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Q. Have you rejected any ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Have any been set that were not in accordance with the
specifications ?

A. There may be a few that have escaped attention.

Q. Well, are those that are set substantially in accordance
with the spemﬁcatlons ?

A. Yes, gir.

Q. Are there are any blue stone edgings such as described
in section 56 ?

A. No, sir.

Q. Section 57, referring to corner curb—have they, such as
have been delivered at the work, been in accordance with these
specifications?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Have you changed the design for these corner curbs in
various cases from one stone to two or three stones ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Can you give us any special reason for doing so ?

A. Simply because the specifications did not require that
they should be of one stone.

Q. Have the cross-walks been delivered in accordance with
these specifications ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And set in accordance with them ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. They have been well and firmly bedded on a foundation
of sand and gravel ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Are any granite steps yet delivered ?

A. No, sir.

Q. Has any foundation for those steps been put in ?

A. No, sir.

Q. Referring to page 22 and section 66—have the contract-
ors removed and taken up in all cases material furnished or
work done which has not been to the satisfaction of the
engineer ?

A. Not in all cases.

Q. Have the contractors removed any material which was
not to your satisfaction ?
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‘A, Certainly.

Q. Have they taken up any work which was not to your
satisfaction ? ’

A. They have.

Q. Have they furnished in place of it other material which
was satisfactory to you?

A. Certainly they have.

Q. Do you consider—referring to section 80—that the con-
tractors have vigorously prosecuted this work ?

A. Not always.

‘By Mr. Worthen :

Q. Referring to paragraph (G) in section 87, are they paying
twenty dollars a day now ?

A. No; they are released from that.

By Mr. Haswell :

Q. Have the boundaries of the avenue been changed; and
if so, why?

A. They have been changed, because it was thought better
for some reasons to have them changed.

Q. By what authority did you make the change ?

A. Where we kept within the boundary there was not any
special authority required, I should say; the Park Commis.
sioners have jurisdiction over the park ground as well as the
Drive. , '

Q. One moment—you are under examination, not the Park
Commissioners : by what authority did you change the
boundaries ?

A. By the anthority conferred by the specifications ; see
paragraph 2, page 30; I am the agent of the Park Commis-
sioners.

Q. In these changes was the avenue made narrower or wider,
or both ?

A. Made narrower in nearly every case, with the exception of
a short distance that we made wider.

Q. In the computation of the excavations there, did you
make them from the reduced widths or from the original topo-
graphical contour ?

A. From the reduced widths.



57

By Mr. Worthen :

Q. Give me your detailed statement of where you made the
changes?

A. From Seventy-second street on the first seventy-five
feet required an embankment or wall ; the natural ground from
this on, for two hundred and seventy-five feet, is higher than
the graded walk, so the sidewalk is made narrower for
economy ; for ore hundred and fifty feet the width is twenty-
five feet, thence in two hundred feet decreasing to twenty-five
feet from forty-five feet, the latter being the original design;
at the south side of Seventy-ninth street the walk was nar-
Towed from forty-five feet in width to twenty-five feet in a dis-
tance of two hundred feet, for economy and symmetry ; the walk
above Eighty-first street is twenty-five feet wide, which was
the original design; from Seventy-ninth street to Eighty-first
street the original design was forty-five feet, but I made it
twenty-five feet ; between Ninetieth street and Ninety-first street
the line was laid sixteen feet westward, to make a walk of fif-
teen feet and a planting of ten feet, instead of a walk of only
nine feet ; this change extends to the middle of Ninety-second
street ; a walk nine feet wide from One Hundred and Fourth
to One Hundred and Twelfth streets was thought to be un-
necessary, and it was thought it would be better if put into
planting ; it was thought best not to change the design be-
tween One Hundred and Twelfth street and One Hundred and
Fourteenth street; from One Hundred and Twentieth to One
Hundred and Twenty-second streets the exferior line was
moved west for the better arrangement of walk. .

By Mr. Haswell :

Q. Do we understand that these changes were arbitrary with
you ?

A. They were made because I thought they were improve-
ments or more economical—either for one reason or the
other. '

Q. Did you receive any authority from the Department for
making them ?

A. None, except what was implied.

Q. Did you receive any authority from them verbally or
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otherwise authorizing you to change the boundaries of the

avenue, and the dimensions or areas of the walks or tree

plots ?

- A. No, I never got any special authority from them except
what was implied—except as I was their agent.

Q. In what manner was it implied ?

A. T was agent of the Park Commissioners for the time
being.

Q. And inasmuch as you were appointed Superintending
Engineer of the Riverside avenue, you felt yourself at liberty to

alter the original plan, which had been submitted to and ap-
- proved by the Department ?

A. T felt myself authorized to make changes where I con-
sidered them improvements — either more economical or
better.

Q. Without consultation with the Department ?

A. Without consultation with the Department.

At this point the Commissior adjourned, to meet Monday,
December 16, at one o’clock in the same room.

Monpay, December 16, 1878.

The Commission met pursuant to an adjournment, all the
mwembers being present.

A request from My. Franklin to have his counsel present at
the examination was at once acceded to, and the gentleman
was introduced.

Mr. Haswell resumed the examination of Mr. Franklin as
follows :

Q. You have declared that the sewer trenches have been
opened in compliance with the requirement of the specifica-
tions ; are you prepared to declare that they have been graded
to a ‘strict inclination ?

A. Yes, gir.

Q. Are you aware of a deviation from this in any one or
more instances?

A. A deviation from the inclination ?
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Q. From a striet inclination ?

A. T am not.

Q. Have not some of the sewer pipes near One Hundred and
Fifth street been laid at angles to the summits ?

A. Yes, between One Hundred and Fourth and One Hun-
dred and Eighth streets there is a summit.

Q. I mean have they not been laid out of strict inclinationg—
been laid at angles.

A. No, sir.

Q. Been laid at angles horizontally to said angles, and not
vertically.

A. No.

Q. They have all striet inclinations ?

A. Yes, sir.

By Mr. Worthen :

Q. In line and grade?
" A. Yes, sir.

Q. I mean, have they been laid horizontally in line and
vertically in striet inclination ?

A. They have been laid in strict inclination vertically, and
substantially so horizontally.

Q. Do you know of any instance where the interstices in the
parapet wall have been filled in with other material than
cement mortar and spalls?

A. T do not, except small stone.

By Mr. Worthen :
Q. Was that laid in as concrete, or as you would lay a mor-

tar wall ?
A. Like a mortar wall.

By Mr. Haswell : ,

Q. Then there was nothing used but cement, water and
spalls ?

A. I would rather have them called small stone.

By Mr. Worthen :

Q. What do you understand by spalls ?
A. I should define a spall to be a small detached stone of

irregular shape.
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Q. Suppose it was a small rounded stone, would you call
that a spall ?
A. Not if it was a natural stone.

By Mr. Haswell :

Q. Do you know of any instance where the insterstices in
in the parapet wall have been filled with other material than
cement, mortar and spalls ? -

A. T answer no.

Q. Are not some of the stones in the parapet wall deficient
in required dimensions, and, in part, such as are known as
slabs, with the voids between them filled in with spalls ?

A. I don’t know of such places as those.

Q. If such slabs have not been received by you and set in
this wall, how is it that we saw, on the occasion of our late
visit, stone of such character in progress of delivery?

A. The orders were not to use these stones.

Q. When was the order given not to use such stone ?

A. The orders have been given repeatedly, not only lately,
but a good while ago.

Q. Why is it that we saw them in progress of delivery there ?

A. 1f they were delivered there it was contrary to orders.

Q. It appears, then, that notwithstanding you have given
such orders, that such material is being delivered ? -

A. Why, if you saw it, of course.

By Mr. Worthen :

Q. About the inspection; how are your stones inspected ;
_ have you men enough to inspect every stone?

A. No ; there is not force enough to inspect every stone.

Q. When a stone is discarded what do you do with it?

A. In some cases we have it broken up.

Q. But generally?

A. Generally they put it one side to use it for some other
purpose, as they see fit.

Q. How do you make up your monthly estimates ?

A. 1T make my monthly estimates from the quantities as
measured by my assistants and given to me; in making up
the estimates for road bottoming there was a large quantity of
stone deposited, of which I allowed a very small portion at
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full prices in order to make an approximate estimate for the
value of the work done, and that produced the same result as
if I had put a smaller price for the whole quantity done.

Q. There has been some graveling done?

A. No ; there has been no graveling done.

CorNELIUS O’GRADY.

Mz. CornELIUS O’GRADY, assistant to Mr. Franklin, was then
introduced and questioned as follows :

Q. What length of Drive has been covered with a stone
foundation.

A. T can’t tell you without bringing my notes.

Q. As near as you can?

A. T suppose about from fifty to fifty-five thousand square
yards ; there must be that much laid now.

By Mr. Worthen :

Q. Didn’t you act in any way as inspector ?

A. No, sir. ,

Q. If you saw any poor work, did you have authority to
have it taken out ?

A. In the first place, I went there with very little knowledge
of the road ; there were no stakes on the ground, or anything
of the kind ; I had to lay out a new base line; that took a
good dcal of time ; then the estimates came on, and the field
work took about two weeks of every month.

By Mr. Franklin :

Q. Still you were authorized to remove any bad work that
you saw going on ?

A. T didn’t look at the work at all, I must tell you, Mr.
Franklin, but I suppose I could have done that.

By Mr. Worthen :

Q. In making approximate estimates, how closely did you
measure ?

A. 1 only took the measurements about every fifty feet, and
then averaged ; I endeavered in the measurements outside to
keep on the safe side.
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Parrick H. NoRTON.

Parrick H. NorTox, the inspector of the work, was examined
as follows: ‘

By Mr. Haswell :

Q. In excavating sewer trenches have they been graded to a
striet inclination ?

A. What do you mean ?

Q. Whether they are run straight from point to point, in-
stead of having knobs in them ?

A. They were graded from stake to stake, on a straight line,
and if there were knobs, the knobs would be down so deep
that there would be no knobs on top ; the grade and line were
always preserved.

Q. Have not some of the sewer pipes near One Hundred
and Fifth street been laid at angles with the summits ?

A. We have always laid the line on the bottom, before we
laid the pipe, and graded up to that line.

By Mr. Worthen :

Q. And then laid your pipe ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did you run that bottom ?

A. Well, it was walked on.

Q. Tramped with your feet?

A. Yes, sir.

By Mr. Haswell :

Q. Did your duties include the supervision of the construe-
tion of the parapet wall ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Do you know of any instance where the interstices in that
wall have been filled in with other materlal than cement, mor-
tar and spalls ?

A. No, sir. _

Q. Are not some of the facing stone of the parapet wall de-
ficient in the dimensions required by the specifications, and
are they not of that character known as slabs ?

A. Whenever I caught a small stone I threw it out; in a
great many cases we used to have to trim the backs of the
stones to get them up together.
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Q. If you were in the habit of rejecting such stones, how is
it that on the occasion of our late visit, we saw the contractor
delivering such stone ? “

A. T could not see them delivering it ; every stone that
ever I found of that dimensions I had thrown out of the
wall. :

By Mr. Worthen :

Q. Now, what was your smallest end joint ?

A. The end joints in some cases were not quite so wide as
they were in the centre of the stone, but they were pitched off,
you know.

Q. How much did you require for your end joints, where the
stones came together ?

A. T always came as near as possible ; if I could get them
within an inch, so much the better; I never let the stone be
slack, if I could help it ; I wanted to keep them back to back,
if I could.

Q. How much of this wall was laid without your seeing it ?

A. T could not say that; I am going up and down the wall
all the time.

Q. They are laying wall in how many places at once ?

A. About four different places at a time.

Q. And you had the whole of that inspection to look after?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. You had anchors; how often did you put in anchors?

A. On every stone in the eighteen inch course that I saw;
I always left orders about that—that if I should come along
and find a stone without an anchor in it, it should be pulled
down.

. How big were they?

About one quarter of an inch by one-half an inch.

. Were they painted ?

No, sir.

How deep did they go into the stones ?

Between an inch and three quarters of an inch.

. There are some places where there are three courses,
What did you do about anchors there ?

A. Well, there is a throughstone wherever there are three
‘tourses.

PrOFOPO:
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Q. Which is that thronghstone ?

A. It is the centre stone.

Q. You have been inspector from the eommencement of the
work ?

A. There were two for a while.

Q. When was that?

A. T ihink it was the summer before last—the summer of
last year.

By Mr. Franklin:

Q. What did you intend to say about the thickness of the
parapet wall ; where there are two stones instead of one?

A. I say, there was nothing less than seven inches went
there, and the biggest part of them that came up, the backs
had to be dressed to get them in.

Mg. FRANKLIN RECALLED.
By Mr. Haswell :

Q. It appears that some wrought iron anchors have been set
into the first course of the parapet wall; inasmuch as the speci-
fications do not call for this expenditure on the part of the
contractor, why is it that you require it of him?

A. I did not require it.

Q. Who did ?

A. Tt was done without his being specially required to do it.

Q. Who did it?

A. The contractor.

Q. Were not these anchors put in because of the insuffici-
ency of the wall from want of depth of the stones, and the
manner in which they were backed, and in opposition to the
specifications ?

A. They were allowed because they were an improvement to
the wall.

Q. Do you consider then that they were necessary to the
stability of the wall?

A. T consider that they were a very great improvement to
the wall. , :

Q. Would this have been necessary if the drawings and
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specificatoins of this wall, in materials and work, had been
rigidly adhered to ?
A. They would not have been necessary.

By Mr. Bogart:
Q. This iron was wrought iron ?
A. Yes, sir. ‘
Q. Was it included in the estimates ?
A. No, the contractor was not allowed anything for it.

Q. And you do not intend to allow anything ?
A. No, sir.

By Mr. Worthen:

Q- The drawings furnished by Mr. Hufnagel to the con-
tractors shows these irons ? :

A. That was not intended for the contractors ; it was merely
showing what had been done?

Q. It was a record of what had been dome then, and in no
sense a direction to the contractor ?

A. Precisely.

Q. Is the timber in the trestle work of the bridge called
Georgia plne well seasoned and free from imperfections ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Were there any cast iron sockets?

A. No, sir.

Q. Were the posts mortised into the glrderb ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. “The braces and guders to be secured with strong
~ wrought iron bolts and straps ;” was that done ?
A. Yes, sir.

By Mr. Worthen :
Q. Where are the straps?
A. There are no straps.

The plan was shown Mr. Franklin, and he stated that it was
that of Mr. Aldrich, and was carried out in all respects!

Q. “The cross-beams to be laid on girders and spiked to
the same with spikes of suitable size;” was that done ?
A. Yes, sir.
9
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Q. Did the floor “consist of two thicknesses of best quality
of Georgia pine plank, the first layer to be three inches thick,
the second layer two inches thick, well spiked to the beams ?”

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Was the railing on either side of each trestle work con-
structed of a frame work, as shown in detail dra,wmgs properly
secured to beams with angle irons?

A. That has been done; it is not done yet, but the material
has been delivered ; the WOrk is there now, ready to put up.

Q. “The entire framing of the above specified trestle-work
to be done in the best workmanlike manner; all mortices to
be cut true and square, and to be tightly fitted;” was that
done ?

A. Tt is a very good job, indeed.

Q. “ Whenever the posts or braces came into contact with
any masonry, or lent on or against the same, requisite footings
must be cut into said masonry by the contractor, as directed;”
has that been done ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. “The style of framing, number of posts, beams, &c., all
to be done and furnished in accordance with drawings, and
the entire structure to put up and fastened together with all
necessary bolts, straps, spikes, &c., in the most thorough and
workmanlike manner, as directed by said department;’ was
that done ?

A. Yes, sir.

(Mr. Aldrich’s plan of circular blue-stone curbs shown Mr.
Franklin.)

Q. Were these laid thus, or have you made some modifica-
tions ?

A. Some have been laid in that way, and some have not.

Q. Have you a modification of those here ; bave you made
any drawings for these—the way they have been laid—or
have you merely given directions ?

A. Merely given directions.

Mr. Aldrich’s plan of combination basms shown, and Mr.
Franklin stated that he had changed the design. A few were
built like the plan,
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Mr. Bogart wrote the following letters, which were approved

by the Commission and mailed : !
New Yogrg, December 16, 1878.
Lrororp EipLitz, Esq.:

Dear Sir,—The Commission of Civil Engineers, appointed
to examine into the matter of construction of Riverside Drive,
would be glad to have you meet them at the Department of
. Public Parks, 36 Union Square, East, on Wednesday afternoon,
Decéember 18, at 2 p. M.

Please let me know if you can be present.

Very truly yours,
JouN BogARrT,
Secretary of Commission.

New Yorg, December 16, 1878.

SmitH E. LaNg, Esq.,
Treasurer D. P. P.:

Dear Sir,—Will you please ask Mr. Callahan, the mason, to
meet the Commission of Engineers on the matter of Riverside
Avenue, at this office, on Wednesday next, at 2 ». m.

Yours truly,
JoaN Boaarr,
Secretary of Commission.

NEw York, December 11, 1878.
James C. ArpricH, Esq.:

Dear Sir,—The Commission of Civil Engineers, appointed
to examine the matter of Riverside Avenue, request you to
meet them at the office of the Department of Public Parks on
Wednesday, December 18, 1878, at 2 p. M.

Very truly yours,
JouN BoGART,
Secretary of Commission.

The Commission kadjourned until Tuesday, December 17,
1878, at 1 ». M.
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December 17, 1878.

The Commission met at 1 o’clock, pursuant to adjournment,
all the members being present.

Mr. Franklin, with his counsel, Mr. Embree, were in attend-
ance, and the entire session of the Commission was devoted
to the revision of Mr. Franklin’s testimony, by himself—a
transcript of the stengrapher’s minutes being supplied him
for that purpose.

At 5:30 o’clock the Commission adjourned, to meet on Wed-
nesday, December 18th, at 2 o’clock p. u.

DrcemMBER 18th, 1878.

The Commission met pursuant to adjournment at 2 p. M.
Present,—Messrs. Worthen & Bogart.

OrT0 SIBETH.

MEk. Orro SiBETH, Chief Draughtsman of the Department of
Public Parks, was introduced and examined as follows :

By Mr. Bogart :

Q. (Showing plans.) Can you identify these plans, marked
now by you and fourteen in number, as those that were ex-
hibited by the Department at the letting of the contract for
improving the Riverside Avenue ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Were there any others?

A. Not that I know of.

Cyrus CLARK.

Mz. Cyrus CLARK was questioned as follows :

Q. Where do you reside, sir ?

A. At Ninetieth street and Riverside avenue.

Q. On the line of the avenue ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Have you resided there most of the time that work has
been in progress ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Have you observed the progress of the work, more or
less, in detail ? :
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A. Yes, sir ; but I would not consider myself competent to
judge of it—to say whether it has been done in accordance
with the contract or not ; we have a bridge, I think, that has
been unnecessarily delayed ; it was to have been finished on
the first of June, 1878, and was flnally finished on the first of
October. .

By Mr. Worthen :

Q. Isit finished yet?

A. Finished ; T mean so far as crossing over is concerned ;
there are some iron rails there that are delivered, but not yet
put up ; there were only five men at work on it during the
whole summer.

Q. When was it begun?

A. Early in the spring, and was finished the first of October ;
the most I have to.complain of is the unnecessary delay.

Q, What has been the effect of the delay?

A. The effect has been upon the poperty-holders, that there
is two or three hundred thousand dollars a year of line taxa-
tion; they would like to see it finished so that the property
could be developed.

Q. When did they take the contract for the bridge ?

A. Two or three years ago, now.

Q. Did they commence promptly after the letting ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. How was the progress of the work during the first
summer ?

- A. Tt was slow.

Q. It had been slow all winter ?

A. Yes, sir; there is a piece of rock between Ninety-second
and Ninety-fifth streets thatthey have been on work at now
for a year and a half building that little roadway, and they
have not got it finished yet; I claim that that should have
been done the first winter ; instead of that, they did not do
anything at it, my recollection is, until spring.

James C. ALDRICH.

Mg. JaMES C. ALDRICH called and examined :

By Mr. Bogart :

Q. What position did you hold in the Park Department—
the last one?
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A T was Superlntendmg Engineer of the Riverside avenue
improvement.

Q. (Showing copy.) Is this a blank or form of contract under
which the work was taken, of which you had charge on River-
side avenue, with the map which is marked number fourteen ;
do you recognize it as the general plan or profile of Riverside
avenue exhibited at the letting ?

A. Yes, sir. ,

Q. The red line marked upon that plan designates the west-
ern boundary of Riverside avenue ?

A. Yes, the western boundary of this contract.

Q. Were you in charge when any work was done under this
contract, outside of that line ?

A. Not materially ; there was one or two cases in whlch
they were across the line, where they were excavating contrary
to orders; they would occasionally plow a little across the
line, or something of that kind.

Q. Did you include any of that work, which was done out-
gide the line, in your estimates?

A. T did not.

By Mr. Worthen:
Q. Why did you not ?

A. Because it was outside the line ; there may be one excep-
tion to this; I don’t know whether that comes directly outside
or inside ; that was for draining the hill beyond One Hundred
and Twenty-seventh street—a temporary drain.

Q. That you might have included in your estimate ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Why did you not include the other, suppose they had
excavated outside ?

A. Because I considered that outside the contract work.

By Mr. Bogart:
Q. How much excavation work was done under your charge?
A. That I can’t remember.
Q. What is the date of your last estimate ?

A. Tt was about eight monthsago ; I think it was the Febru-
ary estimate.
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Q. In superintending the work on Riverside avenue, under
this contract with Decker and Quintard, what did you consider
the contract to include?

A. The work mentioned in the specifications.

Q. In regard to the plans and drawings?

A. With regard to the plans and drawings; those plans and
drawings that were executed were at this office, that I had ac-
cess to,

Q. Did you have access to the plans and drawings shown at
the letting ? :

A. T did.

Q. Did you consider this office in which the plans were ex-
hibited as in fact a part of your office ?

A. T did, and spent considerable time here—say once or
twice a week—certain parts of certain days I had set apart.

By Mr. Worthen :

Q. The drawings that you took up to your office— Mr.
Franklin presented certain drawings here, marked ¢ Aldrich ;”
what were they made from ? '

A. Those drawings were made from the tracings and the
specifications. _

Q. (Handing witness his last estimate of the work). Read
the first item.

A. The quantity is “ earth excavation 156,207 yards.”

By Mr. Bogart:

Q. In preparing for this “earth excavation,” did you direct
certain trees and bushes to be moved away?

A. T did.

Q. Was there anything in the department, that you were
aware of, which designated that certain trees should be
saved ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. What was it ; a map?

A. Not in the department I referred to Mr. Olmsted.

Q. Then you consulted hlm ?

A. Always before taking down trees.

Q. And he directed that certain trees should be carefully
preserved ?
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A. Yes, sir.

Q. Was there any top soil excavated, Mr. Aldrich, under
your direction, and placed in piles ?

A. Yes, sir; quite a large quantity.

Q. Was any of that while you were in charge taken away
and spread over slopes ?

A. I think not—that is, from the pile.

Q: Mention is made in the specifications of required grades
and slopes, and for side lines prescribed ; was there anything
to show the grade or slope of those portions of Riverside
Avenue, between the side drive and the main drive ?

A. There was in pencil line upon the cross-section, at cer-
tain places.

By Mr. Worthen :

Q. How near was your last approximate estimate to
your final estimate in amounts ?

A. It was customary with me, at each monthly estimate, to
measure up carefully at the end of each quarter—three
months-—and I went over the last estimate for the previous
three months, and checked them; the last estimate that I
handed in, to the best of my knowledge and belief, was within
two and a-half per cent of the actual work—work completed
at that time. :

Q. That two and a-half per cent., was it over or under?

A. T think it was under, but I suppose it might be either
way, because the edges were ragged.

Q. Your next item, Mr. Aldrich?

A. Tt is “rock excavation, 63,607.04 yards.”

Q. In that rock excavation you made careful classification,
according to the specifications with reference to boulders?

A. I measured each boulder and painted it as I measured
it ; and also included that in the estimate, where it exceeded
one and one-half yards.

Q. (Reading from specifications.) The price for the excava-
tion of the earth and rock included its removal and final dis-
position ; did you pay the price, or did you estimate any exca-
vation of earth or of rock, which was not finally disposed of
according to these specifications?
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A. In excavating earth I only returned as much earth as I
considered fully excavated—that is excavated and put in
place—disposed of.

Q, And with regard to rock ?

A. In regard to rock, there was a line drawn where that
limit of excavation should end and the other part commence ;
it was a source of some dispute as to whether the rocks should
be paid for as excavated, before it was put in place; rock
excavated from the pit, and thrown out just directly at the
mouth of the pit, when it was naturally going into the wall at
some distance away, a part of it going into the wall, and part
of it wherever the contractors might use it, it would be a ques-
tion-as to how much of that I was to estimate as being fully
in place ; I made a measurement of rock that was not fully in
place or deposited, and made a calculation what it would cost
under the price of the contract to put it in such place, and
made a deduction, leaving rock which I had paid for as rock
excavated, only such proportion of it as would reach that
amount.

By Mr. Worthen:

Q. With regard to rock excavation, when did you consider
it disposed of ?

A. Al rock excavated, which was going into the wall, I con-
sidered disposed of when put within handling of one derrick,
and roadbed-rock when it was within one handling of the road-

bed.

By Mr. Bogart:

Q. Read the next item ?

A. “ Embankment 160,981.3 yards.”

Q. Did you allow any rock filling within three feet of the
finished gradge?

A. T did not. .

Q. Or any such parts of the embankment as would interfere
with trenches or pits, or provisions for the roots of trees?

A. In these places I gave orders to leave it below those
points, preparatory to the reception of sewers or roots of
trees.

10
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Q. In embankments made of stone chiefly did you have so
much earth deposited with the stone as would be sufficient to
fill the interstices thereof ?

A. 1 did.

Q. Did you put any filling behind the walls?

A. T did.

Q. Did you have that laid in layers ?
~ A. Packed in layers; yes, sir.

Q. In making the deductions which are at the foot of your
estimate, you made them in accordance with this formula at
page six of the contract?

A. Yes, sir.

Q Read your next item ?

A. “Dry wall 28,287.3 yards.”

Q With regard to the back of the wall, how is it built? ?

A. I ordered it built with off-set, but did not confine them to
a nicety on the off-set.

Q. Did you insist on the wall being full to the dimensions
shown on the tracings exhibited ?

A. T did not.

Q. You did not make them build it as large as that ?

A. No, sir; not as thick.

Q. In regard to this wall, Mr. Aldrich, if you will look at
the contract, page 6, section 8, paragraph (a), was the founda-
tion substantially laid and built as directed by that paragraph ?

A. It was—that that I accepted.

Q. Was there any foundation for the dry wall not acceptel
by you, which had not been taken up at the time you were re-
lieved from the charge of the work ?

A, T don’t think there was any foundation.

Q. Look at section (b); this refers to the main dry wall;
was it substantially laid in accordance with these specifica-
tionz ?

A, Tt was.

Q. Was any of the dry wall 1aid under your directions con-
demned by you? -

A. Tt was.

Q. Was all that was condemned taken up and relaid?

A, Tt was not at the time of my exit?
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Q. Have you any idea of how much of that wall there was
condemned ? :

A. T have not the quantity in my mined at the present time
although there is data from which I could tell.

By Mr. Worthen:

Q. Where was this wall?

A. Most of it was on the second division ; it was between
Ninety-sixth and One Hundred and Tenth streets ; there were
three or four places ; there was some below the bridge, some
above Ninety-sixth street, above the cave ; there was some up.
opposite Mr. Church’s house, or that vicinity—that is One
Hundred street, I think—and there was some further up, about
One Hundred and Fourth street; I think there were five
places where it was condemned.

Q. In what was it defective?

A. It was delective in bend, in the size of the stones, the
quality of the stone, some of it, and in having spals and pin-
ners in the face.

By Mr. Bogart:

Q. What is the next item ?

A. Brick masonry 115.2 cubic yards.

Q. Was that all done according to contract ?

A. Tt was.

Q. Was there any coping of parapet wall delivered while
you were in charge?

A. Yes; and stone as a sample.

Q. Was that acccepted ?

A. Tt was.
Q. Did you give directions to the contractors to dehver the

coping in accordance with that sample ?
A Idid
Q. Do you know where it is now ?
A. T know where I lefv it; on the front stoop of the office.
Q. Did it have a chisel draft?
A. Yes, it had on the side that would be towards the road?
Q. Will you state what you understand was the reason of
that being delivered at your office ?



76

A. To see the quality of the granite so as to get an idea of
the color and fineness agreeable to paragraph 9 of the speci-
fications.

Q. Did you request the contractor to deliver a sample of
granite to be approved by the Department ?

A. T did, T think.

Q. And he did deliver this sample that you refer to?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did you consider that then to be the sample, whereby
the delivery of granite coping was to be pledged?

A. Yes, sir; both as to quality and workmanship.

Q. What is the next item ?

A. “Concrete, 26.3 yards.”

Q. Was that done in accordance with the contract see para-
graph 12?”

A. Yes, sir. ,

Q. What is your next item ?

A. It is plank and timber for foundations—measurements
3,076.4 feet.

Q. Where was that used ?

A. Part of it was used in the sewer in the vicinity of One
Hundred and Twentieth street—that circular sewer—and part
of it to make that shutter for the temporary trench at about
One Hundred and Twenty-fifth street.

Q. What is your next item ?

A. Tt is 10,394.5 pounds cast-iron.

Q. Was that all cast in shape and form as required by the
drawings and the contract ?

It was.

. What is your next item ?

. Wrought iron, 444} pounds.

The same question ?

It was.

What is your next item ?

1,564.3 lineal feet twelve-inch pipe—sewer pipe.

. Was that sewer pipe delivered in accordance with the
contract ?

A. It was, and approved by the Department, that is the
sample was approved by the Department, and was left there
by me in the office.

OCroPOPOPr
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Q. And this corresponded with the sample approved ; when
you left the work was that sample in your office ?

A. Tt was marked “approved,” with the date of approvai

Q. In excavating trenches for sewer pipes, and in laying the
pipe in trenches, were the requirements of these specifications
carefully carried out ?

They were

. In levelling the back ﬁlhngs ?

. They were.

. Was the material rammed ?

It was.

With rammers ?

. With rammers.

" Did you take care that there should not be any stone
within one and one-half feet of the top of the pipe as pro-
vided ?

A T did.

Q. Was the pipe under your direction laid to true lines and
grades without irregularities ?

A. It was ; they were all straight lines; that is, from point
to point—from basin to basin-—as you might say; you will
find that you can “shine” them from point to point direct ;
that is, the angles were made at basins.

Q. Read your next item ?

A. Tt is 292.2 lineal feet of emht inch sewers, and 68.7 six-
inch pipe sewers.

Q. In estimating your pipe sewer, suppose at the time of
your making an estimate, a trench should be opened and a
sewer pipe partially laid and back-filling not done, what was
your course in regard to estimating that ?

A. My course was not to estimate sewers until completed.

By Mr. Worthen :

Q. I see, Mr. Aldrich, that you say seven-tenths ; how did
you measure that sewer?

A. We measured from centre to centre of manholes, but
there is a provision made, I think, in this contract in regard to
that whether we should measure it, calling in all pipe or not;

it was measused on the ground with a steel tape if I remem-
ber.

OPOPOFOR
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By Mr. Bogart :

Q. I wish to ask you in regard to paragraphs 29 and 30 of
the contract, page 13, was cement furnished by the contractor
while you were in charge, inspected and tested.

A. Tt was. :

Q. What sort of test did you have for cement?

A. The hydraulic test; I took the clear cement, mixed it in
a ball, making a slow paste of it, and leaving so many minutes,
after making the ball, layinz on the point, leaving it so many
minutes to the air, then immersing it in water, leaving it so
many minutes in the water ; at the end of that number of
minutes it must have a certain tenacity, tenacity so that it
should hold together while we tossed it from point to point.

By Mr. Worthem:

Q. How many barrels did you test out of that lot?

A. We made a point where cement was delivered in quanti-
ties of testing alternate barrels, or perhaps one out of every
five barrels, buaf. afterwards we directed to test every barrel,
and did test every barrel as a general thing.

By Mr. Bogart:
Q. Did you reject any cement ?
A, We did.
Q. Was it taken away from the works?
A. Tt was in some cases.
Q. Was any of it left there when you left?
A. T think a part of it was.

By Mr. Worthen :
Q. Was any of it used?
A. Not to my knowledge.

By Mr. Bogart :

Q. Was the mortar made in accordance with the specifica-
tions?

A. Tt was.

Q. Was it mixed in boxes, or on the ground ?

A. Tt was mixed in boxes.
Q. Referring to section 42 of the contract, it speaks of cast
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iron pipes in accordance with the plans ; did you prepare any
plans for cast iron pipes in accordance with that?

A. T did; T think the small plan had not been delivered to
the contractor at that time; we had not got along to that part;
I left that at the office.

Q. Has anything been done by you in relation to the samn-
ples of gravel to be used in construction of roads ?

A. No more than this: T had received at the cffice certain
samples that had been left there by the contractor for me to
look at; I won’t say whether they were lelt directly by the
contractor, but they were supposed to come through the con-
tractor.

Q. -Did you accept any such samples?

A. No, sir.

Q. Any gutter laid while you were there ?

A. No, sir.

Q. Will you just look at the contract, page 19, section 53,
referring to granite curb angle stones at ends of tree plots?

A. The plans had been prepared; I am not able to say
whether I had delivered to the contractors the tracings of the
working plan or not at that time, but my books will show if
they were delivered.

Q. Did you understand that those granite curb aanle stones
were to be placed at the ends of all tree plots?

A. At all tree plots where the designs called for them ; I
could not say whether it was at all tree plots without going on
the ground.

Q. How would the contractor know when he made his pro-
position here ?

A. My recollection is that those gravite ends were to be at
certain tree plots that stood in particular places.

Q. What was to be at the other ones?

A. I can't sa,y ; that was a little further than we got when 1
left.

Q. Had any bluestone curb been delivered on the work?

A. There had.

Q. Tell us in regard to the quality and dimensions of that
—whether there was a sample, &e. ?

A. Thers was a sample of bluestone curbing left in the office
by me.



80

Q. Was such as had been delivered in accordance with that
sample ?

A. Tt was not.

Q. You communicated it to the contractor?

A I did.

Q. Had they removed it?

A. They had not; it was there on the work still, when I left,
still on the work.

Q. What was the matter with it?

A- It was deficient in several particulars ; one of them was
the dressing.

Q. Were any bluestone edgings delivered on the work while
you were in charge?

A. There was.

Q. Did you leave that sample at the office ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. It was marked “ approved ?”

A Tt was.

Q. Was the bluestone edging that was delivered accepted by
you?

A. Tt was not.

Q. It was rejected ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Had it been removed from the work ? :

‘A. No,sir; it might not have been considered on the street,
but it was within the limits of this contract.

Q. Was any accepted while you were in charge?

A. No, sir.

Q. Do you know whether any of the rejected stone has been
set?

A. I do not. P

Q. Were any circulur curbs of bluestone delivered while you
were on the work ?

A. Not to my knowledge.

Q. Had you taken any plans to the contractors with regard
to circular corners ?

A. T bhad delivered at the contractor’s office tracings of
them.

Q. Were these curbs all in one piece, or more than one?
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A. They were all in one piece.

Q. Were any cross-walk stones delivered on the work whlle
you were there ?

A. There was.

Q. Was there any sample of circular corners ?

A. There was not, except in quality of stone.

Q. Were any granite cross-walks delivered while you were
on the work ?

There were.

. Were they accepted by you?

No, sir.

. Were they rejected ?

Yes, sir.

. Were they removed?

I think so; I think they were sold down here afterwards.
. Were any special directions given by you to the con-
tractors in regard to cross-walks ?

A. No, sir.

Q. Did you have any sample ?

A. No, except as to the quality—that it should be granite of
the same quality as the granite coping.

Q. Were any granite steps delivered by the contractors
while you were in charge?

A. No, sir.

Q. Was anything done towards the construction of granite
steps.

A. No, sir.

Q. There is a section in the contract called section (H) which
refers to the engineer and inspecting force ; was the engineer
and inspecting force, while you were in charge, the same as
this contract?

A. No, sir; not in all respects.

- Q. How many men did you have acting as inspectors?

A. Two, I think, was the whole number of inspectors—that
is, that were classed under that head.

Q. How large was your force?

A. There was first the principal assistant, Thomas H. Loom-
is, who was classified as “Assistant Engineer ;” Wilson Crosby,
who was ranked on the pay-roll as “Second Assistant Engi-

= OPOPOPOR
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neer;’ next came Mr. Haynes, who was ranked as leveler, I
think ; Henry Gilbert, who was ranked as transit man, I think ;
there were four or five more.

Q. You say there were two inspectors; were not all your
assistants authorized, in going over the work, also to inspect?

A. Always ; every time they passed over the work they were
to take special care ; each one had his division, except the
assistant who went over the whole ; they were to look at any
fault they could find in the workmanship, make note of it,
and refer it to me; or if on their division, see that it was
righted.

By Mr. Worthen:

Q. Who were your inspectors ?
A. Patrick H. Norton and Mr. Cushing,

By Mr. Bogart:

Q. What were their duties ?

A. To look particularly after the work from morning until
night, and to lie, as you may say, continually on the work.

By Mr. Worthen :

. Q. Was there any division of their work as to location or
anything else ? ‘
A. There was.

By Mr. Bogart:

Q. Was it division as to the location of the work ?

A. At first, before Cushing was appointed, Norton had
charge of the whole ; afterwards it was divided into two divi-
sions; Norton had charge of the upper division, and Mr.
Cushing of the lower.

By Mr. Worthen :

Q. How much were you over the line ?

A. I made a point of being over the whole work every day,
and a great many times, twice.

Q. You were head inspector to all intents and pu:poses?

A. Yes, sir; I walked over the whole line every day?

Q. Tf there is anything concerning which we have not ques-
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tioned you, and which you would like to state, you are at
liberty to do so.

A. You asked me if I built the wall as thick as shown on
the tracings. I built it as thick as shown on the working plan,
but I consider that the tracing gives a general idea of the
wall all through, and the thickness would be varied at differ-
ent places, according to the material thit would lay behind it
and the foundation where it set.

Q. Did you have loose stone put in behind the wall ?

A. T did.

By Mr. Bogart :

Q. Were there any changes from the plan exhibited at the
letting; in alignment?

A. No, sir.

Q. Where gaps in the wall were shown on the plan, you left
them ?

A I did.

Q. Did you change, in any way, the lines or widths of
drives, roads, walks or tree plots?

A. No, sir.

Taomas H. Loonis.

Tros. H. LooMis was next introduced. He was questioned
as follows :

By Mr. Bogart :

Q. What was your position on the Riverside Avenue Im-
provement ? ‘

A. Principal Assistant Engineer—next to Mr. Aldrich.

Q. Were you removed at the same time Mr. Aldrlch was ?

A. About two weeks afterwards.

Q. Have you examined the work that has been done since
that time ?

A. Yes, sir; somewhat.

Q. Have you examined the wall ?

A. Yes, sir. o

Q. Do you know whether it has been done, in all respects,
according to the specifications since ?

A. No, sir; it is in all respects contrary to the specifica-
{ions.
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Q. In what respects ?

A. The interior joints are wide ; it will run fully six inches
in many places, and is filled in; I kicked out some of it, and
it ecrumbled up in my hand like so much dust, at the upper
end ; at the entrance, north end, T picked up some there that
I judged had been laid the day before; it was still wet, and
there was notv a particle of set to it ; the stones of the parapet
wall are thin slabs, set on their edge; I noticed this last time
I visited the ground, particularly as to the hardness and
soundness of the stone ; last summer T was up there and saw
them cut it at Seventy-second street, and every time they
struck it a handful would fly off.

Q. You don’t think it was sound and durable ?

A. No, sir; I don’t know whether it went into the wall or
not, but they were certainly cutting it there for the wall.

By Mr. Worthen :

Q. How many times have you been over the work since you
were employed on it?

A. The whole work, twice; then several times during the
summer I was up there.

Q. Can you point out any pla.ces in that parapet wall where
the interior filling is of the character you describe ?

A. The place where 1 picked the filling out was between
One Hundred and Eighth and One Hundred and Twentieth
streets.

Q. You say that in the parapet wall these centre joints were
six inches ? '

A. Yes, sir; fully up to that.

Q. As a general thing, how was it ?

A. As a general thing, I think it would average three to four
inches.

Q. In looking at the end joints from the face backwards?

A. T don’t think they would average the full depth of the
stone.

Q. What should you think would be about the average ?

A. It would be pretty small; you must remember that I
saw very little.

Q. Did you see one joint that you would call a good full
joint—eclear to the back ?
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A. T would not say about that; I know the large majority
were not full. 7

Q. How deep do you suppose you saw a joint there ?

A. T could not answer. _

Q. Was not all the first above the cement wall, exposed ?

A. T think not.

By Mr. Bogart :
Q. Did you see any iron clamps put into that wall ?
A. No, sir.. ‘
Q. How many courses was the wall going in there ?
A. T think it was two.

By Mr. Worthen :

Q. What was the character of that stone, that you saw
that was in the wall, as to its destructive character?

A. It was just stone as comes from the cuts on this work
there, I should say.

Q. Some of it is better than others, is not it ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Some is micaceous, and some strong gneiss ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Some of this that you saw in was a free rock ?

A. Yes, sir; it did not seem to be culled much.

By Mr. Bogart:

Q. What other points do you think of in which the contract
has not been lived up to thoroughly?

A. In the roadways, what is built of them.

Q. In what respect?

A. The stones are not of such a character as they ought to
be, or as called for in the specifications; they are not as care-
fully laid as they should be, and there has been no care taken
whatever to preserve the similar character of the lower part
of it; under the wall at Ninety-fifth street the dirt is washed
out; I should judge they were all puddiefull underneath.

Q. That is not stuff that has been laid over it, and washing
in? »

A. No; I should judge this had been spread ; it looked too
evenly distributed to be washed out, and the gutters are not
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laid in sand or gravel, or whatever it calls for in the specifica-
tions.

Q. What are they laid in ?

A. What I saw I should judge to be the regular soil they
founds .:n the oil there.

Q. How are the surfaces of the stones of the gutter ?

A. Very vneven indeed, and rough.

Q. Not what you would call good work ?

A. Not at all; the curb is not backed up with a foot of
gravel or sand, as called for—nothing but the ordinary soil.

By Mr. Worthen:

Q. Is the curb such as was called for by the plan and
sample ?

A. I would hardly like to say ; it is so long since I saw it ;
the flagging does not come up to specifications in thickness; I
measured a lot of it at Seventy-sixth street, and it ran—well, a
great portion of it, fifty or sixty or seventy per cent. would
run under two and one-half inches 1n thickness; then there
was another pile at Ninetieth street; I measured a few of
those, but T did not stop to measure many, but I picked out
some that I thought within, and those measured considerably
under two and one-half inches.

By Mr. Bogart :

Q. How do you know but those were rejected ?

A. 1 don’t know.

Q. Do you know anything about the flag that has been set ?

A. We did not raise any of the flagging that had been set
already ; I could see that in the neighborhood of One Hundred
and Fifth street many of those laid there are badly cracked or
broken ; I don’t know whether that was domne before or after
they were laid ; I had no means of judging.

By Mr. Worthen :

Q. What were they laid in ?

A. T didn’t notice.

Q. Is there anything else you think of ?

A. The basin tops at Ninetieth street were set at quite an
angle from the curb, instead of being set parallel to it.
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By Mr. Bogert :

Q. Do you krnow anything about the alignment, width of
roads or tree plots, or anything of that kind ?

A. The alignment of the curb is very bad.

Q. Did you stake out the work up hill or down hill for the
Park?

A. Not personally ; no sir.

Q. Do you know anything about the changes in the align-
ment of the wall ? )

A. Not while T was there ; there has been since ; they closed
up openings that we had built to give access to the Park ; at
One Hundred and Fourth street and One Hundred and
Eighth street they have closed up the street; a working map
that we had showed it cut through.

By Mr. Worthen:

Q. Now, that upper grade at One Hundred and Twenty-
sixth and One Hundred and Twenty-ninth streets; do you
recollect that grade ?

A. Yes, sir; it was right, according to the tracing, as we
laid it.

Q. What rights did you exercise in regard to throwing out
stone or anything of that kind ?

A. T had a right to do it; but I called the attention of the
division engineer to it, when I saw anything wrong, or some-
times I called Mr. Aldrich’s attention to it ; there being two
division engineers, I thought it better to call their attention
toit than to have it done myself.

Q. Do you know of their taking action upon any work to
which you called their attention as not being according to
contract ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. About the inspectors, Norton and Cushing, ; were they
under your instructions ?

A. They were immediately under the instructions of the
division engineers.

Q. What were they ?

A. Mr. Cushing was a mason and had been on Government
fortification work; about Mr. Norton, I am not positive



88

whether he was a mason or not; he had been connected with
the Dock Department, in building the new docks, as con-
tractor ; Mr. Cushing had also, I believe, been doing the cut-
ting for the windows of the new cathedral; he was a stone-
cutter, rather than a mason, I should say.

Q. TIs there anything else you think of ?

A. There has been a change made in the plan, from One
Hundred and Fifth to One Hundred and Eighth streets ; the
wall had been omitted and supplied by planting; there is
another thing, I suppose you also know about ; they are taking
soil from the Park limits ; the wall also between the Drive and
the walk at Seventy-sixth street is very bad; I pulled out
quite u number of spalls with my hand, so that T could look
into the wall ; the grade at Seventy-ninth street also is wrong.

The Commission adjourned until Thursday, December 19th,
at 9 o’clock, when it is to visit the work and take measure-
ments. '

DeceuBiRr 19th, 1878.

At nine o’clock Mr. Worthen visited the Roosevelt Hospital
and questioned the mason, Martin Callahan, a patient at the
hospital, who has been already referred to, as follows :

MaRTIN CALLAHAN.

Q. What is your business, Mr. Callahan ?
A. T am a stone mason.

Mr. Callahan then made the following statement :

From November, 1876 to May, 1877, I was at work in the
employment of ‘the Park Department, on the first section of
the Riverside Avenue Improvement, between Seventy-seventh
and Eighty-sixth streets; I worked on the foundation of the
wall ; at that time Mr. Aldrich was engineer, and tried to get
all the work done as well as he could ; the work already then
done by the Department on that section was not held by Mr.
Aldrich to be a specimen, as the face of the new work was to be



- 89

without small stone; Mr. McEncroe, one of the contractors,
and superintending, complained that he was doing the work
too well, and gave directions to Mr. Aldrich, who stopped the
work; I went up to the office with Mr. Decker, and arranged
to go on with the work; I went back to work, and it was not
done as well as the old work ; the middle of the wall was not
as well bonded as the old work, and there were many soft stones
in it; a continued contest between Mr. Aldrich and Mr. Decker
ensued. I left thereand went up to One Hundred and Fortieth
street to work on the retaining wall there, and remained about
seven weeks ; that work was done the same as the other, in
fact rather worse, as the contractor had no notice, or inspector
—Mr. Aldrich or any lody else; I left and gave notice to Mr.
Aldriech that I could not serve him and Mr. Encroe, and I quit.
I was out of work for a considerable time, and was back and
forth frequently, endeavoring to have the matter settled, and
get back to work again. I had some other work for Decker
myself in Fifty-eighth street, cutting out work for Decker’s
wall in the first section. I had an opportunity of seeing how
the parapet wall was being built, which was subcontracted by
Patrick Walsh, from Seventy-second to Eighty-sixth street. He
commenced his work by setting stones up like flags, and filling
stone in between ; some had not over four inches bed, others
more ; it was cut without regard to the natural bed, and fin-
ished and set in the same way; I saw that it was soft stone,
and not fit to gointo the wall ; he made no cullat all; there were
no joints in full, and the mortar had too much sand ; it was all
sand nearly, and not full at thav; they frequently threw in spalls
to fill the holes, and plastered over the top; I never saw any
anchors or holes for anchors ; at different times I would take a
walk up to the work and look at the walls, and I frequently
scratched off the top of the wall, and foind loose stone and ce-
mentbetween ; this was the case all the way from Eighty-sixth
to One Hundred and Sixth street ; Decker himself did that por-
tion of the wall ; the bondstone that ought to be crossed to the
face on each side, you might run forty feet alongthe wall and not
find one; I only saw a few through stones crossing the wall ;
the character of the stone was bad here, the same as the other;
the softer the stone was the more they could cut and pack in,
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because it cut better ; it was a bad, dirty, yellow rock ; the
men took advantage of the stone the best way they could.
About the rubble work under the parapet wall, that was the
same kind of stone, same kind of mortar, and the general
character of the work was the same ; that was not laid full; it
was just like the parapet wall, thrown in dry; the face was
made to show fair; I saw it at that time, and from time to
time, and as I went up looking for work, on account of the
stone, I was cutting down here. Right in the rear of Fernando
Wood’s property, I took particular notice of the place. One
Sunday morning I went up on the wall, and I found the stones
shaking under my feet ; I got down and picked out the fillings,
and then put my hand to one of the stones and pitched it off
the wall ; you can find where the walls are hollow by sounding
with a hammer.

I have never done anything but mason work since I was
born ; I learned my trade in Ireland ; am forty-two years of
age, and was regularly apprenticed at the business when I was
fourteen, remaining until I was twenty-one years old. I worked
at stone cutting and masonry and general stone work ; I have
been in this country about twenty-five years; I worked eight
and a half years in the Department of Parks; I worked for
Smith & Stewart—Jeremiah Smith; I also worked for
Corcoran, the builder ; T worked for Decker, and I did a lot of
work for Vanderbilt; I was working for Vanderbilt all summer
on the new grain elevator that has been built by Dillon; I
worked on the other grain elevator, and was foreman on it for
that gentleman that built Masonic Hall, a gentleman from
Hartford ; I worked also in the Department of Public Works,
under Mr. Kellogg, for four or five years, and I worked for him
before he left the Department of Parks.

Mr. Worthen then proceeded to the terminus of the work at
Seventy-second street, where he joined Mr. Haswell and Mr.
Bogart, and the day was spent in taking accurate measurements
of wall, drive, tree plots, and roadway.
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STATEMENT OF MR. THOMAS FRANKLIN, SUPERINTENDING
ENGINEER OF RIVERSIDE AVENUE CONSTRUCTION.

RIVERSIDE AVENUE, January 14th, 1879.
To Hon. James F. WENMAN,
President, and Boord of Commissioners
of the Department of Parks :

Gentlemen,—In accordance with a resolution of your Board,
I beg leave to submit the following statement in regard to the
work on Riverside avenue, and the recent report and publica-
tiong connected therewith.

This matter hus, by dint of chisanery and misrepresenta-
tion, been placed before the public in a very false light, with a
view of diserediting the administration of the Park Depart-
ment, and to serve the unworthy purposes of selfish and de-
signing persons. In fact, there seems to be sufficient evidence
to warrant the charge of a conspiracy on the part of these
individuals. '

I propose, as concisely as possible, to state the exact facts
in the case, with the determination of disabusing the public
wind and exposing the real motives which underlie the con-
duct of those who have set on foot this discreditable business.

If brief, the Riverside avenue is a drive-way or road laid:
out on the westerly side of the City, in pursuance of an act
of the Legislature, authorizing a change in the original plan
of the City. The straight and formal avenues laid down on
that plan were, in this instance, discarded, and the line of the
road follows, in a great measure, the topographical sinuosities
of the river along the high crest near the line of Twelfth
avenue, as that avenue was laid out on the original map. The
Drive extends from the foot of Seventy-second street, North
river, to One Hundred and Thirtieth street, at Manhattanville,
being about three miles in length. It crosses numerous
ravines, winds around several prominent elevations, and on
its westerly side requires a large amount of masonry con-
struction to sustain the roadway and protect the bank at the
river side. A considerable area adjoining the Drive, some of
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it in detached portions, has been acquired by the City for a
public park known as “Riverside Park.” The improvement
of this ground is not included in the work under considera-
tion. The contract for the work was awarded on the 31st
day of October, 1876, to Messrs. Decker and Quintard, two
prominent citizens of New York, the former a well known
contractor on railways.

The work was commenced on the 10th day of November,
1876, under the superintendance of James C. Aldrich, civil
engineef, who continued in charge until the 13th of March,
1878, at which time, being then in the employ of the Park
Department, I assumed charge of the work, it is, perhaps,
needless to say without solicitation on my part. T received
the specifications accompanying the contract as my guide in
superintending the work. These specifications I found to be
crude in their character, confused in statement and verbose
to an extreme degree. They were evidently not the produc-
tion of an engineer possessing a clear comprehension of the
work to be done, but a patchwork of paragraphs made up
from old specifications of one kind or another, put together in
a most incongruous manner. These paragraphs attained the
extraordinary number of two hundred and twenty-four, although
they referred to the construction of a simple roadway, involv-
ing no novel features. Of these paragraphs, sixty-five were
especially leff, in their interpretation and execution, to the
judgment and discretion of the engineer in charge of the work.
In addition to this, the topographical surveys upon which the
plans and specifications were based were inaccurate, making
it a matter of impossibility to conform the work to the lines
~ laid down on the plan, while the details of the plan itself were
lett, in a great measure, undefined and obseure. In fact, the
contract could not have been carried out at all had it not been
for the saving clause in the agreement between the contractors
and the Department (see paragraph B in the agreement), by
which it was agreed upon by both parties that the engineer
_appointed by the Department should, in all cases, determine
the amount or the quality of the several kinds of work to be
paid for under the contract, and determine all questions in
relation to lines, levels and dimensions of work.
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I found that my predecessor, acting in accordance with the
wide latitude of the specifications, had modified the character
of the work to some extent from that laid down, or attempted
to be laid down, in the specifications and plan, and it would
have been impossible for him to do otherwise if he exercised
ordinary common sense. I was obliged to do the same I
am now called upon by the resolution of your Board to reply
to the criticisms upon the exercise of a discretion forced upon
me by these crude specifications and plan, and I proceed to
do so in detail.

I desire, however, at this point, to protest against and de-
nounce the unfair, uncalled for and offensive manner in which
the persons appointed to examine the work have gone out of
their way, while assuming to compare the terms of the con-
traet with the work done under it, to fill their report with
unwarranted and unnecessary personal imputations. The
duty they were called upon to perform was plain enough.
Their conduct, however, leaves open to serious imputations
both their motives and their capacity, and I propose to con-
vince your Honorable Board, or at least a majority of it, of
this fact before I finish this statement.

The following is the resolution under which the report was
made that I am required to answer :

“ Resolved, That the matter of the Riverside Avenue contract
be referred to Montgomery A. Kellogg, Esq., Civil Engineer,
to examine the work done under the contract between this De-
partment and Decker & Quintard, the contractors, and report
the present condition of the work, and in what respects it is
done in conformity with the contract, and in what respects it
is not so done; and that the said civil engineer be, and he is
hereby, directed to act in said examination in conjunction with
two other civil engineers, to be appointed, one by the Mayor
and one by the Comptroller, if those officers shall so elect.
Notice of such appointments, if made by the Mayor and Comp-
troller, to be given to this Department.”

Mr. Kellogg having declined to act, the Department, at its
meeting held on the 4th day of December, 1878, appointed
John Bogart, Esq., civil engineer, in his place.
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The Mayor appointed Wm. E. Worthen, Esq., civil engi-
neer, and the Comptroller appointed Charles H. Haswell, Esq.,
civil engineer.

What was the plain duty of these individuals under the
terms of the above resolution? They were engineers, sup-
posed to have been selected on account of their engineering
capacity and their knowledge of such work as that which they
were requested to examine. Possessing this knowledge, it
would naturally be supposed that taking the specifications
(which were the basis’ of the contract) in their hands they
would proceed at once to the work in question, and with an
unbiased judgment, a clear intelligence, and a manly respect
for a member of their own profession, who claims to be their
peer in every respect, to compare the work with the specifi-
cations, assuming the specifications to be what tuey pretended
to be.

Not so, however. What they did let the following corres-
pondence show:

36 UNION SQUARE,

DzepARTMENT OF PUBLIC PARKS,
New York, December 7th, 1878.

WiLriam Irwin, Esq.,
Secretary Department Public Parks :

Sir,—The Commissioners in the matter of Riverside Avenue
contract have received the accompanying note from Smith E.
Lane, Esq., Treasurer of the Department of Public Parks.

In accordance with the request contained in that note, this
Commission has appointed 3 p. M. of Monday, December 9th,
for Mr. Lane to appear before them.

Will you please also notify the Commissioners of the De-
partment of this appointment, in order that they may be
represented, should they deem fit.

Respectfully,

JoHN Bogagr,
Secretary of Commission.
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36 UNION SQUARE,
New Yorg, 7th December, 1878.
Messrs. JouN BogarT, WiLLiaM E. WoRTHEN
AND CHarRLES H. HaASWELL,
Commission in the Matter of the Riverside Drive :

DEePARTMENT OF PUBLIC PARKS, }

Gentlemen,—1 desire to submit, orally and in writing, my
views in regard to the matter submitted for your considera-
tion, together with some documentary matter, and respecttully
suggest that you assign a time for the hearing and submission,
and that my associate Commissioners be invited to be present,
and requested to submit their views.

Respectfully yours,
S. E. LANE,
Treasurer D. P. P.

36 UNION SQARE,

DeparRTMERT OF PTBLIC PARKS,
December 9th, 1878.
JouN Boaart, Esq., '
Seeretary Commission to Lxamine Riverside Avenue

Improvement :

Dear Sir,—The Secretary of this Department has handed
me yours of the 7th inst., inclosing a copy of a communication
from Commissioner Lane, requesting that your Commission
would appoint a time to hear his views, and those of the other
Commissioners, in relation to the subject you are appointed
to examine.

It is the opinion of all the Commissioners of this Depart-
ment, except Mr. Lane, that your Commission should not be
in any manner influenced in your determination of the ques-
tions submitted to you by the views of any particular Com-
missioner, but solely by the condition of the work, and by the
specifications, contract, maps, plans and papers relating to the
work, all of which will be furnished you on request, by the
Secretary of this Department.

Under any other conditions, the report of your Commission
would be liable to be impeached as not impartial.
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On behalf of my associate Commissioners, Messrs. Wetmore
and Conover, and also on my own behalf, I decline to influence
your judgment in any way by the expression of our views, and
I trust you will yourselves take the same course in regard to
Cownmissioner Lane. :

I remain, yours respectfully,
Jas. F. WENMAN,
Presd’t Dep’t Public Parks.

The minutes of the proceedings of these experts show that
notwithstanding the unmistakeable tone of the latter communi-
cation, the dignity and propriety of which cannot be ques-
tioned, it was absolutely ignored by them, and at their first
meeting, before informing themselves by personal examination
of the character of the work, they permitted Mr. Lane to ad-
dress them in condemnation of his colleagues and the employés
of the department, setting forth in laudatory terms his own
conduct, and his views of the work from the standpoint “of a
lawyer!!”

This was followed by an inquisitorial and extremely offen-
sive examination of myself, and terminated by a mass of testi-
mony from discharged employés, who seemed to have occupied
an extended period of idleness (including Sundays) in accumu-
lating a quantity of puerile criticisms in regard to the char-
acter of the work.

Having obtained this important information, the three ex-
aminers found time to expend a few hours on the work itself,
subsequently giving their report to Mr. Lane and the news-
papers! in advance of its transmittal to the Board that
directed 1t to be made. Even then, it was distributed in
copies to the different members of the Board, instead of being
sent as an official paper, through the proper channel and in
the proper method.

I now proceed to reply in detail to the statements which
this report contains.

Its authors begin by setting forth that they were appointed
to examane the work done under the contract, for the improve-
ment of Riverside avenue. They then state that they have
examined the work and materials jurnished as thoroughly as
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was praclicable in the time at their disposal. The resolution
under which these persons were appointed to act contained, it
will be observed, no limit whatever as to time, and any judg-
ment expressed by them, after a merely cursory examination
must necessarily be imperfect and unjust to all parties con-
cerned.

If they were not able to give the time required for a careful
and intelligent examination, they should not have undertaken
so responsible a duty. If they were induced by Mr. Lane, for
reasons best known to bimself, to hurry their report (and the
date would seem to confirm the supposition), that it might be
made public before the radical change should take place in the
administration of City affairs that was to occur on the Ist of
January, they stultified themselves as engineers, and their
report is unworthy of consideration.

In either case a grave suspicion attaches itself to this extra-
ordinary document. After thus apologising for the hasty and
incomplete character of the report, the signers proceed with
their criticisms by taking up, as they assert, the several speci-
fications in the order in which they occur. Yet, before they
reach the paragraph numbered 4, they jump to the 83d, and
finally wind up with the 26th—27 being the total number, out
of the 224 paragraphs contained in the contract, that are re-
ferred to in the least—leaving nearly 200 paragraphs that they
had not time to notice at all.

Surely, such an examination as this is unworthy of any
credit whatever.

Out of the 27 paragraphs they assumed to have examined,
about half meet with their unqualified approval, so far as con-
cerned the work done under them. And not only this, but
the most important, the most expensive, and the mwost difficult
portions, are affirmed, without hesitation, to have been done in
a manner saperior to that called for in the specifications.

I might safely, so far as this report is concerned, rest my
professional reputation on such broad, clear and positive terms
of approbation, since the Department and the public are thus
assured of the excellence and durability of the work.

Notwithstanding this admission on their part of the superior
character of the work, they have, however, endeavored and

13
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succeeded in giving a false and subtle tone to other portions
of their criticisms, which, although relating to comparatively
insignificant items, convey an appearance of deserved censure,
and they do in fact, without having shown any fonndation
whatever for such action, indulge in grossly personal imputa-
tions upon myself.

It becomes necessary, therefore, that I should notice in de-
tail every item of this unfair and illjudged ecriticism, which
refers chiefly to those paragraphs in the specifications the ex-
ecution of which was left to the discretion of the engineer in
charge, upon whom the responsibility of their interpretation is
absolutely forced. Where these critics differ from me, it is,
therefore, merely a difference of opinion, and not of fact, and
from what has preceded, I think I can safely question the
wisdom and fairness of the disputants.

Item No. 1 of the criticism refers to the removal of a certain
amount of material from the ground adjoining the drive, and
‘used in filling, having been estimated as excavation. This was
unsightly debris, which required removal sooner or later, and
was used as filling in the absence of more convenient material,
to expedite the completion of the work, and was estimated as
excavation, because I so interpreted the specification. (See
Excavation of Earth, No. 5.)

ltem No. 2 refers in a general way to the cuntting down of
trees, implying a cause for censure (without a positive state-
ment), while there is not a shadow of foundation for it, as no
tree has been removed which was not in the roadway or where
the surface has been undisturbed.

Item No. 3 refers to the preservation of top-soil, another
subtle implication without a fact to base it upon, as every
shovelful of soil that was worth preserving has been saved.
When, in my judgment, the top-soil was so destitute of humus
as not to be worth the fifty cents a yard it cost to save it,

I caused it, as-a matter of course, to be deposited in the
filling.

ltem No. 4 states that slopes cost more to shape than it costs
to make ordinary excavation of earth. This is a matter of
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doubt. But the statement is also made that the approximate
estimates should be governed by this assumption. I will
state that the approximate estimates fully cover that, and
I fail to see the bearing of this item. No assertion is offered .
that the approximate estimates have not been made with
reference to this point. Nevertheless, the color of an impu-
tation is sought to be conveyed by this item. These slopes,
like all the rest of the work, are as yet in an unfinished conditon.

Jtem No. 5 states that nearly all the rock excavation has
been finished. This may be an important statement, but seems
to require no comment.

* Itemn No. 6 refers to embankments, and that at many points
large stones have been used, according to my statement, which
1s true, and asserting that proper attention was not being given
to the clause of the contract which requires that the interstices
between the stones shall be filled with earth, and that, conse-
quently, the surface has settled, forming holes, and that in
some places, the edging gutter and walk areas have settled,
“recommending also that before further proceeding to the
construction of walks, drives, &c., special measures should be
taken to prevent their further subsidence, which will certainly
occur unless this precantion is taken.”

The answer to this arraignment is that nothing is more
difficult to accomplish than the filling of the interstices between
stones in an embankment. A certain amount of time must be
given for the earth to settle, and nothing but the superincum-
bent weight of the upper mass will do this, aided by the action
of the elements. The water of a heavy rainfall, during the
progress of a work, is the best agsistance that can be had for
this purpose, as every engineer will attest who knows anything
at all, and the cavities that appear in an unfinished work are
the best evidence of the effectiveness of this excellent agent.
The time that must elapse before the work is completed, aided
by the heavy rollers that are to be used on the upper surface,
will finally consolidate the earth mass. Some of the edging
and gutter, temporarily in place and not yet adjusted, may
have settled, but in the final adjustment, which it has
yet to undergo, all such unfinished work will be properly
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completed. This item alone exhibits the injustice of the at-
tempt to closely criticise the superintendence of a work while
in such an incomplete stage. Criticisms of this kind may be
heard every day wherever a work of any kind is in progress,
from those who know nothing whatever of the details. It ap-
pears to me that this item of criticism is extremely puerile,
and the critics have “ hunted far, for small game.”

Item No. 7 refers to “ Dry Wall,” and is an unqualified ap-
proval of its character, stating that it is even better than that
called for by the specifications and shown in the original draw-
ings at the letting of the contract. As this forms the largest
and most important item of the whole work, the fact that it is
regarded by these eritics as so much better than is called for
would seem to make their minor points of criticism somewhat
insignificant. It is further stated that the total amount of
this expensive work is much less than the original estimate,
which is of course, a great advantage, in an economical point
of view. Itis stated that economical change is entirely due to
myself. This is not altogether true. My predecessor, as well
as myself, made changes from the original plans, which reduced
the quantity of Dry Wall. In some places I have found it
necessary to add some of this kind of work. '

Item No. 8 refers to parapet wall, and states that this would
also have been less in quantity than the original estimate, were
it not for the fact that I had increased the height by one foot.
This ig true ; and it is an important fact. The wall, as origi-
nally planned, was but fifteen inches in height, without the
coping. As this wall is intended for the sole purpose of pro-
tection against accidents from falling over the high retaining
walls, it must be evident to the most obtuse pefson in the
world that this height would fail to answer the purpose.
Children, intoxicated persons, and even those who were sober,
would, in the dark, be liable to fall over it and be killed or
seriously injured. The amount of suits for damages against
the City would soon become enormous; therefore, respect for
life and limb, as well as a proper regard for the tax-payers,
demanded that the height should be increased, and this action
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has met with the unqualified approval of all that have seen the
wall, including engineers of the highest protessional character.

The wall itself is, however, condemned by these critics for
the reason that it varies somewhat from the letter of thespeci-
fications. The variation is due to utter impossibility of pro-
curing, within a reasonable space of time, stones of ihe precise
size called for. Where there has been a variation in size, so
that two stones have been used in a course where one stone
was called for, these two stones have been securely bound
together with iron anchors, making them equal in strength to
one stone. The vertical joints between them being sometimes
a little wider than the letter of the specifications, were carefully
filled with excellent cement and spawls, and as the massive
coping fully shields the work from any possible. action of the
elements, the wall thus becomes as firm and durable as if it
were one solid stone. I assert that it fulfills the spirit of the
contract in an eminent degree—that it is firm, durable, and in
every way permanent and satisfactory. This opinion is affirmed
by the testimony of eminent engineers.

dtem No. 9.—Coping. The character of this, say the critics,
is good, and complies with the contract, except that chisel
drafts of half an inch are omitted in some places, where called
for. Half an inch draft would be of little effect. There is one
inch, where a draft_has been cut, and when the work is com-
plete it will all have a one inch draft.

Item No. 10.—This refers to rubble masonry,and it is stated
that it complies substantially with the contract.  This is an-
other important item, which is also positively approved, it be-
ing clagsed with the masonry of the bridge at Eighty-sixth
street (Eighty-seventh street), “ the face of which, it is stated,
18 superior to that with which it is classed, and much better
than is called for by the contract.”

Item No. 11.—“Stone filled in rear of wall.”” The examiners
state that in their judgment this has not been where it ought
to bie. As the matter was left fo my discretion, they say that
whether done or not done makes no difference in the contract.
As the embankment wall is composed of very large stones,
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some of them weighing many tons, there was no necessity for
any special effort to relieve the slight pressure against them.

- Item No. 12.—Concrete.. This, they say, was not examined,
as it was below the surface. '

ftem No.13.—Drainage, A and B. This item refers to my
statement that some deviation may have occurred in the man-
ner of refilling the earth over the drain pipes, after they were
laid, and quoting the specification in this respect. The neces-
sity of ramming earth in and around drain pipes varies with
the nature of the soil, and as in some cases along the Riverside
Avenue, the compact loam formed a firm bed, and when thrown
back into the trench from a height above, imbedded itself
firmly, I considered a strict compliance with the letter of the
specification to be unnecessary. But I assert that the drain
pipes are well and firmly laid and covered. Quality of pipe
not criticised.

ltem No. 14.—Brick masonry not criticised. Said to be
nearly all covered.

Item No. 15.—Cement not criticised, as none was being used.
A full opportunity of seeing what had been used was afforded,
but the critics have not the fairness to state in writing what
they were repeatedly heard to say, that it was of excellent
quality. The statement that my mode of testing was not such

_ag is usual in public works is gratuitous. The test I made is

borne out by the excellent quality of the cement on the whole
line of the work.

ltem No. 16.—Pavement of wheelway of Drive. The criti-
cism on this portion of the work is, in brief, that the road-bed
has not been prepared with a roller ; that the stones that have
been placed on a portion of it are, some of them, inferior in
quality, and that they have not all been adjusted as required.
My answer to this is that the light roller (2 tons) called for
would have littleé or no effect below the surface, that the stones
used were such as are always used in similar work, and that
the adjustment of the stones has been under the charge of
foremen who have had long experience in this particular kind
of road construction, especially on St. Nicholas avenue ; that
they did their work in precisely the same manner as that done
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and accepted on that avenue; that the rolling was reserved
for the final arrangement of the material, with a heavy roller
of ten to fifteen tons, as being far preferable to the inferior
work of a small roller,  When this roadway is finished in ac-
cordance with the method proposed it will be equal in every
respect to any road of the like deseription that is now in ex-
istence.

A limited amount of the first course of covering has been
placed on the layer of stone. No gravel called for has yet
been used anywhere, as the road is not in a condition for it.
What has been done in the way of road covering is extremely
imperfect, and altogether unfinished. No fair criticism can be
made of this matter in the present stage of the work. Whether
all the care that could possibly be exercised ever can or ever
has prevented a road-bed of this character from being filled in
its interstices is a matter of great doubt.

Item No. 17.—Pavement of Ride. The same criticism and
the same answer applies to this item.

Item No. 18.—Pavement of walks. The statement is made
tnat a large amount of walk surface has been brought to grade,
- but none of it rolled. Furthermore, that a large amount of
these walk surfaces are over the embankment, close to the wall,
and specially liable to settlement, and that in some cases the
surface has already settled, and that the omission of rolling in
such cases is injudicious. I repeat here the statement already
made, that a light roller, such as called for in the specification,
cannot possibly consolidate an embankment, as its influence
and weight would not be felt more than two or three feet below
the surface. Heavy embankments must be allowed a period
for settlement. Even a very heavy roller alone could not ac-
complish this without the aid of the elements.

Item No.19.—Gutters. These are reported to be unfinished,
which is true of all the work on the avenue. The gutters laid
have had the disadvantage of the incomplete condition of the
road-bed, and the rain storms have had free access to the por-
tion that has been laid, and the disarrangement thus caused
will require that they be relaid in part.
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Ttem No. 20 (21).—Granite curb angle stones. The state-
ment here made, that T had said that it had escaped my atten-
tion that granite was required for curb angle stones, is a mis-
take. What I did say was that the question asked me escaped
my attention. I substituted blue stone in the place of granite
at the ends of tree plots for the sake of uniformity, both in
height and color, with the blue stone edgings. I regard this
as a great improvement, besides saving money to the City.

Item No. 22 eriticises the bluestone curb, stating, however,
that it is generally of the specified thickness and depth, while
many are slack at the ends, not having good joints, and quite
a number cracked, and that a good deal of it is out of line.
This statement is an exaggerated one. The relining, and, in
sotwe cases, resetting of curb will necessarily be required in the
spring, when the roadway is completed. Imperfect pieces will,
of course, be condemned and renewed before a final certificate
is given.

Item No. 23.—Blue stone edgings. This item criticises the
edging in about the same terms as the curb is criticised. The
same answer applies to this. It seems impossible for these
cerities to remember that the whole is tn a totally unfinished state
If these strictures were made upon a completed work, which
it was proposed to accept, there might be a show of reason;
but for a piece of work totally incomplete, they are uncalled
for.

Item No. 24.—Complains that some pieces of flagging are
cracked, and some not quite up to the required thickness, and
that in some places it was laid in loam. Also, that a carelul
ingpection and removal of some of it will be required. As a
matter of course, before a final estimate 1s given, all cracked
pieces, or those otherwise not in conformity with the contract,
will be removed.

Item No. 25.—Cross-walks reported as in conformity with
contract.

1tem No. 26.—Trestle-work reported as well constructed,
framed, and of good material.
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This ends the criticism by experts on the work on Riverside
avenue. It indorses, in unqualified terms, the principal and
most important part of the work, and the character of the
materials. Also, in equally positive terms, it states that there
is no apparent excess in the sum of the quantities returned on
approximate statements, alleging neither fraud, deception nor
over-estimate. Yet, in striking contrast of all these terms of
approval, apparently forced from them, the signers pass a con-
demmnation upon myself, intended to secure my removal, while
the friends of two of them, as I have been informed, imme-
diately proceed to solicit, with great earnestness, the place
that is expected to be thus made vacant.

Further comment from me is unnecessary.

Being desirous, however, that the whole business should be
clearly understood by the public, I requested that some dis-
interested parties would select from the American Society of
Civil Engineers-as many of the most eminent members of that
organization as was deemed necessary (with the sole condition
that they should not be even acquaintances of mine), to ex-
amine this work in person, with the specifications and the
report of the experts before them, and express a candid
opinion.

The high character and professional ability of the gentle-
men so selected cannot be questioned.

Their report is annexed also, without comment, as well as
the report of Engineer J. B. Bacon to the Comptroller.

It is proper to say that Mr. Bacon is an engineer of long
experience of public works in the City of New York, and a
gentleman of high character for probity and intelligence.

I have nothing whatever to add to all this. But perhaps it
would be well for me to state that this splendid work, when
finished, as it will be, in full accordance with the spirit of the
specifications, will be completed at a cost far less than the
original estimate—a fact so unusual with works of this nature,
that it is at least worthy of record.

All of which is respectfully submitted.

THos. FRANELIN,
Superintending Engineer.
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REPORT OF ENGINEER J, B. BACON.

New Yorg, October 14, 1878.

DanteL Jackson, Esq.,
Auditor Finance Department :

Sir,—In reference to the operations on Riverside Drive, I
respectfully report that I have gone over and examired a great
portion of the work.

Tt is about three miles in length, and the greater part of it
is in a fransition state; much of it scarcely begun, and other
parts half done. The length of the work, and the many
tedious detours necessary in examining, occupied considerable
time.

Road-bed.—On pages 17, 45-6, it is specified that the stones
on the roadway are to be evenly adjusted and compactly
brought together.

This appears to have been done not as asserted in the

second diagram or sketch of an architect, but in compliance

with Article C, following in the specifications; and the stones
are laid inclined with an angle, and lapping over each other,
to prevent the sinking of the gravel and earth, and to p1 eserve
the cellular character for proper drainage.

Gravel.—None of the road-bed has yet been prevared for
the gravel ; only the first coating of earth, as in specifications,
has yet been laid, and of that only a portion.

Consequently, there has yet. been no rolling done. The
foundation road surfacing appears to be satisfactory, and also
the gutters.

Parapet Wall—This has been built even better than at first
intended. At first it was of the insecure height of only 2 feet
1 inch.

Tinder the present management the height has been in-
creased to 3 feet, and it is properly and strongly built.
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The foundations of the parapet walls above Seventy-ninth
street are also well built. Below Seventy-ninth street there is
a stretch of bad wall, which was done under other contractors
and engineers ; but the recent portions are strong.

On so long a stretch of work, and in its present state, my
examination could not be exhaustive, for want of time. But I
consider that the work is now well planned, and being well
done, and in accordance with the latitude allowed by the spe-
cifications. '

Very respectfully,
(Signed) J. B. Bacox,

Framiner.

CERTIFICATE OF MESSRS. JULIUS W. ADAMS AND WM. J.
McALPINE.

The undersigned were requested to examine the materials
furnished under the contracts for the construction of Riverside
avenue, and the work done in pursuance of that contract under
the supervision of Engineer Thomas Franklin, and to report
their opinion as to the fitness of the material furnished for the
construction of said Riverside avenue, and also their opinion
as to the stability and permanence of the work done, and in
general whether the spirit and intent of the contract and
specification has been carried out by the engineer in his super-
vision of the work. '

The undersigned, having duly examined the work so far as
the inauspicious state of the weather would permit—that is to
ray, their examination was necessarily confined to what wasin
sight above ground, the severe frost preventing any examina-
tion of foundation—and having also examined the plans under
which the work was originally contracted for, and also the
changes which in the exercise of his discretion the engineer
has seen fit to make in the original design of certain parts of
the work, and also informed themselves by inquiries made at
the office on the work as to the process and methods of con-
struction pursued, and the nature and extent of the estimates
of the value of the work done and materials furnished as stated



108

by the engineer, submit the following as the result of their ex-
amination :

They find that neither in the materials furnished nor in the
work done, has the engineer regarded any work as completed,
but in the unfinished condition of the work appears to have
left an ample margin in the estimates to provide for any re-
setting, relining, relaying or replacing of imperfect materials
which in the very nature of things (exposed as the work will
be to the elements), will become a necessity before it can be
accepted as finished in accordance with the terms of the con-
tract ; and there isno work in view where any needed improve-
ments or changes that may become necessary may not be made
before its final acceptance as a complete work in accordance
with the terms of the contract.

The changes made in the original design of the parapet wall
are considered as judicious and apparently made in the exer-
cise of a sound discretion, and not in the interests of the con-
tractors. '

The walling, where approaching completion, is of stable and
permanent character, as, in view of the original designs, under
the specifications governing them, it could be expected to be.
It is seen in an unfinished and unprotected state, and to great
disadvantage, and little defects can be magnified which would,
disappear in the completed work, without entailing any injury
to its permanence or stability. The stone afforded by the ex-
cavation is not of the first quality. This was well known
before entering into the contract, but its use was allowed by
the specifications.

With this proviso, we are of the opinion that the materials
furnished are every way suited to made good and permanent
work, in accordance with the spirit of the contract.

Jurius W. Apams.
‘Wu. J. MCALPINE.

NEw Yorg, January 14th, 1879.
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